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Forward-Looking Statements

This report includes “forward-looking statementsthin the meaning of Section 27A of the Securites of 1933, as amended, and
Section 21E of the Securities Exchange Act of 1834amended. All statements other than stateméhtstorical fact are “forward-looking
statements” for purposes of this annual report@amF10-K,including any projections of earnings, revenuegstitne payments, royalties, s:
or other financial items, any statements of th@pkand objectives of management for future operat{mcluding, but not limited to, preclinic
development, clinical trials and manufacturing)y atatements related to our financial condition autdre working capital needs, any
statements regarding potential future financingratitives, any statements concerning proposedadmgjdates, any statements regarding the
timing for the start or end of clinical trials arlsmission of regulatory approval filings, any stagsts regarding future economic conditions or
performance, any statements regarding the sucéess oollaboration arrangements or future paymémds may come due to us under these
arrangements, any statements regarding our plahelgactives to initiate or continue clinical tsabnd any statements of assumptions
underlying any of the foregoing. In some casesy&od-looking statements can be identified by the afserminology such as “may,” “will,”
“expects,” “plans,” “anticipates,” “estimates,” “fmtial” or “continue,” or the negative thereofather comparable terminology. Although we
believe that the expectations reflected in the &sdhlooking statements contained herein are retd®nsuch expectations or any of the
forward-looking statements may prove to be incdraed actual results could differ materially fronose projected or assumed in the forward-
looking statements. Our future financial conditaord results of operations, as well as any forwaadihg statements, are subject to inherent
risks and uncertainties, including, but not limitedthe risk factors set forth in Part I, Item 1Risk Factors” below and for the reasons
described elsewhere in this annual report on Fd@+.1All forward-looking statements and reasons wésults may differ included in this
report are made as of the date hereof and we dinteotd to update any forward-looking statementepkas required by law or applicable
regulations. Except where the context otherwiseireq, in this annual report on Form 10-K, the “Qamy,” “Nektar,” “we,” “us,” and “our”
refer to Nektar Therapeutics, a Delaware corponaémd, where appropriate, its subsidiaries.

Trademarks

The Nektar brand and product names, including bttimited to Nekta , contained in this documerg lademarks and registered
trademarks of Nektar Therapeutics in the UnitedeStélJ.S.) and certain other countries. This dogurakso contains references to trademark:
and service marks of other companies that arertyepty of their respective owners.
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PART |
ltem 1. Business

We are a biopharmaceutical company developing @lipg of drug candidates that utilize our PEGylatimd advanced polymer
conjugate technology platforms, which are desigoeshable the development of new molecular entiliastarget known mechanisms of
action. Our current proprietary pipeline is compd®f drug candidates across a number of therapargas including oncology, pain, anti-
infectives, and immunology. Our research and dgraknt activities involve small molecule drugs, jgs and other biologic drug candida
We create innovative drug candidates by using ocopnetary advanced polymer conjugate technologresexpertise to modify the chemical
structure of pharmacophores to create new moleenléties. Polymer chemistry is a science focusethe synthesis or bonding of polymer
architectures with drug molecules to alter the props of a molecule. Additionally, we may utiliestablished pharmacologic targets to
engineer a new drug candidate relying on a comioimaif the known properties of these targets andoooprietary polymer chemistry
technology and expertise. Our drug candidates esigded to improve the overall benefits and use arug for patients by improving the
metabolism, distribution, pharmacokinetics, pharoadgmamics, half-life, bioavailability and mechanisiraction. Our objective is to apply our
advanced polymer conjugate technology platfornréaie new drug candidates in multiple therapeutas

In 2014, we achieved the first approval of onewfproprietary drug candidates, MOVANTIK (previbuseferred to as naloxegol and
NKTR-118), under a global license agreement with Astreeca AB (AstraZeneca). MOVANTIR is an oral peripily-acting mu-opioid
antagonist (PAMORA), approved in both the U.S. Bndope for the treatment of opioid-induced consigra or OIC, a common side effect
caused by chronic administration of prescriptioiomppain medicines. MOVANTIK" was developed using oral small molecule polymer
conjugate technology and we advanced this drugitiirahe completion of Phase 2 clinical studiesrpndicensing it to AstraZeneca. On
September 16, 2014, the United States Food and Bduagnistration, or FDA, approved MOVANTIR' as thiest once-daily oral PAMORA
medication for the treatment of OIC, in adult patsewith chronic, non-cancer pain. On Decembei0942the European Commission, or EC,
granted Marketing Authorisation to MOVENTISG  (theloweegol brand name in the European Union, or EUhadirst once-daily oral
PAMORA to be approved in the European Union (EU)tfe treatment of OIC in adult patients who haad hn inadequate response to
laxative(s). The EC'’s approval applies to all 28dpean Union member countries plus Iceland and prn@n January 23, 2015, the United
States Drug Enforcement Agency published its find in the Federal Register, effective immediataiythe date it was published, which
removed naloxegol and its salts from the schedfléise Controlled Substances Act. AstraZenecadsighg the commercial launch of
MOVANTIK ™in the United States late in the first qtex of 2015 and commercial launch of MOVENT®G iarBpe in the second half of
2015.

Etirinotecan pegol (also known as NKTR-102), issatrgeneration topoisomerase | (topo I) inhibitorrently being evaluated in a Phase
3 open-label, randomized, multicenter clinical gtad a single-agent therapy for women with met&staeast cancer. This Phase 3 clinical
study, which we call the BEACON study (BrEAst Can@aitcomes with NKTR-102), has completed enrollmefrapproximately 850 women
with locally recurrent or metastatic breast carveko have had prior treatment with anthracyclingatee and capecitabine in either the adju'
or metastatic setting. Patients in the BEACON stwdye randomized on a 1:1 basis to receive eithglesagent etirinotecan pegol or a single
agent of physician’s choice. The primary endpofrthe BEACON study is overall survival, and secaydandpoints include progression-free
survival and objective tumor response rate. In Mawver 2012, the FDA designated etirinotecan pegal Bast Track development program for
the treatment of patients with locally recurrentratastatic breast cancer progressing after tredtwiéh an anthracycline, a taxane, and
capecitabine. In January 2014, we announced tedhttependent Data Monitoring Committee creatquléwide safety oversight for the
BEACON study recommended continuation of the BEAC&My following an interim data analysis which vpesformed after reaching 50%
of the events needed to achieve the primary entipbmverall survival. We have now achieved theassary number of events in the
BEACON study to assess the overall survival primemglpoint and other secondary endpoints. We areaoomucting blinded data verification
activities and currently plan to un-blind
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and announce the top-line data from the BEACON yindarch 2015. We have also studied etirinotgoagol in colorectal cancer and
ovarian cancer and, in addition, have providedremaoviding support for investigator initiated @asch with etirinotecan pegol in patients with
bevacizumab (Avastin)-resistant high-grade gliomtpsed small cell lung cancer, metastatic andrrent non-small cell lung cancer, and
with refractory brain metastases in patients witigl cancer.

NKTR-181 is a novel mu-opioid analgesic drug caatkdor chronic pain conditions. NKTE81 has been designed to have a slow re
entry into the brain, which is expected to redineedttractiveness of the molecule as a targetudeabnd reduce other serious central nervous
system-related side effects, such as sedationespiratory depression, which are associated watidstrd opioid therapies. NKTR-181's
potential abuse deterrent properties are inheceité hovel molecular structure and do not relyadormulation approach, a common method
used with opioid drugs to reduce their ease of emsiun into abusable forms of an opioid. In May 20he FDA designated NKTR-181 as a
Fast Track development program for the treatmentaderate to severe chronic pain. In June 2013meunced results from a human abuse
liability study that demonstrated that NKTR-181 taghly statistically significant lower “drug likgi' scores and reduced “feeling high” scores
as compared to oxycodone at all doses tested.dre@ber 2013, we announced topline results frorhas® 2 clinical study of NKTR-181 in
patients with moderate to severe chronic pain fosteoarthritis of the knee. In this study, NKTR-Y&¥formed as expected as an opioid
analgesic throughout the study. However, patiefiis were randomized to the placebo arm followingumditration phase did not show the
expected increase in pain scores observed in sigmlached enroliment, randomized withdrawal stadihis lack of a placebo rebound in the
maintenance phase of the trial caused the Phase2t® miss the primary endpoint, which was therage change in a patient’s pain score
from baseline to the end of the double-blind, ranided treatment period.

In October 2014, we had an end-of-Phase 2 meatingKTR-181 with the FDA, which included discussions oftaer considerations fi
the Phase 3 clinical study program. In this Phagegram for NKTR-181 we plan to include two sepafficacy studies in patients with
chronic lower back pain, a long-term safety stuahd a human abuse liability study. We enrolledfitis¢ patient in this first Phase 3 study on
February 24, 2015. In this first efficacy study, plan to randomize approximately 416 chronic lowkopain patients in a clinical study that
utilizes an enriched enrollment randomized withdxbgesign. The study includes a qualifying scregmiariod, an open-label titration period
where NKTR-181 is given to all patients, and thefollowed by a 12 week double-blind randomizedqeewhere a total of approximately 416
patients will be randomized on a 1:1 basis to coireceiving NKTR-181 or crossover to receive @ac The study design also includes a
single interim analysis for sample size reassessmieich will be conducted by an independent dataitoding committee. The primary
endpoint will be change in weekly pain score indbeble-blind randomized period relative to thedbiags pain score and the key secondary
endpoints will include percentage of responder®¢ 3eduction in pain score) and patient impressiochange. We plan to have further
interactions with the FDA to finalize the study @gsfor the other clinical studies planned for Btease 3 program.

We also have additional proprietary preclinical afidical drug candidates in research and developnWe have an ongoing Phase 1
clinical development program for NKTR-171, a newison channel blocker being developed as a poteortéltherapy for the treatment of
peripheral neuropathic pain. This year we plandweace NKTR-214, an engineered immune-stimulatgtgkine being developed for the
treatment of solid tumors, into a Phase 1 clingtatly. NKTR-214 is engineered to selectively adtvaterlerleukin-2 (IL-2) receptors present
on the surface of cytotoxic T cells that kill tunemlls, with relatively low affinity for IL-2 recdprs present on the regulatory T cells that woul
otherwise dampen the immune response to tumorsar@/also advancing numerous other drug candidafg®clinical development in the
areas of cancer immunotherapy, pain and otherbete indications.

We have a collaboration with Baxter Healthcare (Bgxto identify and develop PEGylated drug caatid with the objective of
providing new long-acting therapies for hemophiéaients. Under the terms of this collaboration,are providing our PEGylation technology
and expertise and Baxter is responsible for all
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clinical development. The first drug candidatehis tcollaboration is BAX 855, an investigationalfended half-life recombinant factor VIII
(rFVIII) treatment for hemophilia A based on ADVATEntihemophilic Factor (Recombinant)]. In DecemBé4, Baxter announced that it
filed a biologic license application with the FDArfBAX 855. This regulatory submission was basegasitive results from a prospective,
global, multi-center, open-label, two-arm Phaséudys of BAX 855 in 137 previously treated patierBsxxter reported that the results
demonstrated that BAX 855 met its primary endpuirthe control and prevention of bleeding episaales routine prophylaxis for patients v
were 12 years or older.

We also have a collaboration with Bayer Health¢ar€ (Bayer), to develop BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhafermerly known as NKTR-
061), which is an inhaled solution of amikacin,aaminoglycoside antibiotic. We originally developtbé NKTR-061 drug candidate and the
associated liquid aerosol inhalation platform antéeed into a collaboration agreement with Bayeadweance the drug candidate into further
clinical development and potential commercializatiBayer is currently enrolling patients in a Phas#inical study for Amikacin Inhale.
Bayer is conducting this study under a SpecialdatAssessment process agreed to with the FDA.

We also have a number of license, manufacturingsapgly agreements with leading biotechnology dmatmaceutical companies,
including Amgen Inc., Allergan, Inc., Halozyme Thpeutics, Inc., Merck & Co., Inc., Ophthotech Cagtion, Pfizer, Inc., F. Hoffmann-La
Roche Ltd (Roche), and UCB Pharma. A total of mneducts using our PEGylation technology have kexbregulatory approval in the U.S.
or E.U. There are also a number of other productsinical development that incorporate our advane&Gylation and advanced polymer
conjugate technologies.

On December 31, 2008, we completed the sale angfénaof certain pulmonary technology rights, darfaulmonary collaboration
agreements and approximately 140 dedicated pulmgesonnel and operations to Novartis Pharma A@/@itis). We retained all of our
rights to Amikacin Inhale and our right to receiegalties on net sales of the Cipro DPI (Cipro BPgwder Inhaler, previously called Cipro
Inhale) program with Bayer Schering Pharma AG tatransferred to Novartis as part of the transactin August 2012, Bayer initiated a
global Phase 3 program called RESPIRE for the digpbproduct candidate in patients with non-cyfbeosis bronchiectasis. The two
placebo-controlled trials, RESPIRE-1 and RESPIREFE,enrolling up to 600 patients and will evaluaigro DPI as a chronic, intermittent
therapy over a period of 48 weeks.

Corporate Information

We were incorporated in California in 1990 and cenporated in Delaware in 1998. We maintain ourcakge offices at 455 Mission
Bay Boulevard South, San Francisco, California @ Hhd our main telephone number is (415) 482-5800.website is located at
www.nektar.com. The information contained in, attban be accessed through, our website is nobfahd is not incorporated in, this
Annual Report.

Our Technology Platform

As a leader in the PEGylation field, we have adeanour technology platform to include new advanpalgmer conjugate chemistries
and polymer technologies that can be tailored @ciie and customized ways with the objective dfimjzing and significantly improving the
profile of a wide range of molecules including mangsses of drugs targeting numerous disease &E&ylation has been a highly effective
technology platform for the development of theramsuwvith significant commercial success, such agén’s Neulastd (pedfilgrastim) and
Roche’'s PEGASYS® (PEG-interferon alfa-2a). Nearlyfthe PEGylated drugs approved over the lasdii years were enabled with our
PEGylation technology through our collaborationd &tensing partnerships with a number of well-kmawotechnology and pharmaceutical
companies. PEGylation is a versatile technology eesult of polyethylene glycol (PEG) being a wat@uble, amphiphilic, non-toxic, non-
immunogenic compound that has been shown to seliedy from the body. Its primary use to date hanbe currently approved biologic drt
to favorably alter their pharmacokinetic or pharpodmamic properties.
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However, in spite of its widespread success in ceroial drugs, there are some limitations with tingt-generation PEGylation approaches
have been used with biologics. These techniquasotdre used successfully to create small moleauigsdwhich could potentially benefit frc
the application of the technology. Other limitasasf the early applications of PEGylation technglaglude sub-optimal bioavailability and
bioactivity, and its limited ability to be usedftoe-tune properties of the drug, as well as itsility to be used to create oral drugs.

With our expertise and proprietary technology irGytation, we have created the next generation @y&ion technology. Our
advanced polymer conjugate technology platformesighed to overcome the limitations of the firsdgmation of the technology platform and
to allow the platform to be utilized with a broadange of molecules across many therapeutic avéasave also developed robust
manufacturing processes for generating second gmePEGylation reagents that allow us to utitize full potential of these newer
approaches.

Both our PEGylation and advanced polymer conjutgtbnology platforms have the potential to offee @n more of the following
benefits:

» improve efficacy or safety of a drug as a resubbetter pharmacokinetics, pharmacodynamics, lohgH+life and sustained exposure
of the drug;

» improve targeting or binding affinity of a drugitse target receptors with the potential to impre¥&cacy and reduce toxicity or drug
resistance

» improve solubility of a drug

» enable oral administration of parenterally-admaristl drugs, or drugs that must be administereavatrously or subcutaneously, and
increase oral bioavailability of small molecul

» prevent drugs from crossing the blood-brain baroereduce their rate of passage into the brhgreby limiting undesirable central
nervous system effect

* reduce firstpass metabolism effects of certain drug classdstivé potential to improve efficacy, which couldiuee the need for oth
medicines and reduce toxicil

» reduce the rates of drug absorption and of eliranair metabolism by improving stability of the drin the body and providing it wi
more time to act on its targe

« differentially alter binding affinity of a drug fanultiple receptors, improving its selectivity fome receptor over another; a
» reduce immune response to certain macromoleculstiag potential to prolong their effectivenesshwitpeated dose

We have a broad range of approaches that we mayhese designing our own drug candidates, some aftwére further described
below.

Small Molecule Stable Polymer Conjugates

Our customized approach for small molecule polyomjugates allows for the fine-tuning of the phgsicemical and pharmacological
properties of small molecule oral drugs to potéiytiacrease their therapeutic benefit. In addititris approach can enable oral administratior
of subcutaneously or intravenously delivered smallecule drugs that have low bioavailability wheslicered orally. The benefits of this
approach can also include: improved potency, medifiiodistribution with enhanced pharmacodynangos, reduced transport across specific
membrane barriers in the body, such as the bloaitimarrier. Two examples of reducing transporossithe blood-brain barrier are
MOVANTIK ™, an orally-available peripherally-actimmpioid antagonist that was recently approved inith#ed States and European Union,
and NKTR-171, a novel peripherally-acting sodiuraratel blocker that is currently in a Phase 1 dih#&tudy for the treatment of
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neuropathic pain. An additional example of the aaplon of membrane transport, specifically slowiransport across the blood-brain barrier
is NKTR-181, an orally-available mu-opioid analgesiolecule that is currently in Phase 3 development

Small Molecule Pro-Drug Releasable Polymer Conjugat

The pro-drug polymer conjugation approach can leel s optimize the pharmacokinetics and pharmacamyes of a small molecule
drug to substantially increase its efficacy androwp its side effect profile. We are currently gsthis platform with oncolytics, which
typically have sub-optimal half-lives that can lirthieir therapeutic efficacy. With our releasabddymer conjugate technology platform, we
believe that these drugs can be modulated for progred release within the body, optimized bioagtigitd increased sustained exposure of
active drug to tumor cells in the body. We are gghis approach with our lead oncolytic drug caatid etirinotecan pegol, a next-generation
topoisomerase I-inhibitor currently in the Phad#EACON clinical study for treatment of metastatiest cancer.

Large Molecule Polymer Conjugates (Proteins and Fdps)

Our customized approaches with large molecule petyronjugates have enabled numerous successfullRiEGpiologics on the mark
today. Based on our knowledge of the technologyhaoldgics, our scientists have designed novel blyadable linkers that in many cases can
be used to optimize bioactivity. Through rationalgldesign, a protein or peptide’s pharmacokinetio$ pharmacodynamics can be
substantially improved and its half-life can bengigantly extended. An example of this is BAX 8%blonger-acting (PEGylated) form of a
full-length recombinant factor VIII (rFVIII) protei for which Baxter filed a biologic license appglion with the United States Food and Drug
Administration on December 1, 2014.

Antibody Fragment Polymer Conjugates

This approach uses a large molecular weight PEGugated to antibody fragments in order to potelytimhprove their toxicity profile,
extend their half-life and allow for ease of syrsisawith the antibody. The specially designed PE@aces the function of the fragment
crystallizable (Fc) domain of full length antibosli@ith a branched architecture PEG with eitherlstabdegradable linkage. This approach
be used to reduce antigenicity, reduce glomeriltaatfon rate, enhance uptake by inflamed tissaes, retain antigen-binding affinity and
recognition. There is currently one approved producthe market that utilizes our technology withamtibody fragment, CIMZI®
(certoluzimab pegol), which was developed by outrga UCB Pharma and is approved for the treatrae@trohn’s Disease, psoriatic arthritis
and ankylosing spondylitis in the U.S. and rheurdaaothritis in the U.S. and E.U.

Our Strategy
The key elements of our business strategy are idesidoelow:

Advance Our Proprietary Clinical Pipeline of Drug &didates that Leverage Our PEGylation and Advand@alymer Conjugate
Platform

Our objective is to create value by advancing eadldrug candidates through various stages otalidievelopment. To support this
strategy, we have significantly expanded and add@eértise to our internal preclinical, clinical @éspment and regulatory departments. A ke
component of our development strategy is to padéiptieduce the risks and time associated with dienglopment by capitalizing on the
known safety and efficacy of approved drugs as aekstablished pharmacologic targets and drugstdi to those targets. For many of our
novel drug candidates, we may seek to study thg cradidates in indications for which the parenigdrhave not been studied or approved.
We believe that the improved characteristics ofdrug candidates will provide meaningful benefipadients compared to the existing
therapies. In addition, in certain instances weshthe opportunity to develop new treatments foigpés for which the parent drugs are not
currently approved.
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Ensure Future Growth of our Proprietary Pipeline tbugh Internal Research Efforts and Advancement @dir Preclinical Drug
Candidates into Clinical Trials

We believe it is important to maintain a diversegbine of new drug candidates to continue to baiidhe value of our business. Our
discovery research organization is continuing emtdy new drug candidates by applying our techgglplatform to a wide range of molecule
classes, including small molecules and large pmetgieptides and antibodies, across multiple tleerépareas. We continue to advance our
most promising research drug candidates into prieali development with the objective of advancingse early stage research programs to
human clinical studies over the next several years.

Enter into Strategic and High-Value Partnerships ®ring Certain of Our Drug Candidates to Market

We decide on a drug candidate-by-drug candidatis basv far to advance clinical development (e.cagehl, 2 or 3) and whether to
commercialize products on our own, or seek a pgrargursue a combination of these approachesekxample, in December 2010, we
decided that we would move etirinotecan pegol (&tsmvn as NKTR102) into Phase 3 clinical development in metastattast cancer prior
completing a collaboration partnership for thisgloandidate. When we determine to seek a partnestmtegy is to enter into collaborations
with leading pharmaceutical and biotechnology congsato fund further clinical development, mandgedlobal regulatory filing process, €
market and sell drugs in one or more geographies.options for future collaboration arrangemenigeafrom comprehensive licensing and
commercialization arrangements to co-promotion @idevelopment agreements with the structure ofttiaboration depending on factors
such as the structure of economic risk sharingctist and complexity of development, marketing emthmercialization needs, therapeutic .
and geographic capabilities.

Continue to Build a Leading Intellectual Property $fate in the Field of PEGylation and Polymer Conjatg Chemistry across
Therapeutic Modalities

We are committed to continuing to build on our llgetual property position in the field of PEGylati and polymer conjugate chemistry.
To that end, we have a comprehensive patent syraiitly the objective of developing a patent estateering a wide range of novel inventions
including among others, polymer materials, conjagatormulations, synthesis, therapeutic areahadstof treatment and methods of
manufacture.

Nektar Proprietary Drugs and Drug Candidates in Clinical Development

The following table summarizes our proprietary dragd drug candidates that have either receivadategy approval or are being
developed by us or in collaboration with other phaceutical companies or independent investigaldrs.table includes the type of molecule
or drug, the target indications for the drug caatidand the status of the clinical developmengaim.

Drug Candidate Target Indication Status(1)
MOVANTIK ™(naloxegol tablets) Opioid-induced constipation in adult Approved in U.S.
patients with chronic non-cancer pain (Partnered
with AstraZeneca AB
MOVENTIG @ (brand name for MOVANTIK" Opioid-induced constipation in adult Approved in E.U.
in Europe) patients who have an inadequate response to  (Partnered
laxatives with AstraZeneca AB
Etirinotecan pegol (next-generation Locally recurrent or metastatic breast car Phase 3
topoisomerase | inhibito
BAX 855 (PEGylated rFVIII) Hemophilia A Phase 3 ongoing and
filed for

approval in U.S.
(partnered with
Baxter Healthcare
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Drug Candidate
BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale, formerly
NKTR-061)

NKTR-181 (orally-available mu-opioid
analgesic molecule

Etirinotecan pegc

Etirinotecan pegol

Etirinotecan pegol (in combination with 5-
Fluorouracil/leucovorin

NKTR-171 (orally-available peripherally-acting
sodium channel blocke

MOVANTIK ™fixed-dose combinations
(opioid/naloxegol combinations)

NKTR-214 (cytokine immunostimulatory
therapy)

(1) Status definitions are

Target Indication

Gram-negative pneumonias

Moderate to severe chronic pain
Platinun-resistant/refractory ovarian canc
Second-line metastatic colorectal cancer in
patients with the KRAS gene mutati
Gastrointestinal-related solid tumors

Neuropathic pail

Chronic pain without constipation

Oncology

Status(1)
Phase 3 (Partnered with
Bayer
Healthcare LLC)*

Phase 3

Completed Phase
Completed Phase 2

Completed Phase 1
Phase 1

Research/Preclinical
(Partnered
with AstraZeneca AB

Research/Preclinical

Filed — an application for approval and marketing haslfded with the applicable government health autiyo
Phase 3 or Pivotal— product in large-scale clinical trials conducteabtain regulatory approval to market and saldhug (these trials
are typically initiated following encouraging Phdstrial results).
Phase 2— a drug candidate in clinical trials to establikising and efficacy in patients.
Phase 1 —a drug candidate in clinical trials, typically iedithy subjects, to test safety.
Research/Preclinical — a drug candidate is beindistl in research by way of in vitro studies andoimal studies

* This drug candidate uses, in part, a liquid aertesgiinology platform that was transferred to Nasasy us in the pulmonary asset sale
transaction that was completed on December 31,.2008art of that transaction, we retained an estetulicense to this technology for
the development and commercialization of this dragdidate originally developed by 1
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Approved Drugs and Drug Candidates Enabled By Our Echnology through Licensing Collaborations

The following table outlines our collaborations lwé number of pharmaceutical companies that licenséntellectual property and, in
some cases, purchase our proprietary PEGylatioariakst for their drug products. A total of nine goets using our PEGylation technology
have received regulatory approval in the U.S. aoRe. There are also a number of other candidatgédaive been filed for approval or are in
various stages of clinical development. These boHations generally contain one or more elememtsiding a license to our intellectual
property rights and manufacturing and supply agergmunder which we may receive manufacturing reeemilestone payments, and/or
royalties on commercial sales of drug products.

Primary or Target Drug
Drug Indications Marketer/Partner Status(1)
Neulaste® (pedfilgrastim) Neutropenie Amgen Inc. Approved
PEGASYS® (peginterferon ali-2a) Hepatitis-C F. Hoffmanr-La Roche Ltc Approved
Somaver® (pegvisomant Acromegaly Pfizer Inc. Approved
PEG-INTRON® (peginterferon alfa-Hepatitis-C Merck (through its acquisition of Approved
2b) Scherini-Plough Corporation
Macuger® (pegaptanib sodium Age-related macular degeneratiolaleant Pharmaceuticals Approved
injection) International, Inc
CIMZIA @ (certolizumab pegol Rheumatoid arthriti UCB Pharme Approved*
CIMZIA @ (certolizumab pegol Crohr’s diseas: UCB Pharme Approved*
CIMZIA @ (certoluzimab pegol Psoriasis/Ankylosing Spondylit UCB Pharme Approved*
MIRCERA® (C.E.R.A.) (Continuou Anemia associated with chronic F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd Approved**

Erythropoietin Receptor kidney disease in patients on
Activator) dialysis and patients not on
dialysis

OMONTYS® (peginesatide)

Anemia associated with chronic Affymax, Inc.
kidney disease (CKD) in adult
patients on dialysi

MOVANTIK ™(naloxegol tablets) Opioid-induced constipation in  AstraZeneca AB

MOVENTIG @ (brand name for
MOVANTIK ™in Europe)

SEMPRANA®
BAX 855 (PEGylated rFVIII)

adult patients with chronic non-
cancer pait

Opioid-induced constipation in  AstraZeneca AB
adult patients who have an
inadequate response to laxati

Migraine Allergan, Inc.

Hemophilia A Baxter Healthcare
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Approved (currently withdrawn
from market)

Approved in U.S.

Approved in E.U.

Filed for approval in U.S

Phase 3 ongoing and filed for
approval in U.S
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Primary or Target Drug
Drug Indications Marketer/Partner Status(1)
FOVISTA™ Neovascular a¢-related macular Ophthotech Corporation Phase 3
degeneratiol

Cipro Dry Powder Inhaler (Cipro  Cystic fibrosis lung infections ~ Bayer Schering Pharma AG Phase 3***
DPI)

PEGPH20 Pancreatic and Non-Small Cell Halozyme Therapeutics, Inc. Phase 1 and 2
Lung Cance
Longer-acting blood clotting proteir Hemophilia Baxter Healthcar Research/Preclinici

(1) Status definitions are

Approved— regulatory approval to market and sell produdaited in one or more of the U.S., E.U. or othamtdes.

Filed — an application for approval and marketing haslfded with the applicable government health autiyo

Phase 3 or Pivotal— product in large-scale clinical trials conducteabtain regulatory approval to market and saldhug (these trials
are typically initiated following encouraging Phastrial results).

Phase 2— a drug candidate in clinical trials to establiklsing and efficacy in patients.

Research/Preclinical & drug candidate is being studied in research lyyofi&n vitro studies and/or animal studies

* In February 2012, we sold our rights to receiveattigs on future worldwide net sales of CIMZ® effective as of January 1, 20!

**  Amgen Inc. prevailed in a patent lawsuit agaiRsHoffmann-La Roche Ltd (Roche) and as a reduthie legal ruling Roche was
prevented from marketing MIRCERA in the U.S. udtily 2014. In February 2012, we sold our rightestzeive royalties on future
worldwide net sales of MIRCER® effective as of January 1, 2012 until the agreemaittt Roche is terminated or expirt

***  This drug candidate was developed using ourppietary pulmonary delivery technology that wassferred by us to Novartis in an asset
sale transaction that closed on December 31, 2008art of the transaction, Novartis assumed altsi and obligations for Cipro DPI
(formerly known as Cipro Inhale) under our agreetmevith Bayer Schering Pharma AG; however, we nadieid the rights to receive
royalties on commercial sales of Cipro DPI if theglcandidate is approve

With respect to all of our collaboration and liceragreements with third parties, please referaim I1A, Risk Factors, including without
limitation, “We are a party to numerous collabaratagreements and other significant agreementshvduointain complex commercial terms
that could result in disputes, litigation or indefimation liability that could adversely affect obusiness, results of operations and financial
condition.”

Overview of Selected Nektar Proprietary Drug Develpment Programs and Significant Partnered Drug Develpment Programs

MOVANTIK ™and MOVANTIK ™ Fixed-Dose Combination Produs (previously referred to as naloxegol, NKTR-118NKTR-119),
License Agreement with AstraZeneca AB

In September 2009, we entered into a global licaiggeement with AstraZeneca AB pursuant to whiclgreated AstraZeneca a
worldwide, exclusive, perpetual, royalty-bearingelise under our patents and other intellectualgptppo develop, market and sell
MOVANTIK ™and MOVANTIK ™fixed-dose combination prodts&s MOVANTIK ™was developed using our oral small exlle polymer
conjugate technology and we advanced this drugitiirahe completion of Phase 2 clinical studiesrgndicensing it to AstraZeneca.
MOVANTIK ™is an orally-available peripherally-actimgu-opioid antagonist being investigated for tleatment of opioid-induced
constipation (OIC), which is a common side effdgbi@scription opioid
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medications. Opioids attach to specific proteinkedaopioid receptors. When the opioids attacheidain opioid receptors in the gastrointest
tract, constipation may occur. OIC is a result efr@ased fluid absorption and lower gastrointeltirwdility due to opioid receptor binding in
the gastrointestinal tract.

On September 16, 2014, the FDA approved MOVANTYK thesfirst once-daily oral peripherally-acting mpia@id receptor antagonist
(PAMORA) medication for the treatment of OIC in #dpatients with chronic, non-cancer pain. On Deben®, 2014, the European
Commission, or EC, granted Marketing AuthorisatioMOVENTIG ® (the naloxegol brand hame in the Euayp&nion, or EU) as the first
once-daily oral PAMORA to be approved in the EUtfoe treatment of OIC in adult patients who have &ia inadequate response to laxative
(s). The EC’s approval applies to all 28 Europeaimld member countries plus Iceland and Norway. &wadry 23, 2015, the DEA published
the final rule in the Federal Register, effectivariediately on the date it was published, removigxegol and its salts from the schedules of
the Controlled Substances Act. AstraZeneca is jagniie commercial launch of MOVANTIK™ in the UnitéStates late in the first quarter of
2015 and MOVENTI® in the second half of 2015.

Under the terms of our license agreement, AstraZaentade an initial license payment to us of $12%llon and AstraZeneca has
responsibility for all activities and bears all tassociated with research, development and coomtization for MOVANTIK ™ and
MOVANTIK ™fixed- dose combination products. We received $70.0 miliind $25.0 million upon the acceptance for re\afMOVANTIK
™ regulatory approval applications filed with the FBAd European Medicines Agency (EMA), respectiviel)2013. In 2014, we received an
additional $35.0 million payment upon the FDA's epml of MOVANTIK ™ The remaining $140.0 million afevelopment milestone
payments are due upon the commercial launches SfAMMOIK ™in the U.S. ($100 million) and in the E.U$40 million). We are also
entitled to up to $375.0 million in sales milesterier MOVANTIK ™ if the program achieves certain amhaommercial sales levels. For the
MOVANTIK ™fixed-dose combination products, we ars@kligible to receive significant development iitges as well as significant sales
milestone payments if the program achieves cednanual commercial sales levels. For both MOVANTWK ndahe fixed-dose combination
products, we are also entitled to significant deuthilgit royalty payments starting at 20% of neesah the U.S. and 18% of net sales in the
E.U. and rest of world, varying by country of satel level of annual net sales. Our right to recedy@lties (subject to certain adjustments) in
any particular country will expire upon the latér(@) a specified period of time after the firstmmercial sale of the product in that country or
(b) the expiration of patent rights in that partizicountry. AstraZeneca has agreed to use comatigraeasonable efforts to develop one
MOVANTIK ™fixed-dose combination product and has tight to develop multiple products which combin©MANTIK ™with opioids.

Etirinotecan pegol (NKTR-102, next generation, lofagting topoisomerase | inhibitor)

We are developing etirinotecan pegol (also knowNK$R-102), a next generation topoisomerase | (topohipitor which was designe
using our PEGylation technology. Etirinotecan paga novel macromolecular chemotherapeutic dedigmenhance the anti-cancer effects o
topo | inhibition while minimizing its toxicitiedJnlike irinotecan, which is a first generation tdpahibitor that exhibits a high initial peak
concentration and short half-life, etirinotecan @égpro-drug design results in a lower initial geancentration of active topo | inhibitor in the
blood. The large etirinotecan pegol molecule icfive when administered. Over time, the body’s retanzymatic processes slowly
metabolize the linkers within the molecule, continsly freeing active drug that then can work tggtanor cell division through topo |
inhibition. In preclinical models, etirinotecan mégchieved a 300-fold increase in tumor conceiatneis compared to irinotecan. Because
etirinotecan pegol is a large molecule, based enlipical studies we believe that it may penetthé&leaky vasculature within the tumor
environment more readily than normal vasculatuoecentrating and trapping etirinotecan pegol indutissue. Clinical studies have shown
that etirinotecan pegol has an extended pharmaeti&iprofile and remains in circulation throughtha entire chemotherapy cycle, providing
sustained exposure to topo | inhibition.

Etirinotecan pegol is currently being evaluated aingle-agent therapy (145 mg/m2 every 21 daya)Rhase 3 open-label, randomized,
multicenter clinical study in patients with metdgtdreast cancer. This Phase 3
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clinical study, which we call the BEACON study (Bx& Cancer Outcomes with NKTR-102), enrolled apprately 850 patients with
metastatic breast cancer who have had prior trestwi¢gh anthracycline, taxane and capecitabindthree the adjuvant or metastatic setting.
We completed enrollment in the BEACON study in latéy 2013. This study randomized patients on abasis to receive single-agent
etirinotecan pegol or a single agent chosen frataefened set of physician’s choice alternatives. phegsicians choice single agents include
following: ixabepilone, vinorelbine, gemcitabineibailin, or a taxane. Randomization was stratifigdyeographic region, prior treatment with
eribulin and whether or not the patient had tripdgative breast cancer. The primary endpoint oBEEACON study is overall survival, and
secondary endpoints include progression-free sahamd objective tumor response rate. Secondaryaénid and objectives also include
clinical benefit rate, duration of response, pharokinetic data, safety profiles, quality-of-life asirements, and pharmacoeconomic
implications. Exploratory objectives of the studglude collecting specific biomarker data to catelwith objective tumor response rate,
progression-free survival, overall survival ancesétd toxicities. In November 2012, the FDA desigdatirinotecan pegol as a Fast Track
development program for the treatment of patieritis lwcally recurrent or metastatic breast cancegpessing after treatment with an
anthracycline, a taxane, and capecitabine. On #arida 2014, we announced that the Independent Ratatoring Committee, or the DMC,
created to provide safety oversight for the BEACSQMy recommended continuation of the Phase 3 BBAGIdy following an interim data
analysis which was performed after reaching 50%hefevents needed to achieve the primary endpbonerall survival. We are now
conducting blinded data verification activities andrently plan to unblind and announce the top-tilata from the BEACON Study in March
2015.

According to the American Cancer Society and Wéttalth Organization, more than 1.4 million womenrldwide are diagnosed with
breast cancer globally every year. The chance &fldping invasive breast cancer at some time imman’s life is a little less than one in ei
(12%). In 2015, the American Cancer Society ests#ttere will be 231,840 new cases of breast cam¢be U.S. Metastatic breast cancer
refers to cancer that has spread from the breakstant sites in the body. Anthracyclines and m&saare the among the most active and widel
used chemotherapeutic agents for breast cancethdiricreased use of these agents at an early statisease often renders tumors resiste
these drugs by the time the disease recurs, theeeloging the number of treatment options for ntatasdisease. There are currently no FDA-
approved topoisomerase | inhibitors indicated ¢attbreast cancer.

We have also conducted clinical studies for ettégan pegol in other solid tumor settings. In 2048,completed a Phase 2 clinical study
for etirinotecan pegol in approximately 170 patiewith platinum-resistant/refractory ovarian cand®e also initiated a Phase 2 clinical study
of etirinotecan pegol monotherapy versus irinotdossecond-line metastatic colorectal cancer pttieith the KRAS mutant gene. The Phase
2 clinical study was designed to enroll 174 patiemith metastatic colorectal cancer. In Februard42@ve decided to close enrollment in this
study after 80 patients were randomized due tdeatgds in recruiting new patients because the coabgraarm of this study, single-agent
irinotecan, is not the common standard of caresémond line metastatic colorectal therapy in th&. dr E.U. We plan to submit a manuscript
describing the results of this study in the firalftof 2015.

We also conducted a Phase 1 dose-escalation tlgtizdy which enrolled 26 patients to evaluatdrattecan pegol in combination with
5-Fluorouracil (5-FU)/leucovorin in refractory ssbliumor cancers. The chemotherapy agent 5-FU iemtly used as a part of a combination
treatment regimen for colorectal cancer in comliomadvith irinotecan, which is also known as the FRIRI regimen. On January 18, 2014, we
presented data from this study at the 2014 Gaséistinal Cancers Symposium in San Francisco, GaldoIn addition to the clinical study of
etirinotecan pegol being conducted by us, we a® @loviding support for four investigator-initidthase 2 studies being conducted for
etirinotecan pegol. On August 7, 2012, we annourcBtase 2 investigator-initiated clinical studyetifinotecan pegol in patients with
bevacizumab (Avastin)-resistant high-grade gliomimty conducted at the Stanford Cancer Institutdldy 2013, the study completed
enrollment of 20 patients with high-grade gliomaowtad received a median of three prior lines ofabg before enrolling in the study. A
separate investigator-initiated clinical studylsoabeing conducted at Stanford
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to evaluate etirinotecan pegol in patients withrbraetastasis from primary lung cancer. On Febra013, we announced a Phase 2
investigator-initiated clinical study of etirinott pegol in patients with metastatic and recumentsmall cell lung cancer being conducted at
the Abramson Cancer Center of the University ofrRglvania. On October 24, 2013, we announced ag”has/estigator-initiated clinical
study of etirinotecan pegol in patients with rekgbsr refractory small-cell lung cancer at the RaelsRark Cancer Institute.

BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale, formerly NKTR-061), Agement with Bayer Healthcare LLC

In August 2007, we entered into a co-developmédnke and co-promotion agreement with Bayer HeatthLLC (Bayer) to develop a
specially-formulated Amikacin (BAY41-6551, Amikacinhale, formerly called NKTR-061) for the treatnefigram-negative pneumonias.
Under the terms of the agreement, Bayer is resplenfsir most future clinical development and comeradization costs, all activities to supp
worldwide regulatory filings, approvals and relatedivities, further development of formulated Amdin and final product packaging for
Amikacin Inhale. We are responsible for all futdexelopment, manufacturing and supply of the nebulilevice for clinical and commercial
use. We have engaged third party contract manutastto perform our device manufacturing activifigsthis program. We are entitled to up
to $50.0 million in development milestone paymexgsvell as sales milestone payments upon achievesheartain annual sales targets. We
are also entitled to royalties based on annualdwode net sales of Amikacin Inhale. Our right togive these royalties in any particular
country will expire upon the later of ten yeareathe first commercial sale of the product in tb@tintry or the expiration of certain patent
rights in that particular country, subject to certaxceptions. We share a portion of these royaitigh the Research Foundation of the State
University of New York under a license agreemeihie Bigreement expires in relation to a particulanty upon the expiration of all royalty
and payment obligations between the parties retatsdch country. Subject to termination fee paynedtigations in certain circumstances,
Bayer also has the right to terminate the agreefoembnvenience. In addition, the agreement mag bk terminated by either party for cer
product safety concerns, the product’s failure eetrcertain minimum commercial profile requiremamtsincured material breaches by the
other party.

Gram-negative pneumonias are often the resultwiptications of other patient conditions or surgeri@ram-negative pneumonias carry
a mortality risk that can exceed 50% in mechanjeadintilated patients and accounts for a substgmtigoortion of the pneumonias in intensive
care units today. Amikacin Inhale is designed t@abeadjunctive therapy to the current antibiotieréipies administered intravenously as
standard of care. The aerosol generator withim#éimilizer for Amikacin Inhale delivers a fine aaosf the antimicrobial agent directly to the
site of infection in the lungs. This nebulizer dmvcontaining amikacin can be integrated with catieeal mechanical ventilators or used as a
hand-held ‘off-vent’ device for patients no longequiring breathing assistance.

In April 2013, Bayer initiated enroliment in a gelliPhase 3 clinical study, which it calls INHALB, évaluate the efficacy and safety of
Amikacin Inhale versus aerosolized placebo in thatment of intubated and mechanically ventilatgtiepts with Gram-negative pneumonia
receiving standard of care intravenous antibiofite global INHALE development program is comprigédwo prospective, randomized,
double-blind, placebo-controlled, large multi-cergbal programs involving centers in North AmesiGouth America, Europe, Japan,
Australia and Asia. The INHALE development progranbeing conducted by Bayer under a Special Pro#ssessment agreement with the
FDA that is intended to support the submissionroRN®A if the INHALE clinical studies are successfii November 2014, the FDA granted
qualified infectious disease product (QIDP) desiigmato Amikacin Inhale. Antimicrobial drugs deseghto treat serious and life-threatening
infections, designated as QIDP, are eligible fet-taack designation, priority review by FDA anfivae-year extension of market exclusivity.

NKTR-181 (mu-opioid analgesic molecule for chronpain)

NKTR-181 is an orally-available novel mu-opioid &gesic molecule in development as a long-actindgasic to treat chronic pain.
NKTR-181 is designed with the objective to addressathese liability and
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serious central nervous system (CNS) side effastsaated with current opioid therapies. NKTR-1&iswreated using Nektar's proprietary
polymer conjugate technology, which provides ithaatlong-acting profile and slows its entry inte BNS. NKTR-181's abuse deterrent
properties are inherent to its novel molecularcitme and do not rely on a formulation approacpr&vent its conversion into a more abusable
form of an opioid. In May 2012, the FDA granted fasack designation for the NKTR-181 developmertgoam.

In June 2012, we initiated a Phase 2 clinical stodgvaluate the efficacy, safety and tolerabbitfNKTR-181 in patients with moderate
to severe chronic pain from osteoarthritis of the& The Phase 2 clinical study utilized a doulitedbplacebo-controlled, randomized
withdrawal, enriched enrollment study design. Ttuelg enrolled 213 opioid-naive patients with ostdwitis of the knee who were not getting
adequate pain relief from their current non-opieéin medication. Patients who qualified duringblaseline period entered a titration phase,
during which they were titrated on NKTR-181 tablatbninistered orally twice-daily until a dose weaached that provided a reduction of at
least 20% in the patient’s pain score as comparéiaet patient's own baseline. Patients that acki¢his level of analgesia were then
randomized on a 1:1 basis to either continue teivectheir analgesic dose of NKTR-181 or to recgilaeebo for up to 25 days. The primary
endpoint of the study was the average change atiarf’'s pain score from baseline to the end oftiebleblind, randomized treatment peris

On September 26, 2013, we announced results frnPtiase 2 efficacy study. Of the 295 patientsehédgred the study, only 9
(3%) patients were unable to achieve meaningfui pelief with NKTR-181. A total of 213 patients aehed an average 40% reduction in pain
and entered the randomized phase of the study. NK8Rperformed as expected as an opioid analgesiaghout the study with patients
continuing to show a reduction in pain scores tghmut the randomized phase of the study. Howeaiemts who were randomized to plac
did not show the expected increase in pain scdyssreed in similar enriched enroliment, randomig&tidrawal studies. This unusual lack of
a placebo rebound caused the Phase 2 study tahmigsimary endpoint in the study.

In October 2014, we had an end-of-Phase 2 meeatingKTR-181 with the FDA, which included discusssoof the design of the Phase 3
clinical study program. In this Phase 3 programN&TR-181 we plan to include two separate efficatydies in patients with chronic lower
back pain, a long-term safety study, and a humasebability study. We enrolled the first patiémthis first Phase 3 study on February 24,
2015. In this first efficacy study, we plan to dhepproximately 416 patients in an enriched emnelht randomized withdrawal design which
will include a qualifying screening period, an ogehel titration period where NKTR-181 is givenatth patients, followed by a 12 week
double-blind randomized period where subjects belrandomized on a 1:1 basis to receive either NKBR or placebo. The study design alsc
includes a single interim analysis for sample seé@ssessment which will be conducted by an indep@rahta monitoring committee. The
primary endpoint will be change in weekly pain gcor the double-blind randomized period relativéhi® baseline pain score and the key
secondary endpoints will include percentage ofeadprs (>30% reduction in pain score) and patiepréssion of change. We plan to have
further interactions with the FDA to finalize thieidy design for the other clinical studies planfadhe Phase 3 program.

In the first half of 2013, we conducted a humansabiability study, or HAL study, for NKTR-181. lihis study, NKTR-181 had highly
statistically significant lower “drug liking” scoseand reduced “feeling high” scores as comparexycodone at all doses tested (p < 0.0001).
On June 19, 2013, we presented data from the Hédlysat the 2013 Annual Meeting of The College oobRyms of Drug Dependence in San
Diego, California.

According to a 2011 report from the National AcagleshSciences, chronic pain conditions, such asaasthritis, back pain and cancer
pain, affect at least 100 million adults in the UaBnually and contribute to over $300 billion @& lost productivity. Opioids are considered
to be the most effective therapeutic option fonpaiowever, opioids cause significant problemsploysicians and patients because of their
serious side effects such as respiratory depressidrsedation, as well as the risks they posediction, abuse, misuse, and diversion. The
FDA has cited prescription opioid analgesics asgdet the center of a major public health
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crisis of addiction, misuse, abuse, overdose aathdé 2010 report from the Center for Disease @brind Prevention notes that emergency
room visits tied to the abuse of prescription paiiets was at an all-time high at that point, hayincreased 111 percent over the preceding
five-year period.

NKTR-171 (neuropathic pain)

NKTR-171 is a novel, orally-available sodium charislecker and is being developed as a treatmentéaropathic pain. NKTR-171 is a
new molecular entity that is designed to treat apathic pain by blocking hyperactive neuronal spdzhannels associated with damaged
nerves in the peripheral nervous system. Chronicapathic pain arises from nerves injured or darddmesystemic disease, infection, toxins,
or physical trauma that are in a continuous sthtg/per-excitability, often due to aberrant sodiahannel firing. This hyper-excitability results
in transmission of abnormal pain signals from tegghery to the central nervous system (CNS). irgdtherapies that block sodium channels
have been shown to provide effective pain relidfdre typically associated with significant unwah@NS side effects, including dizziness,
ataxia and somnolence. NKTR-171 is designed tofmerigherally-restricted molecule which selectivielgcks hyper-excitable sodium
channels without causing the CNS side effectslitmitt usage of existing therapies. In January 2G@ldingle-ascending dose Phase 1 clinical
study of NKTR-171 was completed. This study asske#se pharmacokinetics, tolerability, and safetiN&fTR-171 in healthy subjects. In
January 2015, a multiple-ascending dose Phasaitallstudy was initiated to assess its pharmaeuics, tolerability, and safety of NKTR-
171.

NKTR-214 (cytokine immunostimulatory therapy)

NKTR-214 is an engineered immunostimulatory cytekémd is being developed for the treatment of gahdors. NKTR-214 is
engineered to selectively activate IL-2 receptaorshe surface of cytotoxic T cells that kill tunaells while imparting substantially reduced
affinity for IL-2 receptors present on the regulstd cells that would otherwise dampen the immwesponse to tumors. This receptor
selectivity is intended to increase efficacy angiiave safety over existing immunostimulatory cytekdrugs. The product candidate is
currently in Investigational New Drug applicatidiND)-enabling studies and we plan to start a Phaseitalistudy in the second half of 20

On June 1, 2014, we announced positive preclimiatd for NKTR-214 at the ASCO Annual Meeting in €tgo. Nektar scientists
conducted a series of studies using preclinicalefsodf breast tumors (EMT6) and colon tumors (CTie&ssess the safety and efficacy of
both single agent and combination dosing of NKTR-@ith checkpoint inhibitors, either an anti-PDhEtapy or an anti-CTLA-4 therapy. The
studies also compared NKTR-214 single agent ancbawation dosing regimens with single agent and doatlbn dosing regimens of anti-PD-
1 and anti-CTLA-4 therapies. In both the breast emldn tumor models, the combination dosing regisnefiNKTR-214 therapy with anti-PD-
therapy or anti-CTLA-4 therapy resulted in sigrafit tumor growth inhibition. In the aggressive EMAr@ast tumor model where activity with
single-agent anti-PD-1 therapy or single-agent&iLA-4 therapy was not observed, pre-dosing of /714 followed by anti-PD-1
demonstrated better efficacy (tumor growth inhdsitdbf 74%) as compared to a concomitant dosingrregiof anti-CTLA-4 and anti-PD-1
therapies (tumor growth inhibition of 23%). NKTR®2%vas also very well-tolerated when co-dosed wittinee antibody in these preclinical
studies.

Overview of Select Technology Licensing Collaboratins and Programs

We have a number of product candidates in clirdeakelopment and approved products in collaboratitim our partners that use our
technology or involve rights over which we haveapa$ or other proprietary intellectual propertyaltypical collaboration involving our
PEGylation technology, we license our proprietatgliectual property related to our PEGylation temlbgy or proprietary conjugated drug
molecules in exchange for upfront payments, devetag milestone payments and royalties from saléseofesulting commercial product as
well as sales milestones. In certain cases, wenaésufacture and supply our proprietary PEGylatiaterials to our partners.
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BAX 855 and Long-Acting Therapies for Hemophilia Agreement with Subsidiaries of Baxter Internatiohbnc.

In September 2005, we entered into an exclusiveareb, development, license, manufacturing andlgw@greement with Baxter
Healthcare SA and Baxter Healthcare Corporatioxi@ato develop products with an extended ha#f{dr the treatment and prophylaxis of
Hemophilia A patients using our proprietary PEGglatechnology. The first product in this collabmoa, BAX 855, is a longer-acting
(PEGylated) form of a full-length recombinant factdll (rFVIII) protein. BAX 855 is a full-length EGylated longer-acting recombinant
factor VIII (rFVIII) that was developed to increage half-life of ADVATE (Antihemophilic Factor (Rembinant) Plasma/Albumin-Free
Method). We are entitled to up to $65.0 milliontdtal development and sales milestone paymenisghss royalties on net sales varying by
product and country of sale. The royalties statheamid-single digits for net sales of BAX 855tob1.2 billion and then in the low teens for
net sales exceeding $1.2 billion. Our right to ree¢hese royalties in any particular country \@ilpire upon the later of ten years after the firs
commercial sale of the product in that countryhar éxpiration of patent rights in certain desigdateuntries or in that particular country.

In 2012, Baxter completed a Phase 1 clinical sfodyBAX 855 that was a prospective, open-label gtassessing the safety, tolerability
and pharmacokinetics of BAX 855 in 19 previoushatied patients age 18 years or older with sevenmplgilia A. In January 2013, Baxter
announced the top level results from this Phadanital study. This study demonstrated that thé-hife (measuring the duration of activity of
the drug in the body) of BAX 855 was approximately-fold higher compared to ADVATE. A longer haifiel was achieved in all patients in
the study using BAX 855, no patients developedtitbis to either base molecule, BAX 855 or PEG, angbatients had allergic reactions.
Eleven adverse events were reported in eight gataeoss both treatment arms, but none was setieasment-related or resulted in
withdrawal from the study. Baxter commenced patémbliment in a Phase 3 clinical study of BAX 883he U.S. in February 2013 and
completed enrollment in November 2013. The Phadaigal study, a multi-center, open-label studilethPROLONG-ATE, enrolled 146
previously treated adult patients with severe hdmiiapA in order to assess the efficacy, safety phdrmacokinetics of BAX 855 for
prophylaxis and on-demand treatment of bleedind\ugust 2014, Baxter announced positive top-lirsults from the PROLONG-ATE
clinical study which met the primary endpoint faetcontrol and prevention of bleeding, routine psdaxis and perioperative management for
patients who were 12 years or older. In Decembé#d2Baxter announced that it filed a biologic liserapplication with the FDA for BAX 85

Cipro DPI (formerly known as Cipro Inhale), Agreeméwith Bayer Schering Pharma AG Assigned to Noviaras of December 31, 2008

We were a party to a collaborative research, dgveémt and commercialization agreement with Bay@&e8og Pharma AG, (Bayer),
related to the development of an inhaled powdenidation of ciprofloxacin delivered by way of a dygwder inhaler, Cipro DPI (formerly
known as Cipro Inhale) for the treatment of chrdaitg infections caused BBseudomonas aeruginosacystic fibrosis patients. On
December 31, 2008, we assigned the agreement tarfioPharma AG in connection with the completibithe pulmonary asset sale
transaction. However, we retained our economiad@sten the future potential net sales royaltigSigro DPI is approved by health authorities
and is successfully commercialized by Bayer. CIpRI has completed Phase 2 clinical developmenthitreatment of chronic lung
infections. In August 2012, Bayer initiated a Phas#inical development program which it calls RESE for Cipro DPI in patients with non-
cystic fibrosis bronchiectasis. In patients witbrzhiectasis, the bronchial tubes are enlargesywaly mucus to pool and making the area
prone to infection. In the two placebo-controlledls, RESPIRE-1 and RESPIRE-2, Bayer plans toleapato 600 patients and to evaluate
Cipro DPI as a chronic, intermittent therapy overeaod of 48 weeks. In November 2014, the FDA trdmualified infectious disease product
(QIDP) designation to Cipro DPI. Antimicrobial dmidesigned to treat serious and life-threatenifertions, designated as QIDP, are eligible
for fast-track designation, priority review by FxAd a five-year extension of market exclusivity.
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FOVISTA™ (Anti-PDGF Therapy), Agreement with Ophtlech Corporation

In September 2006, we entered into a license, naatwing and supply agreement with (OSI) Eyeterb, (Eyetech) under which we
granted Eyetech a worldwide, exclusive licenseettain of our proprietary PEGylation technologyd&velop, manufacture and commercialize
particular products that use our proprietary PE@Gyfareagent linked with the active ingredient mvista™. In July 2007, as a result of a
divestiture agreement between Eyetech and Ophth@ecporation (Ophthotech), Ophthotech acquirethfEyetech certain technology rights
and other assets owned or controlled by Eyetechimglto particular anti-platelet-derived growtletfar aptamers, or anti-PDGFs, including
Fovista™. As a result of this transaction, Ophtbbtassumed the license, manufacturing and suppbeatent between Eyetech and us.
Fovista™ is an anti-PDGF agent administered in doathon with anti-vascular endothelial growth factanti-VEGF) therapy for the treatme
of neovascular age-related macular degenerationgbAMD). On May 19, 2014, Ophthotech entered midcensing and Commercialization
Agreement with Novartis Pharma AG to develop antiroercialize Fovist& and related combination proglircll countries outside of the
U.S. Under our agreement with Ophthotech, in Juliel2ve received a $19.75 million payment in conipectith this licensing agreement.
We are entitled to up to $9.5 million in total dla@mment and sales milestone payments, low- to siitjle-digit royalties on net sales that vary
by sales levels and are subject to reduction irmabdsence of patent coverage, and additional camagide if Ophthotech grants certain third-
party commercialization rights to Fovista™. Outhtigo receive royalties in any particular countil expire upon the later of ten years after
first commercial sale of the product or expiratarpatent rights in the particular country. We #re exclusive supplier for all of Ophthotech’s
clinical and future commercial requirements of proprietary PEGylation reagent used in the manufaabf Fovista™.

In June 2012, Ophthotech announced completionpobspective, randomized, controlled Phase 2b d@irstudy of 449 patients with wet
AMD comparing Fovista™, administered in combinatwith Lucentis® (ranibizumab injection) anti-VEGFetlapy with Lucenti®
monotherapy. Fovista™ met the pre-specified pringdfizacy endpoint of mean vision gain. Patienteiging the combination of Fovista™
(1.5 mg) and Lucenti® gained a mean of 10.6 letttvssion at 24 weeks on the Early Treatment DiahiRetinopathy Study standardized eye
chart, compared to 6.5 letters for patients rengitiucentis monotherapy (p=0.019), representingigstically significant 62% additional
benefit. In September 2013, Ophthotech announcedhttiation of patient enrollment in the first thfree planned pivotal Phase 3 clinical
studies of Fovista™ in combination with anti-VEGTetapy for the treatment of newly diagnosed patigrth wet AMD. These three studies
plan to enroll a total of approximately 1,866 patseto evaluate the efficacy and safety of Fovista™

PEGPH20, Agreement with Halozyme, Inc.

In December 2006, we entered into a license agneewith Halozyme, Inc. (Halozyme) under which wamgped Halozyme a worldwide,
limited exclusive license to certain of our propaiy PEGylation technology to develop, manufacamd commercialize particular products
use our proprietary PEGylation reagent linked amilyr certain qualifying hyaluronidase protein malkss including PEGPH20. According to
Halozyme, certain cancers, including pancreatiea$t, colon and prostate, have been shown to adatetigh levels of hyaluronan (HA).
Halozyme’s FDA-approved, HYLENEX recombinant hunmgmaluronidase, rHUPH20, is administered subcutasig@and temporarily and
reversibly degrades HA to facilitate the absorptond dispersion of other injected drugs or fluidd &r subcutaneous fluid administration.
However, rHUPH20 acts only locally at the injectsite, is rapidly inactivated in the body, and doessurvive in the blood. PEGPH20 is an
investigational PEGylated form of rHUPH20, undevelepment by Halozyme to increase the half-liféehef compound in the blood and allow
for intravenous administration. Halozyme is curkeevaluating PEGPH20 in a Phase 2 multicentedoarized clinical trial evaluating
PEGPH20 as a first-line therapy for patients wittge 1V metastatic pancreatic cancer. Halozymést evaluating PEGPH20 in an on-going
Phase 1b multi-center, randomized clinical triddlaating PEGPH20 as a second-line therapy for piatieith locally advanced or metastatic
nonsmall cell lung cancer. On October 2, 2014, the Fjpanted Orphan Drug designation for PEGPH20 ferttbatment of pancreatic canc
We are entitled to future development milestonasragalties on net sales subject to reduction énahsence of patent coverage. Our right to
receive royalties in any particular
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country will expire upon the later of twelve yeafter first commercial sale of the product or eapion of patent rights in the particular coun
We also manufacture and supply Halozyme with ciihdamd future commercial supply of our proprietBEGylation reagent used in the
manufacture of PEGPH20.

SEMPRANA® | Agreement with MAP Pharmaceuticals, In@ wholly-owned subsidiary of Allergan, Inc.)

In June 2004, we entered into a license agreemiémMhAP Pharmaceuticals, Inc. (MAP), which includesvorldwide, exclusive licens
to certain of our patents and other intellectuapgrty rights to develop and commercialize a foatiah of dihydroergotamine (DHE) for
administration to patients via the pulmonary orahaelivery route, which resulted in the developt®# SEMPRANA® |, formerly known as
LEVADEX ©. In 2006, we amended and restated thigagrent. Under the terms of the agreement, we haveght to receive certain
milestone payments based on development critegizatte solely the responsibility of MAP and royedtbased on net sales of SEMPRANA
Our right to receive royalties for the net saleSEMPRANA® under the license agreement in any pagiccountry will expire upon the later
of (i) 10 years after first commercial sale in thatintry, (ii) the date upon which the licensedwrwow becomes known to the general public,
and (iii) expiration of certain patent claims, eacha country-by-country basis. Either party mayniaate the agreement upon a material,
uncured default of the other party.

SEMPRANAP® is a self-administered formulation of DidEng an inhaler device that is currently undefeenby the FDA. On May 26,
2011, MAP submitted an NDA to the FDA for SEMPRANAIn March of 2012, the FDA issued a complete raspdetter to MAP
identifying issues relating to chemistry, manufaicty and controls deficiencies of the product abatracted third party manufacturer. On
April 17, 2013, the FDA issued a second completpaase letter identifying issues related to a sappiat provided the canister filling unit 1
SEMPRANAZ® . In June 2014, Allergan announced thhad received a third complete response letter fraDA related to specifications
around content uniformity on the improved caniittng process and on standards for device actmathllergan has responded to the FDA’s
latest complete response letter and has statedt thgiects a response from the FDA on the NDASEMPRANA® in the second half of 2015.

On January 28, 2011, MAP entered into a Collabonatigreement with Allergan, Inc. pursuant to whidkergan received a cexclusive
license to market and promote SEMPRARA to neuralisgand pain specialists in the U.S. Under thisrggement, Allergan paid MAP an
upfront payment of $60 million and MAP was alsoitted to receive up to an additional $97 milliontie form of regulatory milestones, wh
includes milestones for acceptance of filing of BEBMPRANA® NDA and first commercial sale associatetth the initial acute migraine
indication. On March 1, 2013, Allergan, Inc. comptka merger and acquisition transaction with MAPspant to which MAP become a
wholly-owned subsidiary of Allergan. On January 2315, we filed a breach of contract action agaitistrgan and MAP in California
Superior Court in San Mateo County seeking monetaryages related to MAP’s failure to pay us a aegpecified percentage of $80 million
in upfront and milestone payments received to ffata Allergan under the 2011 Collaboration Agreeteghich we believe we were entitled
to receive under the terms of our license agreemi¢htMAP.

Overview of Select Licensing Partnerships for Appreed Products
Neulasta® , Agreement with Amgen, Inc.

In July 1995, we entered into a nerelusive supply and license agreement (the 1998ekgent) with Amgen, Inc., pursuant to which
licensed our proprietary PEGylation technology ¢aused in the development and manufacture of NewfladNeulast® selectively stimulates
the production of neutrophils that are depletedyiptoxic chemotherapy, a condition called neutrop¢hat makes it more difficult for the
body to fight infections. On October 29, 2010, wieaded and restated the 1995 Agreement by entietm@ supply, dedicated suite and
manufacturing guarantee agreement (the 2010 Agre@raed an amended and restated license agreerithrAmgen Inc. and Amgen
Manufacturing, Limited (together referred to as Aeng Under the terms of the 2010 Agreement, weaguae the manufacture and supply of
our proprietary PEGylation materials (Polymer Matis) to Amgen in an existing manufacturing suitdoe used exclusively for the
manufacture of Polymer Materials for Amgen in owamafacturing facility in Huntsville, Alabama. Thasipply
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arrangement is on a non-exclusive basis (otherttimanse of the manufacturing suite and certaifpagent) whereby we are free to
manufacture and supply the Polymer Materials toathegr third party and Amgen is free to procureRoé/mer Materials from any other third
party. Under the terms of the 2010 Agreement, weived a $50.0 million upfront payment in return doiaranteeing supply of certain
guantities of Polymer Materials to Amgen and theli#idnal Rights described below, and Amgen will pagnufacturing fees calculated based
on fixed and variable components applicable toRblymer Materials ordered by Amgen and deliveredifayAmgen has no minimum purch
commitments. If quantities of the Polymer Materialdered by Amgen exceed specified quantities (edtbh specified quantity representing a
small portion of the quantity that we historicadlypplied to Amgen), significant additional paymemtesome payable to us in return for
guaranteeing supply of additional quantities of Rtmdymer Materials.

The term of the 2010 Agreement runs through Oct@Pef020. In the event we become subject to arbpidy or insolvency proceedit
we cease to own or control the manufacturing figcifi Huntsville, Alabama, we fail to manufacturedasupply the Polymer Materials or
certain other events occur, Amgen or its designtitied party will have the right to elect, amongta@ other options, to take title to the
dedicated equipment and access the manufacturiiigyféo operate the manufacturing suite solelytfte purpose of manufacturing the
Polymer Materials (Additional Rights). Amgen mayniénate the 2010 Agreement for convenience or dwntuncured material default by us.
Either party may terminate the 2010 Agreement énehent of insolvency or bankruptcy of the othatypa

PEGASYS® , Agreement with F. Hoffmann-La Roche Ltd

In February 1997, we entered into a license, manuifilmg and supply agreement with F. Hoffmann-LaRoLtd and Hoffmann-
La Roche Inc. (Roche), under which we granted Ractverldwide, exclusive license to use certainliettual property related to our
PEGylation materials to manufacture and commemgadi certain class of products, of which PEGASY Shésonly product currently
commercialized. PEGASYS is approved in the U.3J,. Bnd other countries for the treatment of Hejgafitand is designed to help the
patient’'s immune system fight the Hepatitis C viris a result of Roche exercising a license extengption in December 2009, beginning in
2010 Roche has the right to manufacture all afdtgiirements for our proprietary PEGylation materiar PEGASYS® and we supply raw
materials or perform additional manufacturing,riffaonly on a back-up basis. In connection with iiRes exercise of the license extension
option in December 2009, we received a paymen8&fGbmillion. The agreement expires on the latdbetember 31, 2015 or the expiratior
our last relevant patent containing a valid cldimAugust 2013, we agreed to deliver additionalrditizs of PEGylation materials used by
Roche to produce PEGASYS and MIRCERA , all of whigre delivered in the last quarter of 2013, féalteonsideration of
approximately $18.6 million.

Somavert® , Agreement with Pfizer, Inc.

In January 2000, we entered into a license, matwiag and supply agreement with Sensus Drug Dgweémt Corporation
(subsequently acquired by Pharmacia Corp. in 20@dlttzen acquired by Pfizer, Inc. in 2003), for BieGylation of Somaveft (pegvisomant),
a human growth hormone receptor antagonist fotrélement of acromegaly. We currently manufactunepwoprietary PEGylation reagent for
Pfizer, Inc. on a price per gram basis. The agre¢eepires on the later of ten years from the godifirst marketing authorization in the
designated territory, which occurred in March 208¥3the expiration of our last relevant patent earing a valid claim. In addition, Pfizer, Inc.
may terminate the agreement if marketing authadmas withdrawn or marketing is no longer feasibllee to certain circumstances, and either
party may terminate for cause if certain conditians met.

PEG-Intron ® , Agreement with Merck (through its acdgition of Schering-Plough Corporation)

In February 2000, we entered into a manufacturimysupply agreement with Schering-Plough Corponatichering) for the
manufacture and supply of our proprietary PEGyratimaterials to be used by Schering in
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production of a PEGylated recombinant human interfalpha (PEG-Intron). PEG-Intron is a treatmentdatients with Hepatitis C. Schering
was acquired by, and became a wholly-owned sulsgidfa Merck & Co., Inc. We currently manufacturergroprietary PEGylation materials
for Schering on a price per gram basis. In Decerib&0, the parties amended the manufacturing gmolysagreement to provide for a
transition plan to an alternative manufacturer exignsion of the term through the successful matwfiamg transition or December 31, 2018 a
the latest. The amended agreement provided foediore payment and milestone payments as well@esased pricing for any future
manufacturing performed by us.

Macugen® , Agreement with Valeant Pharmaceuticalgénnational, Inc.

In 2002, we entered into a license, manufacturmysupply agreement with Eyetech, Inc. (subsequextjuired by Valeant
Pharmaceuticals International, Inc. or Valeantyspant to which we license certain intellectualpenty related to our proprietary PEGylation
technology for the development and commercializatibMacuger? , a PEGylated anti-vascular endothgt@vth factor aptamer currently
approved in the U.S. and E.U. for age-related naaalggeneration. We currently manufacture our petany PEGylation materials for Valeant
on a price per gram basis. Under the terms of gneeament, we will receive royalties on net prodiates in any particular country for the
longer of ten years from the date of the first cantral sale of the product in that country or theation of patent coverage. We share a po
of the payments received under this agreementBviton Pharmaceuticals, Inc. The agreement exppes the expiration of our last relevant
patent containing a valid claim. In addition, Valeaay terminate the agreement if marketing autiadion is withdrawn or marketing is no
longer feasible due to certain circumstances, &hdreparty may terminate for cause if certain dbads are met.

CIMZIA ®, Agreement with UCB Pharma

In December 2000, we entered into a license, matwiag and supply agreement covering our propyefdEGylation materials for use
in CIMZIA ®(certolizumab pegol) with Celltech Chirdience Ltd., which was acquired by UCB Pharma (U®B)004. Under the terms of the
agreement, UCB is responsible for all clinical depenent, regulatory, and commercialization expen#és also manufacture and supply UCB
with our proprietary PEGylation reagent used inrf@ufacture of CIMZIA on a fixed price per grameWere also entitled to receive
royalties on net sales of the CIMZFA product foe flonger of ten years from the first commerciaésalthe product anywhere in the world or
the expiration of patent rights in a particular sy. In February 2012, we sold our rights to reeaioyalties on future worldwide net sales of
CIMZIA ®effective as of January 1, 2012 until theegment with UCB is terminated or expires. Thig sslifurther discussed in Note 7 of
Item 8, Financial Statements and Supplementary. Mdgashare a portion of the payments we receiva B with Enzon Pharmaceuticals,
Inc. The agreement expires upon the expiratiorl afaJCB’s royalty obligations, provided that tlagreement can be extended for successive
two year renewal periods upon mutual agreemeriteparties. In addition, UCB may terminate the agrent should it cease the developmen
and marketing of CIMZIA® and either party may teratim for cause under certain conditions.

MIRCERA @ (C.E.R.A.) (Continuous Erythropoietin Recégr Activator), Agreement with F. Hoffmann-La Rochietd

In December 2000, we entered into a license, matwiag and supply agreement with F. Hoffmann-LalRoLtd and Hoffmann-
La Roche Inc. (Roche), which was amended and esbtatits entirety in December 2005. Pursuant ¢oafpreement, we license our intellectua
property related to our proprietary PEGylation miate for the manufacture and commercializatioRothe’'s MIRCERA® product.
MIRCERA @ is a novel continuous erythropoietin rea@ictivator indicated for the treatment of aneagaociated with chronic kidney disease
in patients on dialysis and patients not on dialy&s of the end of 2006, we were no longer reguioemanufacture and supply our proprietary
PEGylation materials for MIRCERA under our origimgreement. In February 2012, we entered intol-artahufacturing agreement with
Roche under which we manufactured our propriet&$yation material for MIRCERA&R . Roche entered ithie
toll-manufacturing agreement with the objectiveesfablishing us as
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a secondary back-up source on a non-exclusive thasisgh December 31, 2016. Under the terms ofagisement, Roche paid us an up-front
payment of $5.0 million plus a total of $22.0 nailtiin performance-based milestone payments upoachievement of certain manufacturing
readiness, validation and production milestoneduiing the delivery of specified quantities of PE&ion materials, all of which were
successfully completed by the end of January 2Bd8he would also pay us additional consideratiorafty future orders of the PEGylation
materials for MIRCERA? beyond the initial quantities ordered as part efittitial arrangement. In August 2013, we agreedeiover additione
guantities of PEGylation materials used by Rochertmluce PEGASYS8 and MIRCERA all of which were delivered by the fourth quarté
2013, for total consideration of approximately $l#hillion. Roche may terminate the toll-manufaatgragreement due to an uncured materia
default by us or for convenience under certainucitstances and subject to certain financial oblgati We were also entitled to receive
royalties on net sales of the MIRCERA product. &bfiary 2012, we sold all of our future rightseceive royalties on future worldwide net
sales of MIRCERA® effective as of January 1, 201dsBale is further discussed in Note 7 of IterRiBancial Statements and Supplementar
Data.

OMONTYS® (Peginesatide), Agreement with Affymax, Inc

In April 2004, we entered into a license, manufantwand supply agreement with Affymax, Inc. (Affax), under which we granted
Affymax a worldwide, non-exclusive license to cartaf our proprietary PEGylation technology to depe manufacture and commercialize
OMONTYS® . OMONTYS® is a synthetic PEGylated peptidismpound that binds to and stimulates the erythietim receptor and thus acts
as an erythropoietin stimulating agent (ESA). lthis only ESA that is peptide-based and its bugditocks (amino acids) are arranged in a
different order than erythropoietin (i.e., it hassequence homology to endogenous erythropoidtitd.compound was discovered by Affyrr
and is being co-developed and marketed by Affymmak Bakeda Pharmaceutical Company Limited (Takddd}larch 2012, the FDA
approved OMONTY® for the treatment of dialysis pats with anemia due to chronic kidney disease (CKIMONTYS® is the first once-
monthly ESA for anemia in CKD for dialysis patiemtgilable in the U.S.

On February 23, 2013, Affymax and Takeda annouacedluntary recall of all lots of OMONTYS  drug phact to the user level as a
result of new post-marketing reports regardingaseriypersensitivity reactions, including anaphigawhich can be life-threatening or
fatal. The FDA has been notified by Affymax of Eports of anaphylaxis with 3 of those cases rewylti death. The reported serious
hypersensitivity reactions have occurred withim3i@utes after such administration of OMONTYS . Thbave been no reports of such
reactions following subsequent dosing, or in pasi@vho have completed their dialysis session. Saaech of the drug, more than 25,000
patients have received OMONTYS in the post-markgesietting.

Effective as of April 1, 2013, Affymax announcedtlit had amended its collaboration agreement Wétkeda to transfer regulatory,
manufacturing, and development responsibilitieSGMONTYS® to Takeda. In July 2013, Affymax termindthe license, manufacturing and
supply agreement with us.

Government Regulation

The research and development, clinical testing,ufeanture and marketing of products using our teldgies are subject to regulation by
the FDA and by comparable regulatory agenciesherotountries. These national agencies and otderdé state and local entities regulate,
among other things, research and development @esivdnd the testing (in vitro, in animals, andhirman clinical trials), manufacture, labeling,
storage, recordkeeping, approval, marketing, atbnegtand promotion of our products.

The approval process required by the FDA beformduyxt using any of our technologies may be madkatehe U.S. depends on
whether the chemical composition of the productgrasiously been approved for use in other dosaged. If the product is a new chemical
entity that has not been previously approved, toegss includes the following:

» extensive preclinical laboratory and animal test

23



Table of Contents

» submission of an Investigational New Drug applimat{IND) prior to commencing clinical trial
» adequate and w-controlled human clinical trials to establish tlaéesy and efficacy of the drug for the intendeddation;

» extensive pharmaceutical development for the clteniaation of the chemistry, manufacturing procasd controls for the active
ingredient and drug product; a

» submission to the FDA of an NDA for approval ofragl a Biological License Application (BLA) for apgval of a biological product
or a Premarket Approval Application (PMA) or PreketrNotification 510(k) for a medical device protig@ 510(k)).

If the active chemical ingredient has been previoapproved by the FDA, the approval process islaimmexcept that certain preclinical
tests relating to systemic toxicity normally reeuirfor the IND and NDA or BLA may not be necessétiie company has a right of reference
to such data under section 505(j) of the FederallFBrug, and Cosmetic Act (FDCA) or is eligible Bppproval under Section 505(b)(2) of the
FDCA or the biosimilars provisions of the Publicdita Services Act.

Preclinical tests include laboratory evaluatiopradduct chemistry and animal studies to assessatety and efficacy of the product and
its chosen formulation. Preclinical safety teststriae conducted by laboratories that comply wittAFI®od laboratory practices (GLP)
regulations. The results of the preclinical testsdrugs, biological products and combination pasisubject to the primary jurisdiction of the
FDA's Center for Drug Evaluation and Research (CDBRCenter for Biologics Evaluation and Resea@BER) are submitted to the FDA as
part of the IND and are reviewed by the FDA befdmeical trials can begin. Clinical trials may bad@0 days after receipt of the IND by the
FDA, unless the FDA raises objections or requitasfication within that period. Clinical trials Wolve the administration of the drug to hea
volunteers or patients under the supervision afalified, identified medical investigator accorditoga protocol submitted in the IND for FDA
review. Drug products to be used in clinical trialast be manufactured according to current goodufa&turing practices (cGMP). Clinical
trials are conducted in accordance with protoduds tletail the objectives of the study and the mpatars to be used to monitor participant
safety and product efficacy as well as other gatty be evaluated in the study. Each protocoliisrstted to the FDA in the IND.

Apart from the IND process described above, eaidical study must be reviewed by an independertitini®onal Review Board (IRB)
and the IRB must be kept current with respect ¢ostlatus of the clinical study. The IRB considarspng other things, ethical factors, the
potential risks to subjects participating in thaltand the possible liability to the institutiorhere the trial is conducted. The IRB also reviews
and approves the informed consent form to be sidpyettie trial participants and any significant cpes in the clinical study.

Clinical trials are typically conducted in thregysential phases. Phase 1 involves the initial thiotion of the drug into healthy human
subjects (in most cases) and the product gendsatifsted for tolerability, pharmacokinetics, alpsion, metabolism and excretion. Phase 2
involves studies in a limited patient population to

» determine the preliminary efficacy of the produmt $pecific targeted indication

» determine dosage and regimen of administration;

« identify possible adverse effects and safety ri

If Phase 2 trials demonstrate that a product agpedre effective and to have an acceptable spfefile, Phase 3 trials are undertaken tc
evaluate the further clinical efficacy and safetyhe drug and formulation within an expanded pdtjgpulation at geographically dispersed
clinical study sites and in large enough trialpttovide statistical proof of efficacy and tolerdtyil The FDA, the clinical trial sponsor, the
investigators or the IRB may suspend clinical érigtl any time if any one of them believes thatyspatticipants are being subjected to an

unacceptable health risk. In some cases, the FRA@drug sponsor may determine that Phase 2 &iialnot needed prior to entering Pha
trials.
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Following a series of formal meetings and commuigca between the drug sponsor and the regulaepdes, the results of product
development, preclinical studies and clinical stgdire submitted to the FDA as an NDA or BLA foprawal of the marketing and commerc
shipment of the drug product. The FDA may deny apgiif applicable regulatory criteria are not sé#id or may require additional clinical or
pharmaceutical testing or requirements. Even ihglata are submitted, the FDA may ultimately detlidd the NDA or BLA does not satisfy
all of the criteria for approval. Additionally, tregproved labeling may narrowly limit the conditsoof use of the product, including the
intended uses, or impose warnings, precautionsmraindications which could significantly limitétpotential market for the product. Further,
as a condition of approval, the FDA may impose {moatket surveillance, or Phase 4, studies or nighuation and mitigation strategies.
Product approvals, once obtained, may be withdridaompliance with regulatory standards is not rteimed or if safety concerns arise after
the product reaches the market. The FDA may requiditional post-marketing clinical testing and phacovigilance programs to monitor the
effect of drug products that have been commeredlend has the power to prevent or limit futurekating of the product based on the results
of such programs. After approval, there are ongoapgrting obligations concerning adverse reactassociated with the product, including
expedited reports for serious and unexpected aewents.

Each manufacturing establishment producing theragiharmaceutical ingredient and finished drug pebdor the U.S. market must be
registered with the FDA and typically is inspectgdthe FDA prior to NDA or BLA approval of a drugquuct manufactured by such
establishment. Such inspections are also helddiesly after the commercialization. Establishmemasdling controlled substances must also
be licensed by the U.S. Drug Enforcement Adminigira Manufacturing establishments of U.S. markgtamtiucts are subject to inspections
by the FDA for compliance with cGMP and other U&julatory requirements. They are also subject.& tbderal, state, and local regulati
regarding workplace safety, environmental protectiad hazardous and controlled substance conamisng others.

For product candidates currently under developragiizing pulmonary technology, the pulmonary indratlevices are considered to be
part of a drug and device combination for deep ldelivery of each specific molecule. The FDA wilake a determination as to the most
appropriate center and division within the agemat tvill assume primary responsibility for the @wiof the applicable applications, which
would consist of an IND and an NDA or BLA where CREr CBER are determined to have primary jurisditidr an investigational device
exemption application and PMA or 510(k) where tlemter for Devices and Radiological Health (CDRHJésermined to have primary
jurisdiction. In the case of our product candida@SER in consultation with CDRH could be involviedthe review. The assessmen
jurisdiction within the FDA is based upon the primanode of action of the drug or the location df #pecific expertise in one of the cent

Where CDRH is determined to have primary jurisdictover a product, 510(k) clearance or PMA apprivetquired. Medical devices
are classified into one of three classes — ClaS&aks Il, or Class Il — depending on the degriedsts associated with each medical device
and the extent of control needed to ensure safetyeffectiveness. Devices deemed to pose lowes &sk placed in either Class | or I, which
requires the manufacturer to submit to the FDAentrrket Notification requesting permission to comuiadly distribute the device. This
process is known as 510(k) clearance. Some lowdasices are exempted from this requirement. Dewilee=med by the FDA to pose the
greatest risk, such as life-sustaining, life-sugpgror implantable devices, or devices deemedsubstantially equivalent to a previously
cleared 510(k) device are placed in Class Ill, néiog PMA approval.

To date, our partners have generally been resperfsibclinical and regulatory approval procedutas, we may participate in this
process by submitting to the FDA a drug masterdéeeloped and maintained by us which contains etataerning the manufacturing
processes for the inhaler device, PEGylation maltedr drug. For our proprietary products, we preand submit an IND and are responsible
for additional clinical and regulatory proceduresfroduct candidates being developed under an Tii@.clinical and manufacturing,
development and regulatory review and approvalgssgenerally takes a number of years and recghieesxpenditure of substantial resour
Our ability to manufacture and market products, thbedeveloped by us or under collaboration agre¢sneltimately depends upon the
completion of satisfactory clinical trials and sess in obtaining marketing approvals from the FD#& aquivalent foreign health authorities.
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Sales of our products outside the U.S. are sutjdotal regulatory requirements governing clinicals and marketing approval for
drugs. Such requirements vary widely from coundrgauntry.

In the U.S., under the Orphan Drug Act, the FDA rgegnt orphan drug designation to drugs intenddcett a rare disease or condition,
which is generally a disease or condition thatafféewer than 200,000 individuals in the U.S. €hempany that obtains the first FDA apprc
for a designated orphan drug for a rare diseasgvwex marketing exclusivity for use of that drugttee designated condition for a period of
seven years. In addition, the Orphan Drug Act pesifor protocol assistance, tax credits, resegnahis, and exclusions from user fees for
sponsors of orphan products. Once a product reseiyghan drug exclusivity, a second product thabissidered to be the same drug for the
same indication may be approved during the exdlysperiod only if the second product is shown &"blinically superior” to the original
orphan drug in that it is more effective, safeptirerwise makes a “major contribution to patienetar the holder of exclusive approval
cannot assure the availability of sufficient quikesi of the orphan drug to meet the needs of patisith the disease or condition for which the
drug was designated. Similar incentives also aaélahle for orphan drugs in the E.U.

In the U.S., the FDA may grant Fast Track or Breakigh designation to a product candidate, whitdwal the FDA to expedite the
review of new drugs that are intended for seriauf@threatening conditions and that demonstthéepotential to address unmet medical
needs. Important features of Fast Track or Brealdgjin designation include a potentially reducedicdihnprogram and close, early
communication between the FDA and the sponsor cagnfmimprove the efficiency of product development

Patents and Proprietary Rights

We own more than 215 U.S. and 750 foreign patemsaanumber of pending patent applications thaércwarious aspects of our
technologies. We have filed patent applications, glan to file additional patent applications, canweg various aspects of our PEGylation and
advanced polymer conjugate technologies and oyrgtary product candidates. More specifically, patents and patent applications cover
polymer architecture, drug conjugates, formulatjonsthods of making polymers and polymer conjugatethods of administering polymer
conjugates, and methods of manufacturing polymedspalymer conjugates. Our patent portfolio corggatents and patent applications that
encompass our PEGylation and advanced polymer gatguechnology platforms, some of which we acglineour acquisition of Shearwater
Corporation in June 2001. Our patent strategy fédegatent applications on innovations and imgnoents to cover a significant majority of
the major pharmaceutical markets in the world. @a&hg patents have a term of twenty years fromehsiest priority date (assuming all
maintenance fees are paid). In some instances)tgatens can be increased or decreased, dependitige daws and regulations of the country
or jurisdiction that issued the patent.

In January 2002, we entered into a Cross-Licendeoption Agreement with Enzon Pharmaceuticals, (Bozon), pursuant to which we
and Enzon provided certain licenses to selectetiopsrof each party’s PEGylation patent portfoliocertain cases, we have the option to
license certain of Enzon’s PEGylation patents & im our proprietary products or for sublicensethird parties in each case in exchange for
payments to Enzon based on manufacturing proéit&enue share or royalties on net sales if a desidmaoduct candidate is approved in one
or more markets.

On December 31, 2008, we completed the sale adioesissets related to our pulmonary business, iassd¢echnology and intellectual
property to Novartis Pharma AG and Novartis Phaenticals Corporation (together referred to as Nisjgior a purchase price of $115.0
million in cash (Novartis Pulmonary Asset Sale)ctmnection with the Novartis Pulmonary Asset Sateof December 31, 2008, we entered
into an exclusive license agreement with Novartiarfha AG. Pursuant to the exclusive license agregivartis Pharma AG grants back to
us an exclusive, irrevocable, perpetual, royaleefand worldwide license under certain specifiematights and other related intellectual
property rights acquired by Novartis from us in Navartis Pulmonary Asset Sale, as well as ceitaprovements or modifications thereto 1
are made by
Novartis. Certain of such patent rights and otkéated intellectual property rights relate to cavelopmen
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program for inhaled vancomycin or are necessaruysao satisfy certain continuing contractual ofligns to third parties, including in
connection with development, manufacture, sale,camimercialization activities related to BAY41-65%4rtnered with Bayer Healthcare
LLC.

We also rely on trade secret protection for ouifidemtial and proprietary information. No assuranee be given that we can
meaningfully protect our trade secrets. Others mdgpendently develop substantially equivalent imftial and proprietary information or
otherwise gain access to, or disclose, our tradete Please refer to Iltem 1A, Risk Factors, idiclg but not limited to “We rely on trade
secret protection and other unpatented proprietghys for important proprietary technologies, amy loss of such rights could harm our
business, results of operations and financial ¢ In certain situations in which we work witltugs covered by one or more patents, our
ability to develop and commercialize our technadsginay be affected by limitations in our acceshése proprietary drugs. Even if we beli
we are free to work with a proprietary drug, wertatrguarantee that we will not be accused of, terd@ned to be, infringing a third party’s
rights and be prohibited from working with the drugfound liable for damages. Any such restrictionaccess or liability for damages would
have a material adverse effect on our businessitses operations and financial condition.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldyy companies, such as ours, are uncertain atodvimn complex legal and factual
issues. There can be no assurance that patentsatl@tssued will be held valid and enforceabla aourt of law. Even for patents that are helc
valid and enforceable, the legal process assocwatbcobtaining such a judgment is time consuming eostly. Additionally, issued patents
be subject to opposition or other proceedingsdhatresult in the revocation of the patent or neaiahce of the patent in amended form (and
potentially in a form that renders the patent withcommercially relevant or broad coverage). Further competitors may be able to
circumvent and otherwise design around our pat&wsn if a patent is issued and enforceable, becderselopment and commercialization of
pharmaceutical products can be subject to subatatgiays, patents may expire early and providg ardhort period of protection, if any,
following the commercialization of products encorsged by our patent. We may have to participatetarfierence proceedings declared by th
U.S. Patent and Trademark Office, which could rteisuh loss of the patent and/or substantial ansist Please refer to Item 1A, Risk Factors,
including without limitation, “If any of our pendinpatent applications do not issue, or are deematid following issuance, we may lose
valuable intellectual property protection.”

U.S. and foreign patent rights and other propnetayhts exist that are owned by third parties egldte to pharmaceutical compositions
and reagents, medical devices and equipment arttbaeefor preparation, packaging and delivery ofrpteeceutical compositions. We cannot
predict with any certainty which, if any, of thesghts will be considered relevant to our technglbg authorities in the various jurisdictions
where such rights exist, nor can we predict wittiadety which, if any, of these rights will or még asserted against us by third parties. We
could incur substantial costs in defending oursebs@d our partners against any such claims. Funtbrey, parties making such claims may be
able to obtain injunctive or other equitable relighich could effectively block our ability to ddee or commercialize some or all of our
products in the U.S. and abroad and could resuttéraward of substantial damages. In the eveatatdim of infringement, we or our partners
may be required to obtain one or more licenses tiord parties. There can be no assurance thatweltain a license to any technology that
we determine we need on reasonable terms, if atralhat we could develop or otherwise obtainralitive technology. The failure to obtain
licenses if needed may have a material adverseteaffeour business, results of operations and fiahoondition. Please refer to Item 1A, Risk
Factors, including without limitation, “We may nlo¢ able to obtain intellectual property licensdates to the development of our drug
candidates on a commercially reasonable basitaif.&

It is our policy to require our employees and cdtasits, outside scientific collaborators, sponsaesarchers and other advisors who
receive confidential information from us to execotafidentiality agreements upon the commencemiatployment or consulting
relationships with us. These agreements provideathaonfidential information developed or madetm to the individual during the course
of the individual’s relationship with us is to begkt confidential and not disclosed to third paréesept in specific
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circumstances. The agreements provide that alhiimes conceived by an employee shall be our ptgp&here can be no assurance, howeve
that these agreements will provide meaningful ptide or adequate remedies for our trade secrdtwievent of unauthorized use or
disclosure of such information.

Customer Concentrations

Our revenue is derived from our collaboration agreets with partners, under which we may receivdraghresearch payments,
milestone payments based on clinical progressJa&my progress or net sales achievements, rogadtiproduct sales revenue. AstraZeneca,
UCB and Roche represented 52%, 16%, and 11% akeenue, respectively, for the year ended Dece@ibe2014. No other collaboration
partner accounted for more than 10% of our totameie during the year ended December 31, 2014.

Backlog

Pursuant to our collaboration agreements, we matwriaand supply our proprietary PEGylation matsrimventory is produced and
sales are made pursuant to customer purchase dodelivery. The volume of our proprietary PEGQida materials actually ordered by our
customers, as well as shipment schedules, arecsibjrequent revisions that reflect changes ithltbe customers’ needs and our
manufacturing capacity. In our partnered prograrher® we provide contract research services, therséces are typically provided under a
work plan that is subject to frequent revisiong ttfeange based on the development needs and sfahesprogram. The backlog at a particulal
time is affected by a number of factors, includaefpeduled date of manufacture and delivery andlderent program status. In light of
industry practice and our own experience, we ddoetieve that backlog as of any particular daiedécative of future results.

Competition

Competition in the pharmaceutical and biotechnolioglystry is intense and characterized by aggressisearch and development and
rapidly-evolving science, technology, and standafdsedical care throughout the world. We frequentimpete with pharmaceutical
companies and other institutions with greater faialn research and development, marketing and,sal@sufacturing and managerial
capabilities. We face competition from these congmnot just in product development but also iraarguch as recruiting employees,
acquiring technologies that might enhance ourtgtiti commercialize products, establishing relathips with certain research and academic
institutions, enrolling patients in clinical trigd®d seeking program partnerships and collabomatigth larger pharmaceutical companies.

Science and Technology Competition

We believe that our proprietary and partnered pectslwill compete with others in the market on tlsib of one or more of the following
parameters: efficacy, safety, ease of use and\estace intense science and technology compefitgom a multitude of technologies seeking
to enhance the efficacy, safety and ease of uapmbved drugs and new drug molecule candidatesimber of the drug candidates in our
pipeline have direct and indirect competition frarge pharmaceutical companies and biopharmacéuatioapanies. With our PEGylation and
advanced polymer conjugate technologies, we believbave competitive advantages relating to factoch as efficacy, safety, ease of use
and cost for certain applications and molecules.cdfestantly monitor scientific and medical devel@mts in order to improve our current
technologies, seek licensing opportunities whepr@miate, and determine the best applicationsfimrtechnology platforms.

In the fields of PEGylation and advanced polymaerjegate technologies, our competitors include Biolgkec Inc., Savient
Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Dr. Reddy’s Laboratoried, LEnzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc., Mountain View Rfaeuticals, Inc., SunBio Corporation,
NOF Corporation, and Novo Nordisk A/S (assets fatyieeld by Neose Technologies, Inc.). Several othemical, biotechnology ar
pharmaceutical companies may also be developingyREEGN technology, advanced polymer conjugatenietdigy or technologies intended to
deliver similar scientific and medical benefitsn$®mof these companies license intellectual propmr®EGylation materials to other
companies, while others apply the technology tateréheir own drug candidates.
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Product and Program Specific Competition
MOVANTIK ™ (previously referred to as naloxegol anddN'R-118) (orally-available peripheral opioid antagist)

There are no other once-daily oral drugs that petisically to block or reverse the action of opi®ion receptors in the gastrointestinal
tract which are approved specifically for the tneant of opioid-induced constipation (OIC) or opibtiowel dysfunction (OBD) in patients with
chronic, non-cancer pain. The only approved ogsttnent or opioid-induced constipation in adultdwhronic, non-cancer pain is a twice
daily oral therapy called AMITIZA (lubiprostone),hich acts by specifically activating CIC-2 chlorideannels in the gastrointestinal tract to
increase secretions. AMITIZA is marketed by SucafRparmaceuticals and Takeda. There is also a sreEnis treatment known as
RELISTOR® Subjectaneous Injection (methylnaltrexbramide) marketed by Salix Pharmaceuticals, Ltdenrzdlicense from Progenics
Pharmaceuticals, Inc. In 2014, RELIST®R Subjectasdnjection was approved by the FDA for adult gatis with chronic non-cancer pain.
Other therapies used to treat OIC and OBD includg-the-counter laxatives and stool softeners, ssctiocusate sodium, senna, and milk of
magnesia. These therapies do not address the yingerhuse of constipation as a result of opioiel arsd are generally viewed as ineffectivi
only partially effective to treat the symptoms dfdCand OBD.

There are a number of companies developing potgrbaucts which are in various stages of clinb@avelopment and are being
evaluated for the treatment of OIC and OBD in défe patient populations. Potential competitor$uide Cubist Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
GlaxoSmithKline plc, Ironwood Pharmaceuticals, limccollaboration with Actavis plc, Mundipharma.lhimited, Theravance, Inc., Develco
Pharma, Sucampo Pharmaceuticals, Inc., and TakemtanBceutical Company Limited.

Etirinotecan pegol (NKTR-102, next-generation, loragting topoisomerase | inhibitor)

There are a number of chemotherapies and canaapthe approved today and in various stages otalitlevelopment for breast and
ovarian cancers including but not limited to: Albmar® (paclitaxel protein-bound particles for injgiéesuspension (albumin bound)), Afinitor
® (everolimus), DoxiP (doxorubicin HCI), Ellen¢e (epbicin), GemzaP (gemcitabine), Halaven (eribulidgrceptin® (trastuzumab),
Hycamtin® (topotecan), Ibranée (palbociclib), Ixemprixabepilone), Navelbine (vinolrebine), Parapl&t{carboplatin), Taxc?
(paclitaxel), Xelod&® (capecitabine) and Taxoterdocetaxel). These therapies are only partiallyotiffe in treating breast and ovarian can
Major pharmaceutical or biotechnology companiesajpproved drugs or drugs in development for tloaseers include Bristol-Meyers
Squibb Company, Eisai, Inc., Roche Holding Gromgl(iding its Genentech subsidiary), GlaxoSmithKiae Pfizer, Inc., Eli Lilly & Co.,
Johnson & Johnson, Sanofi Aventis S.A., and mahgrst

There are also a number of chemotherapies and crerapies approved today and in clinical develepifior the treatment of colorec
cancer. Approved therapies for the treatment afreatal cancer include Eloxatin (oxaliplatin), Caogar® (irinotecan), Avastif
(bevacizumab), Zaltrap (Ziv-afilbercept), Stivafy@egorafenib), Erbitu® (cetuximab), Vectibix (pamtumab), Xelod& (capecitabine),
Adrucil @ (fluorouracil), and Wellcovorif®  (leucovoiinThese therapies are only partially effectivéré@ating the disease. There are a number
of drugs in various stages of preclinical and chihidevelopment from companies exploring cancemthies or improved chemotherapeutic
agents to potentially treat colorectal cancerhéise drugs are approved, they could be competitiveetirinotecan pegol if it is approved by
government health authorities. These include prtsdimcdevelopment from Bristol-Myers Squibb CompaRfjzer, Inc., GlaxoSmithKline plc,
Antigenics, Inc., F. Hoffman-La Roche Ltd, Novaii&, Cell Therapeutics, Inc., Neopharm Inc., Meclit&kesearch Ltd, Alchemia Limited,
Enzon Pharmaceuticals Inc. and many others.

BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale, formerly NKTR-061)

There are currently no approved drugs on the méoketdjunctive treatment or prevention of gram-atag pneumonias in mechanically
ventilated patients which are also administeredhgapulmonary route.
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The current standard of care includes approvedvetrous antibiotics which are partially effectiee the treatment of either hospital-acquired
pneumonia or ventilator-associated pneumonia ireptt on mechanical ventilators. These drugs irelirdigs that fall into the categories of
antipseudomonal cephalosporins, antipseudomonia¢épanems, beta-lactam/bdaatamase inhibitors, antipseudomonal fluoroquinek suc
as ciprofloxacin or levofloxacin, and aminoglycasdsuch as amikacin, gentamycin or tobramycin.

BAX 855 (PEGylated rFVIIl)

On June 6, 2014, the FDA approved Biogen Idec ' ® ELATE™ [Antihemophilic Factor (Recombinant), Fcskan Protein] for the
control and prevention of bleeding episodes, periafive (surgical) management and routine propliyliaxadults and children with hemoph
A. ELOCTATE™ is intended to be an extended haH-Kactor VIII therapy with prolonged circulationtime body with the potential to extend
the interval between prophylactic infusions. Ptits 2014 approval, the fusion protein in ELOCTRAT was not used outside of the clinical
trial setting for hemophilia A patients. There atker long-acting Factor VIl programs in late-satevelopment for hemophilia A patients.
Bayer Healthcare and Novo Nordisk have ongoing ®@Badinical development programs for longer actiagtor VIl proteins based on
pegylation technology approaches. These progrdrdsyeloped successfully and approved by healthaaities, would be competitors in the
longer acting Factor VIII market.

NKTR-181(mu-opioid analgesic molecule for chroniain)

There are numerous companies developing pain tiesrdpsigned to have less abuse potential primiguigugh formulation technologi
and techniques applied to existing pain therapiesential competitors include Acura Pharmaceutjdats, Cara Therapeutics, Inc., Collegium
Pharmaceutical, Inc., Egalet Ltd, Elite Pharmacailsi Inc., Endo Health Solutions Inc., KemPhamg,,IPfizer, Inc., Purdue Pharma L.P., ant
Teva Pharmaceutical Industries Ltd.

Research and Development
Our total research and development expenditurebeatisaggregated into the following significamdyg of expenses (in millions):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Third party and direct materials costs $ 57.¢ $105.¢ $ 65.€
Personnel, overhead and other c 75.€ 69.C 68.¢
Stoclk-based compensation and deprecia 14.2 15.4 14.Z
Research and development expe $147.5 $190.( $148.%

Manufacturing and Supply

We have a manufacturing facility located in HuniteyiAlabama that is capable of manufacturing PE@ad derivatives and starting
materials for active pharmaceutical ingredientsI&\PThe facility is also used to produce APIs &inghed drug products to support the early
phases of clinical development of our proprietamypdcandidates. The facility and associated equipraee designed and operated to be
consistent with all applicable laws and regulations

As we do not maintain the capability to manufacfimshed drug products for all development produate primarily utilize contract
manufacturers to manufacture the finished drugymcbtbr us. We source drug starting materials farmanufacturing activities from one or
more suppliers. For the drug starting materialeasary for our proprietary drug candidate develoginvee have agreements for the supply of
such drug
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components with drug manufacturers or suppliersvileabelieve have sufficient capacity to meet cemends. However, from time to time, we
source critical raw materials and services from @na limited number of suppliers and there issk that if such supply or services were
interrupted, it would materially harm our busindssaddition, we typically order raw materials as&tvices on a purchase order basis and do
not enter into long-term dedicated capacity or munin supply arrangements. We also utilize the sesviif contract manufacturers to
manufacture APIs required for later phases of clihdlevelopment and eventual commercializatiorufounder all applicable laws and
regulations.

Environment

As a manufacturer of PEG reagents for the U.S. atavke are subject to inspections by the FDA fanpliance with cGMP and other
U.S. regulatory requirements, including U.S. feflestate and local regulations regarding environtaegorotection and hazardous and
controlled substance controls, among others. Enmental laws and regulations are complex, charegpiéntly and have tended to become
more stringent over time. We have incurred, and omginue to incur, significant expenditures towrsve are in compliance with these laws
and regulations. We would be subject to signifiqgaemialties for failure to comply with these lawsl aagulations.

Employees and Consultants

As of December 31, 2014, we had 438 employeeshafhw321 employees were engaged in research aredoggnent, commercial
operations and quality activities and 117 employee® engaged in general administration and busidegelopment. Of the 438 employees,
357 were located in the U.S. and 81 were locatdddia. We have a number of employees who hold mcke degrees, such as Ph.D.s. Nor
our employees are covered by a collective barggiagreement, and we have experienced no work sgegpsVe believe that we maintain
good relations with our employees.

To complement our own expert professional staffutileze specialists in regulatory affairs, pharmeigilance, process engineering,
manufacturing, quality assurance, clinical develeptrand business development. These individualsdecscientific advisors as well as
independent consultants.

Available Information

Our website address fdtp://www.nektar.com The information in, or that can be accessed gipour website is not part of this annual
report on Form 10-K. Our annual reports on FornKl@uarterly reports on Form 10-Q and current reppon Form 8-K and amendments to
those reports are available, free of charge, dhrough our website as soon as reasonably pratdiedter we electronically file such material
with, or furnish it to, the Securities Exchange @aission (SEC). The public may read and copy anyerias we file with the SEC at the
SEC's Public Reference Room at 100 F Street, NE, Wgthin D.C. 20549. Information on the operationhaf Public Reference Room can
obtained by calling 1-800-SEC-0330. The SEC maistain Internet site that contains reports, proxy/iaformation statements and other
information regarding our filings atww.sec.gov
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EXECUTIVE OFFICERS OF THE REGISTRANT

The following table sets forth the names, agespasitions of our executive officers as of Februby 2015:

Name Age Position

Howard W. Robir 62  Director, President and Chief Executive Offi

John Nicholsor 63  Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Offi

Ivan P. Gergel, M.D 54  Senior Vice President, Drug Development and Chietlidal Officer

Stephen K. Doberstein, Ph. 56  Senior Vice President and Chief Scientific Offi

Gil M. Labrucherie, J.D 43  Senior Vice President, General Counsel and Segr

Maninder Hora, Ph.I 61  Senior Vice President, Pharmaceutical Developmedt\anufacturing Operatior
Jillian B. Thomset 49  Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief Accountfiicer

Howard W. Robirhas served as our President and Chief Executivieddfince January 2007 and has served as a mefber board of
directors since February 2007. Mr. Robin serve@lasief Executive Officer, President and a directoBiona Therapeutics, Inc., a biotechnol
company, from July 2001 to November 2006 and franmudry 2001 to June 2001, served as their Chiefalipg Officer, President and as a
director. From 1991 to 2001, Mr. Robin was CorpenNice President and General Manager at Berlex ladbies, Inc. (Berlex), a
pharmaceutical products company that is a subgid&chering, AG, and from 1987 to 1991 he sea&¥ice President of Finance and
Business Development and Chief Financial OfficeBeflex. From 1984 to 1987, Mr. Robin was DireaibBusiness Planning and
Development at Berlex. He was a Senior Associatie mithur Andersen & Co. prior to joining Berlex.rMRobin serves as a director of the
Biotechnology Industry Organization, the world’sgast biotechnology industry trade organizatiom also serves as a director of BayBio, a
non-profit trade association serving the Northeatifrnia life sciences community. He received BiS. in Accounting and Finance from
Fairleigh Dickinson University in 1974.

John Nicholsorhas served as our Senior Vice President and ChiahEial Officer since December 2007. Mr. Nicholgoined the
Company as Senior Vice President of Corporate [@veént and Business Operations in October 200%asdcappointed Senior Vice
President and Chief Financial Officer in Decemi@d 722 Before joining Nektar, Mr. Nicholson spentyars in various executive roles at
Schering Berlin, Inc., the U.S. management holdiogpany of Bayer Schering Pharma AG, a pharma@dionpany. From 1997 to
September 2007, Mr. Nicholson served as ScherimtnBac.’s Vice President of Corporate Developmant Treasurer. From 2001 to
September 2007, he concurrently served as Presifi&uhering Berlin Insurance Co., and from Feby2f07 through September 2007, he
also concurrently served as President of BayerrRa&hemicals and Schering Berlin Capital Corp. Nicholson holds a B.B.A. from the
University of Toledo.

Ivan P. Gergel, M.Dhas served as our Senior Vice President, Drug Dpugnt and Chief Medical Officer since May 2014rRrApril
2008 through March 2014, Dr. Gergel served as Bkexlice President, Research & Development ané&fCh¢ientific Officer of Endo
Pharmaceuticals, a pharmaceutical company. Priginmg Endo Pharmaceuticals, he was Senior ViesiBent of Scientific Affairs and
President of the Forest Research Institute of Fduadsoratories Inc. Prior to that, Dr. Gergel seras Vice President and Chief Medical Offi
at Forest and Executive Vice President of the EdResearch Institute. He joined Forest in 1998 Htive Director of Clinical Research
following nine years at SmithKline Beecham, and wased Vice President of Clinical Development afidi€al Affairs in 1999. Dr. Gergel
a member of the Board of Directors of Corium In&ional, Inc., a commercial-stage biopharmaceutioaipany. He also serves as a membel
of the Board of Directors of Pennsylvania BIO ahd PhRMA Foundation and has served as a MembdiR®#A's Scientific and Regulatory
Executive Committee. Dr. Gergel received his MiDnf the Royal Free Medical School of the University.ondon and an MBA from the
Wharton School.

Stephen K. Doberstein, Ph.bas served as our Senior Vice President and Chiehf#fic Officer since January 2010. From Octope08
through December 2009, Dr. Doberstein served as Nresident, Research at
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Xoma (US) LLC, a publicly traded clinical stage tegichnology company. From July 2004 until August®0te served as Vice President,
Research at privately held Five Prime Therapeulttics, a clinical stage biotechnology company. Fi®eptember 2001 until July 2004,

Dr. Doberstein was Vice President, Research aaaiy held Xencor, Inc., a clinical stage biotedbgy company. From 1997 to 2000, he helc
various pharmaceutical research positions at Eselixc. (Exelixis), a publicly traded clinical giabiotechnology company. Prior to workini
Exelixis, Dr. Doberstein was a Howard Hughes Padtital Fellow and a Muscular Dystrophy Associat®enior Postdoctoral Fellow at the
University of California, Berkeley. Dr. Doberstaieceived his Ph.D. Biochemistry, Cell and MoleciB&rlogy from the Johns Hopkins
University School of Medicine and received a BrSChemical Engineering from the University of Deta.

Gil M. Labrucheriehas served as our Senior Vice President, Generaiseband Secretary since April 2007, responsiniall aspects ¢
our legal affairs. Mr. Labrucherie served as oweyPresident, Corporate Legal from October 200&uiin April 2007. From October 2000 to
September 2005, Mr. Labrucherie was Vice Preside@orporate Development at E2open. While at E2pptnLabrucherie was responsible
for global corporate alliances and merger and aitipuis. Prior to E2open, he was the Senior DireotdCorporate Development at AltaVista
Company, an Internet search company, where heagpensible for strategic partnerships and mergetsaquisitions. Mr. Labrucherie sen
on the General Counsel Committee of the Biotechmoladustry Organization, the world’s largest bajtaology industry trade organization.
Mr. Labrucherie began his career as an associdkeioorporate practice of the law firm of WilsoonSini Goodrich & Rosati, P.C.

Mr. Labrucherie received his J.D. from the Berkdley School and a B.A. from the University of Caiifia Davis.

Maninder Hora, Ph.Dhas served as our Senior Vice President, PharmeakDevelopment and Manufacturing Operations sikiagust
2010. From December 2008 to July 2010, he was Riesident, Product and Quality Operations at Faimgéch Corporation, a clinical stage
biotechnology company, which was acquired by Abbatioratories in April 2010. From July 2006 to Dexteer 2008, Dr. Hora served in
various management capacities at PDL Biopharma, dngiopharmaceutical company, most recently ag Yresident, Product Operations.
From 1986 to 2006, Dr. Hora held positions of imsiag responsibility with Chiron Corporation (Chirand now Novartis), a pharmaceutical
company, serving most recently at Chiron as Viasléient of Process and Product Development. Dralderved as a key member of various
teams that successfully registered eight drugsocines in the U.S. and Europe during his 20-y&raure at Chiron. Dr. Hora has also held
positions at Wyeth Pharmaceuticals and GlaxoSmittekplc prior to joining Chiron. Dr. Hora completais Ph.D. in Bioengineering from the
Indian Institute of Technology, Delhi, India, andsva Fulbright Scholar at the University of Waskang and received his B.S. in chemistry
from the University of Jabalpur.

Jillian B. Thomsefas served as our Senior Vice President, Finant€haref Accounting Officer since February 2010.rRriMlarch 200¢
through March 2008, Ms. Thomsen served as our Fiesident Finance and Corporate Controller and #nil 2008 through January 2010
she served as our Vice President Finance and 8hezfunting Officer. Before joining Nektar, Ms. Theen was Vice President Finance and
Deputy Corporate Controller of Calpine Corporaticom September 2002 to February 2006. Ms. Thonmsercertified public accountant and
previously was a senior manager at Arthur Andetdd? where she worked from 1990 to 2002, and sfieethin audits of multinational
consumer products, life sciences, manufacturingesnellgy companies. Ms. Thomsen holds a Mastercobdéntancy from the University of
Denver and a B.A. in Business Economics from Calor@ollege.

ltem 1A. Risk Factors

We are providing the following cautionary discussaf risk factors, uncertainties and assumptioas\we believe are relevant to our
business. These are factors that, individuallynahe aggregate, we think could cause our actsalteeto differ materially from expected and
historical results and our forward-looking statetseMVe note these factors for investors as perdhiijeSection 21E of the Exchange Act and
Section 27A of the Securities Act. You should ustind that it is not possible to predict or idenéifi such factors. Consequently,
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you should not consider this section to be a cotaplescussion of all potential risks or uncertaistihat may substantially impact our busin
Moreover, we operate in a competitive and rapidignging environment. New factors emerge from timénbe and it is not possible to predict
the impact of all of these factors on our businésancial condition or results of operations.

Risks Related to Our Business
Drug development is a long and inherently uncertgimocess with a high risk of failure at every stagédevelopment.

We have a number of proprietary drug candidatespanthered drug candidates in research and developranging from the early
discovery research phase through preclinical tgstivd clinical trials. Preclinical testing and @l studies are long, expensive and highly
uncertain processes. It will take us, or our callalive partners, several years to complete clisitalies. The start or end of a clinical study is
often delayed or halted due to changing regulatequirements, manufacturing challenges, requirieical trial administrative actions, slower
than anticipated patient enroliment, changing stasglof care, availability or prevalence of us@ eabmparator drug or required prior therapy,
clinical outcomes, or our and our partners’ finahcnstraints.

Drug development is a highly uncertain scientificlanedical endeavor, and failure can unexpectettiyroat any stage of preclinical and
clinical development. Typically, there is a higheraf attrition for drug candidates in preclinieald clinical trials due to scientific feasibility,
safety, efficacy, changing standards of medicad eard other variables. The risk of failure incred®e our drug candidates that are based on
new technologies, such as the application of ouaaded polymer conjugate technology to etirinotguagol, NKTR-181, NKTR-171, NKTR-
214 and other drug candidates currently in disgpwesearch or preclinical development. For examplele we recently started a Phase 3
clinical program for NKTR-181 which we believe emys the most appropriate clinical trial design,were unable to identify a single cause
for the Phase 2 study for NKTR-181 not meetingitmary efficacy endpoint, and therefore therenigéased risk in effectively designing a
Phase 3 clinical program for NKTR-181. The failofeone or more of our drug candidates could haneterial adverse effect on our business
financial condition and results of operations.

Even with success in previously completed clinit@ls, the risk of clinical failure for any drug endidate remains high prior to
regulatory approval.

A number of companies have suffered significanbuegeen failures in late stage (i.e. Phase 3)elisitudies due to factors such as
inconclusive efficacy or safety, even after achigupositive results in earlier clinical studiestth@re satisfactory both to them and to
reviewing government health authorities. Whileietitecan pegol and Amikacin Inhale have each detretesl positive results from earlier
clinical studies, there is a substantial risk flase 3 clinical study outcomes for these drugidates from larger patient populations will not
demonstrate positive efficacy, safety or othericiihoutcomes sufficient to support regulatorynfis and achieve regulatory approval. Phase :
clinical study outcomes remain very unpredictalnié & is possible that one or more of these Phadmi@al studies could fail at any time due
to efficacy, safety or other important clinicaldings or regulatory requirements. If one or mor¢éheke drug candidates fail in Phase 3 clinica
studies, it would have a material adverse effeaarbusiness, financial condition and resultspdrations.

Our results of operations and financial conditioneghend significantly on the ability of our collaboti@mn partners to successfully
develop and market drugs and they may fail to do so

When we sign a collaborative development agreemelitense agreement to develop a drug candidateaypharmaceutical or
biotechnology company, the pharmaceutical or blotetogy company is generally expected to:

» design and conduct large scale clinical stuc
» prepareand file documents necessary to obtain governnpgoaals to sell a given drug candidate; an
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» market and sell the drugs when and if they areaymat.

Our reliance on collaboration partners poses a reumbsignificant risks to our business, includimgks that:

« we have very little control over the timing anddéwof resources that our collaboration partnersadde to commercial marketing
efforts such as the amount of investment in saldsnaarketing personnel, general marketing campadjrect-toconsumer advertisir
(where appropriate), product sampling, pricing agrents and rebate strategies with government avakt@ipayers, manufacturing &
supply of drug product, and other marketing antirgehctivities that need to be undertaken and eedicuted for a drug to have the
potential to achieve commercial succe

» collaboration partners with commercial rights mapase to devote fewer resources to the marketigiopartnered drugs than they
devote to their own drugs or other drugs that teye ir-licensed,;

» we have very little control over the timing and ambof resources our partners devote to developpragrams in one or more major
markets;

» disagreements with partners could lead to delaysritermination of, the research, developmentonmmercialization of product
candidates or to litigation or arbitration proce;

» disputes may arise or escalate in the future veisipect to the ownership of rights to technologintallectual property developed with
partners

» we do not have the ability to unilaterally termimaigreements (or partners may have extension ewedmights) that we believe are
not on commercially reasonable terms or consistéthtour current business stratey

» partners may be unable to pay us as expectec

* partners may terminate their agreements with ustenally for any or no reason, in some cases thighpayment of a termination fee
penalty and in other cases with no terminationpkeealty.

Given these risks, the success of our current afudef collaboration partnerships is highly unpreatite and can have a substantial
negative or positive impact on our business—inipaldr, we expect the commercial outcomes of MOVAK™, and if approved, BAX 855,
to have a particularly significant impact on ouan® mid- term financial results and financial dition. If our collaboration arrangements
underperform or fail, our drug development effdaisour proprietary drug candidate pipeline coudddelayed or reduced unless we can secu
capital funding from other sources. If we are urablobtain sufficient capital resources to advanaedrug candidate pipeline, it would
negatively impact the value of our business, resafloperations and financial condition.

The commercial potential of a drug candidate in ddopment is difficult to predict. If the market @zor a new drug is significantly
smaller than we anticipate, it could significantgnd negatively impact our revenue, results of opas and financial condition.

It is very difficult to estimate the commercial paotial of product candidates due to important fectmuch as safety and efficacy comp:
to other available treatments, including potergiteric drug alternatives with similar efficacy files, changing standards of care, third party
payer reimbursement standards, patient and phygiciferences, drug scheduling status, the avhilabf competitive alternatives that may
emerge either during the long drug developmentgs®or after commercial introduction, and the abdlity of generic versions of our
successful product candidates following approvabyernment health authorities based on the expiraf regulatory exclusivity or our
inability to prevent generic versions from comingtarket by asserting our patents. If due to onaare of these risks the market potential for
a drug candidate is lower than we anticipatedpula significantly and negatively impact the compigrterms of any collaboration partnership
potential for such drug candidate or, if we haveady entered into a collaboration for such drutdaiate, the revenue potential from royalty
and milestone payments could be significantly digfied and would negatively impact our businessrfimal condition and results of
operations.
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We are a party to numerous collaboration agreemeatsl other significant agreements which contain cplax commercial terms that
could result in disputes, litigation or indemnifidaon liability that could adversely affect our buséss, results of operations and
financial condition.

We currently derive, and expect to derive in the$eeable future, all of our revenue from collabonaagreements with biotechnology
and pharmaceutical companies. These collaboratjsgeanents contain complex commercial terms, inolgdi

+ clinical development and commercialization obligas that are based on certain commercial reasareddgerformance standards
that can often be difficult to enforce if disputesse as to adequacy of our par’s performance

» research and development performance and reimbargeshligations for our personnel and other resesiadlocated to partnered di
candidate development prograr

« clinical and commercial manufacturing agreemerus)esof which are priced on an actual cost basipffoducts supplied by us to our
partners with complicated cost allocation formwas methodologie:

* intellectual property ownership allocation betwesrand our partners for improvements and new inwesideveloped during the
course of the collaboratio

 royalties on drug sales based on a number of comwalgables, including net sales calculations, gaplyy, scope of patent claim
coverage, patent life, generic competitors, bunglécing and other factors; ai

» indemnity obligations for intellectual property iimMigement, product liability and certain other oiai

We are a party to certain significant agreementduding an asset purchase agreement with Noyartisuant to which we sold a
significant portion of our pulmonary business & &md of 2008, the worldwide exclusive license agrent with AstraZeneca related to the
further development and commercialization of MOVAIKTM, and the purchase and sale agreement with RRhEe Trust (RPI) related to
the sale of our royalty interests in UCB’s CIMZfAndRoche’'s MIRCERA that we completed in Februar§2@Each of these agreements
contains complex representations and warrantiegnants and indemnification obligations. If we loteany of our agreements with Novartis,
AstraZeneca, RPI or any other third party agreeméintould subject us to substantial liabilitie&ldarm our financial condition.

From time to time, we have informal dispute resolutliscussions with third parties regarding thprapriate interpretation of the
complex commercial terms contained in our agreesaérar example, on January 23, 2015, we filed alévagainst Allergan and MAP
seeking economic damages related to a disputetlb@erconomic sharing provisions of our license exgient with MAP. One or more disputes
may arise or escalate in the future regarding olialcoration agreements, transaction documentsjimt-party license agreements that may
ultimately result in costly litigation and unfavbte interpretation of contract terms, which woultvé a material adverse effect on our busir
financial condition and results of operations.

If we or our partners do not obtain regulatory apgval for our drug candidates on a timely basis, atrall, or if the terms of any
approval impose significant restrictions or limitains on use, our business, results of operationsldimancial condition will be
negatively affected.

We or our partners may not obtain regulatory aparéor drug candidates on a timely basis, or atatlthe terms of any approval (which
in some countries includes pricing approval) mapase significant restrictions or limitations on uBeug candidates must undergo rigorous
animal and human testing and an extensive reviesgss for safety and efficacy by the FDA and edaivgoreign government health
authorities. The time required for obtaining regomg decisions is uncertain and difficult to predithe FDA and other U.S. and foreign health
authorities have substantial discretion, at anysplad development, to terminate clinical studieguire additional clinical development or ot
testing, delay or withhold registration and mankgtapproval and mandate product withdrawals, irintydecalls. Further, health authorities
have the discretion to analyze data using their methodologies that may differ from those used $pmuour partners which could lead such
authorities to arrive at different conclusions meliag the safety or efficacy of a drug candidateaddition,
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undesirable side effects caused by our drug catedidauld cause us or regulatory authorities trinpt, delay or halt clinical trials and could
result in a more restricted label or the delayemnidl of regulatory approval by regulatory authiest For example, AstraZeneca will be
conducting a post-marketing, observational epidégioal study comparing MOVANTIKM to other treatmsmtf OIC in patients with
chronic, non-cancer pain and the results of thidystould at some point in the future negativelpatt the labeling, regulatory status, and
commercial potential of MOVANTIKM

Even if we or our partners receive regulatory aparof a product, the approval may limit the indezauses for which the drug may be
marketed. Our partnered drugs that have obtairpdatry approval, and the manufacturing procefsethese products, are subject to
continued review and periodic inspections by théARIDd other regulatory authorities. Discovery freath review and inspection of previot
unknown problems may result in restrictions on reted products or on us, including withdrawal oateof such products from the market,
suspension of related manufacturing operationsmoie restricted label. The failure to obtain tiynetgulatory approval of product candidates
any product marketing limitations or a product witlwal would negatively impact our business, rasoftoperations and financial condition.

We have substantial future capital requirements atiére is a risk we may not have access to suffitieapital to meet our current
business plan. If we do not receive substantialestione or royalty payments from our existing coltabtion agreements, execute new
high value collaborations or other arrangements, are unable to raise additional capital in one orare financing transactions, we
would be unable to continue our current level ofiiastment in research and development.

As of December 31, 2014, we had cash and investniembarketable securities valued at approxima262.8 million, of which $25.0
million was restricted in relation to our 12.0% grsecured notes, and indebtedness of approxiynéié1.8 million. The indebtedness
includes approximately $125.0 million in seniorwet notes due July 2017, but excludes our long-tebility relating to the sale of future
royalties as this royalty obligation liability wiiot be settled in cash. While we believe thataash position will be sufficient to meet our
liquidity requirements through at least the nexniénths, our future capital requirements will depapon numerous unpredictable factors,
including:

* the cost, timing and outcomes of clinical studied eegulatory reviews of our proprietary drug caladés that we have licensed to our
collaboration partners — important examples inclAdgkacin Inhale and CIPRO Inhale licensed to Baged BAX 855 that is being
developed by Baxte

» the commercial launch and sales levels of produetketed by our collaboration partners for whichase entitled to royalties and
sales milestone— importantly, AstraZener's level of success in marketing and selling MOVAK;

+ if and when we receive potential milestone paymantsroyalties from our existing collaborationthié drug candidates subject to
those collaborations achieve clinical, regulatarg@ammercial succes

» the progress, timing, cost and results of our céihdevelopment programs — in particular our PI8aB&ACON study for etirinotecan
pegol for which we expect to have topline resuitMiarch 2015 and our Phase 3 clinical program 6T R-181;

* the success, progress, timing and costs of ourteffo implement new collaborations, licenses ahetransactions that increase our
current net cash, such as the sale of additioyaltyinterests held by us, term loan or other dgldngements, and the issuance of
securities

» the number of patients, enrollment criteria, priynand secondary endpoints, and the number of elisktidies required by the
government health authorities in order to consideapproval our drug candidates and those of ollalooration partners

» our general and administrative expenses, capifamditures and other uses of cash;

 disputes concerning patents, proprietary rightéicense and collaboration agreements that nedgtingact our receipt of milestone
payments or royalties or require us to make sigaift payments arising from licenses, settlemedigrae judgments or ongoing
royalties.
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A significant multi-year capital commitment is réxpd to advance our drug candidates through thiewsustages of research and
development in order to generate sufficient datantable high value collaboration partnerships wigimificant upfront payments or to
successfully achieve regulatory approval. In thenéwe do not enter into any new collaborationmanthips with significant upfront payments
and we choose to continue our later stage resaactiilevelopment programs, we may need to pursarding alternatives, including dilutive
equity-based financings, such as an offering ofvedible debt or common stock, which would dilute percentage ownership of our current
common stockholders and could significantly lower market value of our common stock. If sufficieapital is not available to us or is not
available on commercially reasonable terms, it@woatuire us to delay or reduce one or more ofesearch and development programs. If wi
are unable to sufficiently advance our researchdevelopment programs, it could substantially impae value of such programs and result ir
a material adverse effect on our business, finhooiadition and results of operations.

While we have conducted numerous experiments udatgpratory and home-based chemistry techniques thave not been able to
convert NKTR-181 into a rapid-acting and more abuma opioid, there is a risk that a technique coule discovered in the future to
convert NKTR-181 into a rapid-acting and more abuma opioid, which would significantly diminish thealue of this drug candidate.

An important objective of our NKTR-181 drug devetognt program is to create a unique opioid molethdé does not rapidly enter a
patient’s central nervous system and thereforgh@potential to be less susceptible to abusedhiamative opioid therapies. To date, we hav
conducted numerous experiments using laboratonjhante-based chemistry techniques that have bedsieuttaconvert NKTR-181 into a
rapidly-acting, more abusable form of opioid. le fature, an alternative chemistry technique, pge@@ method of administration, or
combination thereof, may be discovered to enatdectimversion of NKTR-181 into a more abusable apihich could significantly and
negatively impact the commercial potential or diisiinthe value of NKTR-181.

If we are unable to establish and maintain collakadion partnerships on attractive commercial ternwjr business, results of
operations and financial condition could suffer.

We intend to continue to seek partnerships withrplageutical and biotechnology partners to fundréiqgno of our research and
development capital requirements. The timing of wellaboration partnerships is difficult to preditiie to availability of clinical data, the
outcomes from our clinical studies, the numberateptial partners that need to complete due ditgeand approval processes, the definitive
agreement negotiation process and numerous otpeediotable factors that can delay, impede or presignificant transactions. If we are
unable to find suitable partners or negotiate baliation arrangements with favorable commerciahgewith respect to our existing and future
drug candidates or the licensing of our intelletpraperty, or if any arrangements we negotiatédyaxre negotiated, are terminated, it could
have a material adverse effect on our businesadial condition and results of operations.

Preliminary and interim data from our clinical stuiés that we announce or publish from time to timeeasubject to audit and
verification procedures that could result in matatichanges in the final data and may change as mpagient data become available.

From time to time, we publish preliminary or intardata from our clinical studies. Preliminary dagmain subject to audit confirmation
and verification procedures that may result infthal data being materially different from the pneihary data we previously published. Inte
data are also subject to the risk that one or mabtiee clinical outcomes may materially change atsept enrollment continues and more pat
data become available. As a result, preliminaryiatetim data should be viewed with caution urté final data are available. Material adv
changes in the final data could significantly hamn business prospects.
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Delays in clinical studies are common and have marawuses, and any significant delay in clinical stied being conducted by us or o
partners could result in delay in regulatory apprals and jeopardize the ability to proceed to comaialization.

We or our partners may experience delays in clitticgs of drug candidates. We currently have dngd®hase 3 studies for etirinotecan
pegol in patients with metastatic breast canceM@R-181 in patients with chronic lower back pdimaddition, our collaboration partners
have several ongoing Phase 3 clinical programsidiiegy Baxter for BAX 855, Bayer for Amikacin Inhad@d CIPRO Inhale, and Ophthotech
for Fovista™. These and other clinical studies matybegin on time, enroll a sufficient number ofigats or be completed on schedule, if at
all. Our clinical trials for any of our product adidates could be delayed for a variety of reasmes,ding:

» delays in obtaining regulatory approval to commeactinical study
 delays in reaching agreement with applicable healthorities on a clinical study desig
» imposition of a clinical hold following an inspeati of our clinical trial operations or trial sitbg the FDA or other health authoritie

* suspension or termination of a clinical study byaus partners, the FDA or foreign health authesitilue to adverse side effects of a
drug on subjects in the tric

» delays in recruiting suitable patients to partitépa a trial;

» delays in having patients complete participatioa tnial or return for po-treatment follov-up;
« clinical sites dropping out of a trial to the detent of enrollment rate

» delays in manufacturing and delivery of sufficisapply of clinical trial materials; ar

» changes in health authorities policies or guidaqicable to our drug candidat:

If the initiation or completion of any of the plaguhclinical studies for our drug candidates is yiedfor any of the above or other reas
the regulatory approval process would be delayedtaa ability to commercialize and commence salébase drug candidates could be
materially harmed, which could have a material aslveffect on our business, financial condition ersililts of operations.

We may not be able to obtain intellectual propelienses related to the development of our drug diates on a commercially
reasonable basis, if at all.

Numerous pending and issued U.S. and foreign pétgits and other proprietary rights owned by thiedties relate to pharmaceutical
compositions, methods of preparation and manufexgguand methods of use and administration. We @igmredict with any certainty which,
any, patent references will be considered relet@atir or our collaboration partnetschnology or drug candidates by authorities inviigéous
jurisdictions where such rights exist, nor can wedjct with certainty which, if any, of these righwill or may be asserted against us by t
parties. In certain cases, we have existing liceose&ross-licenses with third parties; however,gbope and adequacy of these licenses is ve
uncertain and can change substantially during timglopment and commercialization cycles for bibtetogy and pharmaceutical products.
There can be no assurance that we can obtainrséde any technology that we determine we neaéasonable terms, if at all, or that we
could develop or otherwise obtain alternate teabml If we are required to enter into a licensenwaitthird party, our potential economic
benefit for the products subject to the licenseé lél diminished. If a license is not available @menercially reasonable terms or at all, we may
be prevented from developing and selling the dwigch could significantly harm our business, resolt operations, and financial condition.
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If any of our pending patent applications do notsige, or are deemed invalid following issuance, wayntiose valuable intellectual
property protection.

The patent positions of pharmaceutical and bioteldgy companies, such as ours, are uncertain amdvim complex legal and factual
issues. We own more than 215 U.S. and 750 foreagents and a number of pending patent applicatlwatscover various aspects of our
technologies. There can be no assurance that pdtertthave issued will be held valid and enforteeaba court of law. Even for patents that
are held valid and enforceable, the legal procssscated with obtaining such a judgment is timesoming and costly. Additionally, issued
patents can be subject to opposition or other gdiogs that can result in the revocation of themadr maintenance of the patent in amended
form (and potentially in a form that renders théepawithout commercially relevant and/or broade@ge). Further, our competitors may be
able to circumvent and otherwise design aroundoatents. Even if a patent is issued and enforcebbtause development and
commercialization of pharmaceutical products casuigect to substantial delays, patents may exgairly and provide only a short period of
protection, if any, following the commercializatiof products encompassed by our patents. We mag tioguarticipate in interference
proceedings declared by the U.S. Patent and Tradte@ftice, which could result in a loss of the pa#tand/or substantial cost to us.

We have filed patent applications, and plan todilielitional patent applications, covering variosigets of our PEGylation and advancec
polymer conjugate technologies and our propriepaoguct candidates. There can be no assurancthéhpatent applications for which we
apply would actually issue as patents, or do sh eammercially relevant and/or broad coverage. ddwerage claimed in a patent application
can be significantly reduced before the paterggaed. The scope of our claim coverage can beadrit our ability to enter into licensing
transactions with third parties and our right toeige royalties from our collaboration partnershipsice publication of discoveries in scientific
or patent literature often lags behind the datsuch discoveries, we cannot be certain that we therérst inventor of inventions covered by
our patents or patent applications. In additioerehis no guarantee that we will be the first ke & patent application directed to an invention.

An adverse outcome in any judicial proceeding imig intellectual property, including patents, abslbject us to significant liabilities
to third parties, require disputed rights to berised from or to third parties or require us teseassing the technology in dispute. In those
instances where we seek an intellectual propasgnse from another, we may not be able to obtaititense on a commercially reasonable
basis, if at all, thereby raising concerns on dailits to freely commercialize our technologiespyoducts.

We are involved in legal proceedings and may inaubstantial litigation costs and liabilities thatilvadversely affect our business,
financial condition and results of operations.

From time to time, third parties have asserted,raag in the future assert, that we or our partidrgge their proprietary rights, such as
patents and trade secrets, or have otherwise wdathr obligations to them. The third party oft@isés its assertions on a claim that its paten
cover our technology platform or drug candidatethat we have misappropriated its confidential rmppietary information. Similar assertions
of infringement could be based on future paterds itiay issue to third parties. In certain of omeagents with our partners, we are obligated
to indemnify and hold harmless our collaboratiorntmers from intellectual property infringement, guat liability and certain other claims,
which could cause us to incur substantial costdliabdity if we are called upon to defend oursed\and our partners against any claims. If a
third party obtains injunctive or other equitabdéief against us or our partners, they could eiffett prevent us, or our partners, from
developing or commercializing, or deriving reverfitgm, certain drugs or drug candidates in the drfl abroad. Costs associated with
litigation, substantial damage claims, indemnifimatclaims or royalties paid for licenses from thpparties could have a material adverse effec
on our business, financial condition and resultepsrations.
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Third-party claims involving proprietary rights other matters could also result in substantialesetint payments or substantial damage
to be paid by us. For instance, a settlement niggduiire us to enter a license agreement under widchvould pay substantial royalties or ot
compensation to a third party, diminishing our feteconomic returns from the related drug. In Ddzem2013, we entered into a litigation
settlement with the Research Foundation of theeSdatversity of New York (SUNY) pursuant to whiclevagree to the payment of a total of
$12.0 million in future installments and certaihet terms and conditions in exchange for the gldase of certain breach of contract claims b
SUNY.

In addition, from time to time, we are involvedl@gal proceedings where we or other third partieseaforcing or seeking intellectual
property rights, invalidating or limiting patenghts that have already been allowed or issuedth@rwise asserting proprietary rights through
one or more potential legal remedies. For exanwpéeare currently involved in a German litigatiom@eeding whereby Bayer is seeking co-
ownership rights in certain of our patent filinganpling at the European Patent Office covering (ajmiher things) PEGylated Factor VI
which we have exclusively licensed to Baxter. Thlgject matter of our patent filings in this proceggrelates to Bayer's investigational
PEGylated recombinant Factor VIII compound. Weéadithat Bayer’'s claim to an ownership intereshase patent filings is without merit
and are vigorously defending sole and exclusiveeralmip rights to this intellectual property. We algo regularly involved in opposition
proceedings at the European Patent Office where fairties seek to invalidate or limit the scop@wf allowed European patents applications
covering (among other things) our drugs and plaiftechnologies. The cost to us in initiating oresfefing any litigation or other proceeding,
even if resolved in our favor, could be substantiat litigation would divert our management’s atii@n. Uncertainties resulting from the
initiation and continuation of patent litigation ather proceedings could delay our research andldement efforts or result in financial
implications either in terms of seeking licenseaagements or payment of damages or royalties.

Our manufacturing operations and those of our coafrt manufacturers are subject to laws and other govmental regulatory
requirements, which, if not met, would have a matradverse effect on our business, results of gems and financial condition.

We and our contract manufacturers are require@ifitain cases to maintain compliance with curremtdgmanufacturing practices
(cGMP), including cGMP guidelines applicable tohaetpharmaceutical ingredients, and with laws agutations governing manufacture and
distribution of controlled substances, and areextttip inspections by the FDA, the Drug Enforcenfghinistration or comparable agencies
in other jurisdictions administering such complian@/e anticipate periodic regulatory inspectionswfdrug manufacturing facilities and the
manufacturing facilities of our contract manufaetgrfor compliance with applicable regulatory regoients. Any failure to follow and
document our or our contract manufacturers’ adtmrén such cGMP and other laws and governmentalatgns or satisfy other
manufacturing and product release regulatory requéints may disrupt our ability to meet our manuifiacg obligations to our customers, lead
to significant delays in the availability of prodsiéor commercial use or clinical study, resulthie termination or hold on a clinical study or
delay or prevent filing or approval of marketingpépations for our products. Failure to comply wéthplicable laws and regulations may also
result in sanctions being imposed on us, includiimgs, injunctions, civil penalties, failure of ndgtory authorities to grant marketing approval
of our products, delays, suspension or withdrawalpgrovals, license revocation, seizures or readlproducts, operating restrictions and
criminal prosecutions, any of which could harm business. The results of these inspections cosldtrim costly manufacturing changes or
facility or capital equipment upgrades to satisfy FDA that our manufacturing and quality contnalqedures are in substantial compliance
with cGMP. Manufacturing delays, for us or our g¢ant manufacturers, pending resolution of regulattaficiencies or suspensions would
have a material adverse effect on our businessitses operations and financial condition.
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If we or our contract manufacturers are not able tonanufacture drugs or drug substances in sufficiequiantities that meet applicable
quality standards, it could delay clinical studiegsult in reduced sales or constitute a breachoof contractual obligations, any of
which could significantly harm our business, finama condition and results of operations.

If we or our contract manufacturers are not ableaémufacture and supply sufficient drug quantitieseting applicable quality standards
required to support large clinical studies or comuia¢ manufacturing in a timely manner, it couldajeour or our collaboration partners’
clinical studies or result in a breach of our cacatunal obligations, which could in turn reduce plo¢ential commercial sales of our or our
collaboration partners’ products. As a result, wald incur substantial costs and damages and adupt sales or royalty revenue that we
would otherwise be entitled to receive could bauoedl, delayed or eliminated. In some cases, weorelyontract manufacturing organizations
to manufacture and supply drug product for ourictihstudies and those of our collaboration pagnBharmaceutical manufacturing of drugs
and devices involves significant risks and uncatias related to the demonstration of adequatalisyabufficient purification of the drug
substance and drug product, the identificationeimdination of impurities, optimal formulations,quess and analytical methods validations,
device performance and challenges in controllingafbof these variables. We have faced and makerfuture face significant difficulties,
delays and unexpected expenses as we validateptityl contract manufacturers required for drug dexdce supply to support our clinical
studies and the clinical studies and products ofcollaboration partners. Failure by us or our cacitmanufacturers to supply drug product or
devices in sufficient quantities that meet all aggdle quality requirements could result in supghprtages for our clinical studies or the clin
studies and commercial activities of our collaborapartners. Such failures could significantly andterially delay clinical trials and
regulatory submissions or result in reduced saleg,0f which could significantly harm our busingssspects, results of operations and
financial condition.

Building and validating large scale clinical or amercial-scale manufacturing facilities and processecruiting and training qualified
personnel and obtaining necessary regulatory apfs @y complex, expensive and time consuming. émpidist we have encountered challenge:
in scaling up manufacturing to meet the requiremefifarge scale clinical trials without making nifaghtions to the drug formulation, which
may cause significant delays in clinical developtn&e experienced repeated significant delaysdrtiag the Phase 3 clinical development
program for Amikacin Inhale as we sought to finaland validate the device design with a demonstreapability to be manufactured at
commercial scale. Drug/device combination prodacgsparticularly complex, expensive and time-coriagrio develop due to the number of
variables involved in the final product design litting ease of patient and doctor use, maintenafcknical efficacy, reliability and cost of
manufacturing, regulatory approval requirementsstaddards and other important factors. There goes to be substantial and unpredictable
risk and uncertainty related to manufacturing amgp$y until such time as the commercial supply ohaivalidated and proven.

Our revenue is exclusively derived from our collabtion agreements, which can result in significafiictuation in our revenue from
period to period, and our past revenue is therefoia necessarily indicative of our future revenue.

Our revenue is exclusively derived from our colleimn agreements, from which we receive contraséarch payments, milestone
payments based on clinical progress, regulatorgness or net sales achievements, royalties andfanting revenue. Significant variations
in the timing of receipt of cash payments and eapgnition of revenue can result from significarniestone payments based on the execution
of new collaboration agreements, the timing oficikhoutcomes, regulatory approval, commercial tuand the achievement of certain anr
sales thresholds. The amount of our revenue defread collaboration agreements in any given peridtidepend on a number of
unpredictable factors, including our ability todiand maintain suitable collaboration partnersitning of the negotiation and conclusion of
collaboration agreements with such partners, whethé when we or our collaboration partners achaivécal, regulatory and sales
milestones, the timing of regulatory approvals e @r more major markets, reimbursement levelsriwage and government payers, and the
market introduction of new drugs or generic versiohthe approved drug, as well as other factous.f@ast revenue generated from
collaboration agreements is not necessarily
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indicative of our future revenue. If any of oursiig or future collaboration partners fails to elep, obtain regulatory approval for,
manufacture or ultimately commercialize any prodiggididate under our collaboration agreement, asiness, financial condition, results of
operations and prospectus could be materially dwdraely affected.

If we are unable either to create sales, marketiagd distribution capabilities or to enter into ageenents with third parties to perform
these functions, we will be unable to commercialagr products successfully.

We currently have no sales, marketing or distrimutiapabilities. To commercialize any of our drtius receive regulatory approval for
commercialization, we must either develop intesaés, marketing and distribution capabilities,akhivould be expensive and time
consuming, or enter into collaboration arrangemeiitfs third parties to perform these services. ¢ decide to market our products directly,
must commit significant financial and manageriglaerces to develop a marketing and sales forcetedfimical expertise and with supporting
distribution, administration and compliance cagtibg. Factors that may inhibit our efforts to coemeialize our products directly or indirectly
with our partners include:

» our inability to recruit and retain adequate nurshereffective sales and marketing person
* the inability of sales personnel to obtain access tpersuade adequate numbers of physicians torysescribe our product

* the lack of complementary products or multiple preidoricing arrangements may put us at a competdisadvantage relative to
companies with more extensive product lines;

» unforeseen costs and expenses associated witingraat sustaining an independent sales and magketganization

If we, or our partners through our collaborationsre not successful in recruiting sales and markegipersonnel or in building a sales
and marketing infrastructure, we will have difficty commercializing our products, which would advetg affect our business, results
of operations and financial condition.

To the extent we rely on other pharmaceutical otdashnology companies with established sales, rtiagkand distribution systems to
market our products, we will need to establish mxaihtain partnership arrangements, and we mayeaable to enter into these arrangements
on acceptable terms or at all. To the extent treémter into co-promotion or other arrangementg ramenue we receive will depend upon the
efforts of third parties, which may not be succekahd are only partially in our control — importaxamples of this risk include
MOVANTIK™ partnered with AstraZeneca and BAX 855mered with Baxter. In the event that we marketpoducts without a partner, \
would be required to build a sales and marketimgoization and infrastructure, which would requairgignificant investment and we may not
be successful in building this organization andasfructure in a timely or efficient manner.

We purchase some of the starting material for drugysd drug candidates from a single source or a lied number of suppliers, and
the partial or complete loss of one of these supmicould cause production delays, clinical triadldys, substantial loss of revenue and
contract liability to third parties.

We often face very limited supply of a critical ramaterial that can only be obtained from a singtea limited number of, suppliers,
which could cause production delays, clinical tdelays, substantial lost revenue opportunity ertreet liability to third parties. For example,
there are only a limited number of qualified supgj and in some cases single source supplierydaaw materials included in our
PEGylation and advanced polymer conjugate drug diéations. Any interruption in supply or failure poocure such raw materials on
commercially feasible terms could harm our busirmwsdelaying our clinical trials, impeding commeication of approved drugs or
increasing our costs.
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We rely on trade secret protection and other unpatsl proprietary rights for important proprietaryethnologies, and any loss of such
rights could harm our business, results of operat®and financial condition.

We rely on trade secret protection for our confiddrand proprietary information. No assurance loamgiven that others will not
independently develop substantially equivalent ictaritial and proprietary information or otherwissErgaccess to our trade secrets or disclos
such technology, or that we can meaningfully protec trade secrets. In addition, unpatented petgny rights, including trade secrets and
know-how, can be difficult to protect and may lose thwilue if they are independently developed by altparty or if their secrecy is lost. Al
loss of trade secret protection or other unpateptedrietary rights could harm our business, resaflioperations and financial condition.

We expect to continue to incur substantial losseslaegative cash flow from operations and may nehave or sustain profitability it
the future.

For the year ended December 31, 2014, we reponed lass of $53.9 million. If and when we achigvefitability depends upon a
number of factors, including the timing and recaigni of milestone payments and royalties receitieel timing of revenue under our
collaboration agreements, the amount of investm&atmake in our proprietary product candidatestaadegulatory approval and market
success of our product candidates. We may not lee@lachieve and sustain profitability.

Other factors that will affect whether we achiewe gustain profitability include our ability, alooe together with our partners, to:

» develop drugs utilizing our technologies, eithetdpendently or in collaboration with other pharmaical or biotech companie

« effectively estimate and manage clinical developneests, particularly the cost of the BEACON staayl the clinical studies for
NKTR-181;

» receive necessary regulatory and marketing appst

e maintain or expand manufacturing at necessaryde

» achieve market acceptance of our partnered progc

 receive royalties on products that have been aplanarketed or submitted for marketing approvéhwegulatory authorities; ar
» maintain sufficient funds to finance our activiti

If government and private insurance programs do mobvide payment or reimbursement for our partnerprbducts or proprietary
products, those products will not be widely acceptehich would have a negative impact on our bussseresults of operations and
financial condition.

In both domestic and foreign markets, sales ofpauinered and proprietary products that have redeiggulatory approval will depend
part on market acceptance among physicians anehpatipricing approvals by government authoritias the availability of payment or
reimbursement from third-party payers, such as gowent health administration authorities, managed providers, private health insurers
and other organizations. Such third-party payesdrasreasingly challenging the price and cost ¢iffeaess of medical products and services.
Therefore, significant uncertainty exists as tofheing approvals for, and the payment or reimbuovent status of, newly approved healthcare
products. Moreover, legislation and regulationgetihg the pricing of pharmaceuticals may chanderbaegulatory agencies approve our
proposed products for marketing and could furthmeit lpricing approvals for, and reimbursement aft products from government authorities
and third-party payers. A government or thipdaty payer decision not to approve pricing farpmvide adequate coverage and reimburser
of, our products would limit market acceptancewaflsproducts.
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We depend on third parties to conduct the clini¢ghls for our proprietary product candidates anchg failure of those parties to fulfil
their obligations could harm our development andrmmercialization plans.

We depend on independent clinical investigatorstreat research organizations and other tpady service providers to conduct clini
trials for our proprietary product candidates. Wk heavily on these parties for successful exeoutf our clinical trials. Though we are
ultimately responsible for the results of theirties, many aspects of their activities are bedyonr control. For example, we are responsible
for ensuring that each of our clinical trials isxdocted in accordance with the general investigatiplan and protocols for the trials, but the
independent clinical investigators may prioritizeer projects over ours or communicate issues daggour products to us in an untimely
manner. Third parties may not complete activitiesohedule or may not conduct our clinical trial@ccordance with regulatory requirements
or our stated protocols. The early terminationrof af our clinical trial arrangements, the failafethird parties to comply with the regulations
and requirements governing clinical trials or aelrance on results of trials that we have not diyszonducted or monitored could hinder or
delay the development, approval and commerciatinatf our product candidates and would adverségctabur business, results of operations
and financial condition.

Significant competition for our polymer conjugatehemistry technology platforms and our partnered apdbprietary products and
product candidates could make our technologies, guiots or product candidates obsolete or uncompeditiwhich would negatively
impact our business, results of operations and fivtéal condition.

Our PEGylation and advanced polymer conjugate cteyrplatforms and our partnered and proprietaodpcts and product candidates
compete with various pharmaceutical and biotechmotmmpanies. Competitors of our PEGylation angmpelr conjugate chemistry
technologies include Biogen Idec Inc., Savient Rtzeneuticals, Inc., Dr. Reddy’s Laboratories Ltchz& Pharmaceuticals, Inc., SunBio
Corporation, Mountain View Pharmaceuticals, Inmybl Nordisk A/S (formerly assets held by Neose hedbgies, Inc.), and NOF
Corporation. Several other chemical, biotechnolagg pharmaceutical companies may also be devel®ii@ylation technologies or
technologies that have similar impact on targegdnolecules. Some of these companies license oidarthe technology to other companies,
while others are developing the technology forrma use.

There are several competitors for our proprietaodpct candidates currently in development. For Kewin Inhale, the current standard
of care includes several approved intravenous iatitb for the treatment of either hospital-acqdipneumonia or ventilator-associated
pneumonia in patients on mechanical ventilators MFOVANTIK ™, there are currently several alternatitherapies used to address opioid-
induced constipation (OIC) and opioid-induced bodydfunction (OBD), including Relistér (methylnakone bromide) Subcutaneous
Injection, oral Amitizia (lubiprostone), and oraddarectal over-the-counter laxatives and stooleswfts such as docusate sodium, senna and
milk of magnesia. In addition, there are a numberompanies developing potential products whichianearious stages of clinical
development and are being evaluated for the tre#tofeéDIC and OBD in different patient populations;luding Cubist Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
Progenics Pharmaceuticals, Inc. in collaboratio\8&alix Pharmaceuticals, Ltd., Mundipharma Intited, Sucampo Pharmaceuticals, Inc.,
Develco Pharma GmbH, Alkermes, Inc., GlaxoSmith&lpic, Theravance, Inc., and Takeda Pharmace@malpany Limited. For
etirinotecan pegol, there are a number of chemafties and cancer therapies approved today andiougastages of clinical development for
breast and ovarian cancers, including, but notéichto: Abraxan@ (paclitaxel protein-bound partdier injectable suspension (albumin
bound)), Xelod® (capecitabine), Afinitdr (everoligduDoxil® (doxorubicin HCI), Ellenc& (epirubicingemzar® (gemcitabine), Halavén
(eribulin), Herceptir? (trastuzumab), Hycam@in (ttgzan), Ibranc@ (palbociclib), Ixempta (ixabepilpridavelbine® (vinolrebine),
Iniparib, Paraplati®® (carboplatin), Tax®l (pacligdxand Taxoter@ (docetaxel). Major pharmaceuticdliotechnology companies with
approved drugs or drugs in development for theseara include, but are not limited to, Bristol-Mey&quibb Company, Eli Lilly & Co.,
Roche, GlaxoSmithKline plc, Johnson and JohnsdmeRfinc. Eisai, Inc., and Sanofi Aventis S.A. Tdhare approved therapies for the
treatment of colorectal cancer, including Elox&t{oxaliplatin),
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CamptosaP (irinotecan), Avastin (bevacizumab),rdal® (Ziv-afilbercept), Stivargd (regorafenib), Edx® (cetuximab), Vectibi®
(panitumumab), Xelod& (capecitabine), Adrdcil (flowracil) and Wellcovori®  (leucovorin). In additiotinere are a number of drugs in
various stages of preclinical and clinical develepimfrom companies exploring cancer therapies praved chemotherapeutic agents to
potentially treat colorectal cancer, including, hat limited to, products in development from BolsMyers Squibb Company, Pfizer, Inc.,
GlaxoSmithKline plc, Antigenics, Inc., F. Hoffmarhm Roche Ltd., Novartis AG, Cell Therapeutics, IM¢eopharm Inc. (acquired by Insys
Therapeutics, Inc.), Meditech Research Ltd, Alcteehimited, and Enzon Pharmaceuticals, Inc.

There can be no assurance that we or our partrikisuacessfully develop, obtain regulatory appieviar and commercialize next-
generation or new products that will successfutlgnpete with those of our competitors. Many of cumpetitors have greater financial,
research and development, marketing and sales,fawuarting and managerial capabilities. We face oetitipn from these companies not just
in product development but also in areas suchasiting employees, acquiring technologies thathmhinhance our ability to commercialize
products, establishing relationships with certaéigearch and academic institutions, enrolling petianclinical trials and seeking program
partnerships and collaborations with larger phaeutical companies. As a result, our competitors magceed in developing competing
technologies, obtaining regulatory approval or gemmarket acceptance for products before we des&lievelopments could make our
products or technologies uncompetitive or obsolete.

If product liability lawsuits are brought againsts) we may incur substantial liabilities.

The manufacture, clinical testing, marketing anlé s medical products involve inherent producbiligy risks. If product liability costs
exceed our product liability insurance coveragemway incur substantial liabilities that could haveevere negative impact on our financial
position. Whether or not we are ultimately sucagssfany product liability litigation, such litigen would consume substantial amounts of
financial and managerial resources and might résatlverse publicity, all of which would impair obusiness. Additionally, we may not be
able to maintain our clinical trial insurance ooghct liability insurance at an acceptable cosdt ill, and this insurance may not provide
adequate coverage against potential claims ordosse

Our future depends on the proper management of eurrent and future business operations and theirsagiated expenses.

Our business strategy requires us to manage oumdsssto provide for the continued developmentoténtial commercialization of our
proprietary and partnered drug candidates. Outegfyaalso calls for us to undertake increased resemd development activities and to
manage an increasing number of relationships wattngrs and other third parties, while simultangomsnaging the capital necessary to
support this strategy. Our decision to bear a nitgjor all of the clinical development costs ofrgtotecan pegol substantially increases our
future capital requirements. If we are unable tmage effectively our current operations and anyviftove may experience, our business,
financial condition and results of operations mayablversely affected. If we are unable to effetfimeanage our expenses, we may find it
necessary to reduce our personnel-related costsghireductions in our workforce, which could haman operations, employee morale and
impair our ability to retain and recruit talent.rthermore, if adequate funds are not availablemnag be required to obtain funds through
arrangements with partners or other sources thgtraguire us to relinquish rights to certain of terhnologies, products or future economic
rights that we would not otherwise relinquish ajuiee us to enter into other financing arrangementsnfavorable terms.

We are dependent on our management team and kelyrtieal personnel, and the loss of any key manageemployee may impair oL
ability to develop our products effectively and magrm our business, operating results and financiandition.

Our success largely depends on the continued ssreicour executive officers and other key persbre loss of one or more members
of our management team or other key employees cmuldusly harm our business, operating resultdiaadcial condition. The relationships
that our key managers have cultivated
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within our industry make us particularly dependgpon their continued employment with us. We are dispendent on the continued services
of our technical personnel because of the highdiiecal nature of our products and the regulatpgyreval process. Because our executive
officers and key employees are not obligated toigeus with continued services, they could terri@rtheir employment with us at any time
without penalty. We do not have any post-employnmamcompetition agreements with any of our empleyae do not maintain key person
life insurance policies on any of our executivaaffs or key employees.

Because competition for highly qualified technicpersonnel is intense, we may not be able to attiewd retain the personnel we need
to support our operations and growth.

We must attract and retain experts in the area$iro€al testing, manufacturing, research, regulatind finance, and may need to attract
and retain marketing and distribution experts agnvktbp additional expertise in our existing persnwe face intense competition from other
biopharmaceutical companies, research and acadestittitions and other organizations for qualifigetsonnel. Many of the organizations
with which we compete for qualified personnel hgveater resources than we have. Because compdttiskilled personnel in our industry
intense, companies such as ours sometimes expetiggit attrition rates with regard to their skilleshployees. Further, in making employn
decisions, job candidates often consider the valdke stock options they are to receive in corinaaith their employment. Our equity
incentive plan and employee benefit plans may eatfective in motivating or retaining our emploge® attracting new employees, and
significant volatility in the price of our stock madversely affect our ability to attract or retgimalified personnel. If we falil to attract new
personnel or to retain and motivate our currensqemel, our business and future growth prospeciisidre severely harmed.

If earthquakes or other catastrophic events stril@jr business may be harmed.

Our corporate headquarters, including a substgmidion of our research and development operatianeslocated in the San Francisco
Bay Area, a region known for seismic activity angogential terrorist target. In addition, we owgifgies for the manufacture of products us
our PEGylation and advanced polymer conjugate t@olgies in Huntsville, Alabama and own and leasiees in Hyderabad, India. There are
no backup facilities for our manufacturing operatidocated in Huntsville, Alabama. In the evenanfearthquake or other natural disaster,
political instability, or terrorist event in any tifese locations, our ability to manufacture angpsumaterials for drug candidates in
development and our ability to meet our manufantudbligations to our customers would be signiftgadisrupted and our business, result
operations and financial condition would be harn@dr collaborative partners may also be subjecttastrophic events, such as earthquakes
floods, hurricanes and tornadoes, any of whichacbakm our business, results of operations anadimhcondition. We have not undertaken a
systematic analysis of the potential consequereartbusiness, results of operations and finamciatlition from a major earthquake or other
catastrophic event, such as a fire, sustainedofogewer, terrorist activity or other disaster, atainot have a recovery plan for such disasters.
In addition, our insurance coverage may not ba@afft to compensate us for actual losses fromigteyruption of our business that may
occur.

We have implemented certain anti-takeover measuvasich make it more difficult to acquire us, evehdugh such acquisitions may
be beneficial to our stockholders.

Provisions of our certificate of incorporation dngdaws, as well as provisions of Delaware law, doubke it more difficult for a third
party to acquire us, even though such acquisitioag be beneficial to our stockholders. These akidver provisions include:

» establishment of a classified board of directohghat not all members of the board may be eleatee time

* lack of a provision for cumulative voting in theeetion of directors, which would otherwise allovgdghan a majority of stockholders
to elect director candidate
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the ability of our board to authorize the issuaofttéhlank check” preferred stock to increase thenber of outstanding shares and
thwart a takeover attemg

prohibition on stockholder action by written conseéhereby requiring all stockholder actions tatéleen at a meeting of stockholde

establishment of advance notice requirements forimations for election to the board of directordarproposing matters that can be
acted upon by stockholders at stockholder meetiyd

limitations on who may call a special meeting afcgholders

Further, provisions of Delaware law relating toibess combinations with interested stockholders disgourage, delay or prevent a
third party from acquiring us. These provisions raiso discourage, delay or prevent a third padynfacquiring a large portion of our
securities or initiating a tender offer or proxyntest, even if our stockholders might receive anjuen for their shares in the acquisition over
the then-current market prices. We also have agghahcontrol severance benefit plan, which prowifte certain cash severance, stock awarc
acceleration and other benefits in the event oypleyees are terminated (or, in some cases, resigspecified reasons) following an
acquisition. This severance plan could discouratygrd party from acquiring us.

The price of our common stock is expected to remaatatile.

Our stock price is volatile. During the year en@etember 31, 2014, based on closing prices on R&IMQ Global Select Market, o
stock price ranged from $10.53 to $17.05 per sh&reexpect our stock price to remain volatile. Aiety of factors may have a significant
effect on the market price of our common stockluding the risks described in this section titl&tisk Factors” and the following:

announcements of data from, or material developsnienbur clinical studies and those of our coll@bon partners, including data
regarding efficacy and safety, delays in clinicavelopment, regulatory approval or commercial I

announcements by collaboration partners as to pieis or expectations related to drug candidatdsapproved drugs in which we
have a substantial economic interi

announcements regarding terminations or disputdsruwur collaboration agreemer
fluctuations in our results of operatiol

developments in patent or other proprietary rigimsiuding intellectual property litigation or eniteg into intellectual property license
agreements and the costs associated with thosegaments

announcements of technological innovations or rfeweaipeutic products that may compete with our amat@roducts or products
under developmen

announcements of changes in governmental regulaffenting us or our competitor
litigation brought against us or third parties tbom we have indemnification obligatior
public concern as to the safety of drug formulaideveloped by us or othe

our financing needs and activities; ¢

general market condition

At times, our stock price has been volatile eveth&absence of significant news or developmeriis.sfock prices of biotechnology
companies and securities markets generally have figgect to dramatic price swings in recent years.
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The indenture governing the senior secured noteposes significant operating and financial restriotis on us and our subsidiaries
that may prevent us from pursuing certain busineggportunities and restrict our ability to operateinbusiness.

The indenture governing the senior secured notefaits covenants that restrict our and our subsédiaability to take various actions,
such as:

* incur or guarantee additional indebtedness or id&sgialified capital stock or cause certain of suisidiaries to issue preferred stc
» pay dividends or distributions, redeem equity iests or subordinated indebtedness or make ceyfads bf investment:

» create or incur liens

« transfer, sell, lease or otherwise dispose of ags®l issue or sell equity interests in certaiourfsubsidiaries

* incur restrictions on certain of our subsidiariasility to pay dividends or other distributionsti@ Company or to make intercompany
loans or asset transfe

» enter into transactions with affiliate

e engage in any business other than businesses af@dhe same, similar, ancillary or reasonablyteel#o our business as of July 11,
2012; anc

e consummate a merger, consolidation, reorganizatidrusiness combination, or sell, assign, trangfase or otherwise dispose of all
or substantially all of our asse

In addition, the indenture governing the senioused notes contains a financial maintenance cotarguiring us to maintain a $25.0
million segregated cash reserve account until JuB015 to be applied to interest payments on¢hes secured notes in the event of a def.
subject to certain conditions. This indenture atsquires us not to permit, thereafter and throlghquarter ending June 30, 2017, the aggrt
balance of our unrestricted cash and cash equigadénhe end of any two consecutive fiscal quatieibe less than $25.0 million, subject to
certain conditions. Our ability to comply with tleesovenants will likely be affected by many factansluding events beyond our control, and
we may not satisfy those requirements. Our faitareomply with our debtelated obligations could result in an event obdéfunder our othe
indebtedness and the acceleration of our othebiedeess, in whole or in part, could result in @@ne of default under the indenture goverr
the senior secured notes.

The restrictions contained in the indenture govegrithe senior secured notes could also limit otlityko plan for or react to market
conditions, meet capital needs or otherwise regiric activities or business plans and adverségctabur ability to finance our operations,
enter into acquisitions or to engage in other esgractivities that would be in our interest.

Item 1B. Unresolved Staff Commen:
None.

Item 2. Properties
California

We lease a 126,285 square foot facility in the Mis8ay Area of San Francisco, California (Missi®ay Facility), under an operating
lease which expires in 2020. The Mission Bay Fgcié our corporate headquarters and also inclodesesearch and development operations

Our lease for approximately 100,000 square fe#t@San Carlos Facility is under a capital leasihkvbxpires in 2016. We have
subleased all of the San Carlos Facility.
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Alabama

We currently own four facilities consisting of apgimately 165,000 square feet in Huntsville, Alalzamvhich house laboratories as well
as administrative, clinical and commercial manufang facilities for our PEGylation and advancedypter conjugate technology operations
as well as manufacturing of APIs for early clinistidies.

In July 2012, we consolidated our U.S.-based rebeactivities into our Mission Bay Facility and sed use of one of our buildings
located in Huntsville that was dedicated to redeaxtivities. We are currently seeking a buyettifierland and building.

India
We own a research and development facility comgjstif approximately 88,000 square feet, near Hymitalndia. In addition, we lease

approximately 504 square feet of office space idétgbad, India, under a one-year operating leatenii expire in 2015.

Item 3. Legal Proceeding:
From time to time, we are subject to legal procegsli We are not currently a party to or aware gffmoceedings that we believe will
have, individually or in the aggregate, a matealerse effect on our business, financial conditioresults of operations.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosure
Not applicable.
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PART Il
Item 5. Market for Registran’s Common Equity, Related Stockholder Matters andusr Purchases of Equity Securitit

Our common stock trades on The NASDAQ Global Selantket under the symbol “NKTR.” The table belowsstorth the high and low
closing sales prices for our common stock as redash The NASDAQ Global Select Market during theiguis indicated.

High Low

Year Ended December 31, 201

1st Quarte $11.0¢ $ 7.5¢
2nd Quarte 11.7¢ 8.8:
3rd Quarte 13.9¢ 10.4¢
4th Quartel 12.5¢ 8.9¢
Year Ended December 31, 201

1st Quarte $14.9¢ $11.6¢
2nd Quarte 14.31 10.5:
3rd Quarte 14.4¢ 10.5¢
4th Quartel 17.0¢ 12.07

Holders of Record
As of February 20, 2015, there were approximat&® Rolders of record of our common stock.

Dividend Policy
We have never declared or paid any cash dividendsiocommon stock. We currently expect to retay fature earnings for use in the
operation and expansion of our business and dantiipate paying any cash dividends on our comstook in the foreseeable future.

There were no sales of unregistered securitiesrard were no common stock repurchases made dinéngear ended December 31,
2014.

Securities Authorized for Issuance Under Equity Corpensation Plans

Information regarding our equity compensation plas®f December 31, 2014 is disclosed in Item ¥ty Ownership of Certain
Beneficial Owners and Management and Related StddkhMatters” of this Annual Report on Form 10-Kdds incorporated herein by
reference from our proxy statement for our 2015uahmeeting of stockholders to be filed with theCSfirsuant to Regulation 14A not later
than 120 days after the end of the fiscal year /by this Annual Report on Form 10-K.
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Performance Measurement Comparison

The material in this section is being furnished ahdll not be deemed “filed” with the SEC for pusps of Section 18 of the Exchange
Act or otherwise subject to the liability of thatcsion, nor shall the material in this section kbermied to be incorporated by reference in any
registration statement or other document filed wlith SEC under the Securities Act or the Exchangeexcept as otherwise expressly stat
such filing.

The following graph compares, for the five yearipgended December 31, 2014, the cumulative tooak&older return (change in stock
price plus reinvested dividends) of our commonlsisith (i) the NASDAQ Composite Index, (ii) the NARQ Pharmaceutical Index, (iii) the
RGD SmallCap Pharmaceutical Index, (iv) the NASDBi@technology Index and (v) the RDG SmallCap Bibtealogy Index. Measurement
points are the last trading day of each of outaligears ended December 31, 2010, December 31, P@&tember 31, 2012, December 31,
2013 and December 31, 2014. The graph assumeglibatwas invested on December 31, 2009 in the camstoek of the Company, the
NASDAQ Composite Index, the Nasdaq Pharmaceuticids, the RGD SmallCap Pharmaceutical Index, th€DNAQ Biotechnology Inde
and the RDG SmallCap Biotechnology Index and assumiavestment of any dividends. The stock priagopmance in the graph is not
intended to forecast or indicate future stock ppegormance.

COMPARISON OF 5 YEAR CUMULATIVE TOTAL RETURN*

Among Makiar Therapeutics, the NASDAQ Composite Index, the RDG SmallCap Pharmaceutical Index,
the NASDAL Biotechnology Index, the NASDACQ Phammaceutical Index,
and tha RDG SmallCap Biotechnology Index
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ltem 6. Selected Financial Dat:

SELECTED CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL INFORMATION
(In thousands, except per share information)

The selected consolidated financial data set foetbw should be read together with the consolidéitedhcial statements and related
notes, “Management’s Discussion and Analysis oRaial Condition and Results of Operations,” ar@dther information contained herein.

Year Ended December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Statements of Operations Data
Revenue

Product sale $ 25,15. $ 44,84¢ $ 35,39¢ $ 24,86: $ 27,41

Royalty revenus 32¢ 1,14¢ 4,874 10,321 7,25¢
Non cash royalty revenue related to sale of futayalties® 21,93% 22,05¢ 10,79: — —
License, collaboration and other revel 153,28 80,87: 30,12° 36,28¢ 124,37.
Total revenue 200,70° 148,92: 81,19: 71,48( 159,03¢
Total operating costs and expen 217,19. 269,05: 222,39. 195,41 187,29«
Loss from operation (16,48% (120,13() (141,20) (123,93) (28,255
Non-cash interest expense on liability related to

sale of future royaltie® (20,889 (22,309  (18,05) — —
Interest and other income (expense), (27,055 (17,329 (12,19) (9,029 (8,8072)
(Benefit) provision for income taxt (512) 2,24¢ 40€ 1,01¢ 881
Net loss $(53,91¢) $(162,01) $(171,85) $(133,979) $(37,939
Basic and diluted net loss per sh@ $ (042 $ (140 $ (150 $ (119) $ (0.40
Weighted average shares outstanding used in congpliéisic and diluted net

loss per shar@ 126,78 115,73: 114,82( 112,94: 94,07¢

As of December 31
2014 2013 2012 2011 2010

Balance Sheet Data
Cash, cash equivalents and investm $ 262,820 $ 262,02t $ 302,19: $ 414,93t $ 315,93
Working capital $ 224,150 $ 159,66. $ 236,090 $ 1,17¢ $ 289,87:
Total asset $ 441,62. $ 43452 $ 497,790 $ 606,55( $ 521,22
Deferred revenu $ 101,38 $ 106,04 $ 118,44 $ 127,83. $ 14534
Convertible subordinated not $ — % — 3 — $ 21495 $ 214,95
Senior secured nott $ 125,000 $ 125,000 $ 125,000 $ — % —
Liability related to the sale of future royalti® $ 120,47: $ 128,52( $ 131,26t $ — % —
Other lon¢-term liabilities $ 1820¢ $ 2577 $ 2001« $ 21,74 $ 22,58
Accumulated defici $(1,786,30) $(1,732,39) $(1,570,38) $(1,398,52) $(1,264,54)
Total stockholder equity (deficit) $ 3633 $ (89,90 $ 47,016 $ 197,81 $ 90,66

(1) InFebruary 2012, we sold all of our rightgegeive future royalty payments on net sales of JCBMZIA ®and Roche’s MIRCERA .
As described in Note 7 to our Consolidated Findrisiatements, this royalty sale transaction has beeorded as a liability that

amortizes over the estimated royalty payn
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period. As a result of this liability accountingiem though the royalties from UCB and Roche arettedhdirectly to the purchaser of
these royalty interests starting in the secondtquaf 2012, we will continue to record revenuetfogse royalties
(2) Basic and diluted net loss per share is based thgoweighted average number of common shares odista

The following discussion contains forward-lookitigtsments that involve risks and uncertainties. &etual results could differ
materially from those discussed here. Factors tmaild cause or contribute to such differences idellbut are not limited to, those discussed
in this section as well as factors described in fPaltem 1A — Risk Factors.”

Item 7. Managemen's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition drResults of Operation
Overview
Strategic Direction of Our Business

We are a biopharmaceutical company developing elipg of drug candidates that utilize our PEGylatimd advanced polymer
conjugate technology platforms, which are desigonezhable the development of new molecular entitiastarget known mechanisms of
action. Our current proprietary pipeline is compd®f drug candidates across a number of therapargas including oncology, pain, anti-
infectives, and immunology. Our research and degraknt activities involve small molecule drugs, jegd and other biologic drug candida
We create innovative drug candidates by using ocopnetary advanced polymer conjugate technologresexpertise to modify the chemical
structure of pharmacophores to create new moleeuldties. Polymer chemistry is a science focusethe synthesis or bonding of polymer
architectures with drug molecules to alter the praps of a molecule. Additionally, we may utiliestablished pharmacologic targets to
engineer a new drug candidate relying on a comioinaf the known properties of these targets arrcpooprietary polymer chemistry
technology and expertise. Our drug candidates esigded to improve the overall benefits and usearug for patients by improving the
metabolism, distribution, pharmacokinetics, pharoggnamics, half-life and/or bioavailability of dreigOur objective is to apply our advanced
polymer conjugate technology platform to create dewg candidates in multiple therapeutic areasdtdtess large potential markets.

In 2014, we achieved the first approval of onewfproprietary drug candidates, MOVANTIK (previoyseferred to as naloxegol and
NKTR-118), under a global license agreement with Astreeca. MOVANTIK™ is an oral peripherally-acting opi@ntagonist, for the
treatment of opioid-induced constipation, or OIGjde effect caused by chronic administration espription opioid pain medicines.
MOVANTIK ™was developed using our oral small moleepblymer conjugate technology and we advancedithig through the completion
of Phase 2 clinical studies prior to licensingitstraZeneca. On September 16, 2014, the UnigSFood and Drug Administration, or
FDA, approved MOVANTIK™ as the first once-daily ogadripherally-acting mu-opioid receptor antago(itaMORA) medication for the
treatment of opioid-induced constipation (OIC)antult patients with chronic, non-cancer pain. Owrdeber 9, 2014, the European
Commission, or EC, granted Marketing AuthorisatioMOVENTIG ® (the naloxegol brand nhame in the Euayp&nion, or EU) as the first
once-daily oral PAMORA to be approved in the Euapé&nion (EU) for the treatment of OIC in adultipats who have had an inadequate
response to laxative(s). The EC’s approval applied! 28 European Union member countries plusalegland Norway. On January 23, 2015,
the DEA published the final rule in the Federal Ry, effective immediately on the date it waslmled, removing naloxegol and its salts
from the schedules of the Controlled SubstancesAsttaZeneca is planning the commercial launchlOVANTIK ™in the United States la
in the first quarter of 2015 and MOVENTIG in theead half of 2015. Given the significant milestomaesl royalty opportunity for us
associated with MOVANTIK" under our AstraZenecallise agreement, the level of sales achieved by 2atieca for MOVANTIK™ will
have a significant impact on our operating resaitd financial condition over the coming years.
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Etirinotecan pegol (also known as NKTR-102), issatrgeneration topoisomerase | (topo 1) inhibitor piefary drug candidate, curren
being evaluated in a Phase 3 open-label, randomizelicenter clinical study as a single-agentalpgrfor women with metastatic breast
cancer. This Phase 3 clinical study, which we ttelBEACON study (BrEAst Cancer Outcomes with NKT82), has completed enrollmen
approximately 850 women with locally recurrent cetastatic breast cancer who have had prior tredtwiéimanthracycline, taxane and
capecitabine in either the adjuvant or metastatittrgy. Patients in the BEACON study were randoihiae a 1:1 basis to receive either single-
agent etirinotecan pegol or a single agent of mhgsis choice. The primary endpoint of the BEACQNdy is overall survival, and secondary
endpoints include progression-free survival aneadidje tumor response rate. We have now achievedehessary number of events in the
BEACON study to assess the overall survival endpanad certain other topline data. We are now cotidgdlinded data verification activities
and currently plan to unblind and announce thelitopdata from the BEACON Study in March 2015 HéBEACON study is successful and
etirinotecan pegol is ultimately approved by theArDur current plan would be to market and setimttecan pegol in the United States
ourselves for the FDA approved metastatic breasteraindication and license the commercial righitsiole of the U.S. to one or more
collaboration partners. As a result, the outcomteBEACON study will have a significant impactwhether or not we invest significant
capital in building and maintaining a sales andkatorganization for the U.S. that we currentlynad have in place.

NKTR-181 is a novel mu-opioid analgesic drug caatkdor chronic pain conditions. NKTE81 has been designed to have a slow re
entry into the brain, which is expected to redineedttractiveness of the molecule as a targetudeabnd reduce other serious central nervous
system-related side effects, such as sedationesmmitatory depression, which are commonly assatiatth standard opioid therapies. Its
potential differentiating properties are inheremit$ molecular design and, as a new moleculacttre, NKTR-181's potential abuse deterrent
properties do not rely on a formulation approactommon method used with opioid drugs to reduce dsse of conversion into abusable
forms of an opioid. In May 2012, the FDA designatiTR-181 as a Fast Track development programhertteatment of moderate to severe
chronic pain. In June 2013, we announced reswta & human abuse liability study that demonstritatiNKTR-181 had highly statistically
significant lower “drug liking” scores and reducéeeling high” scores as compared to oxycodondlatases tested (p<0.0001). In Septembel
2013, we announced topline results from a Phadimi2at study of NKTR-181 in patients with moderatesevere chronic pain from
osteoarthritis of the knee. In this study, NKTR-Y&¥formed as expected as an opioid analgesicghout the study. However, patients who
were randomized to the placebo arm following a ditugtion phase did not show the expected incr@apain scores observed in similar
enriched enrollment, randomized withdrawal studidss lack of a placebo rebound in the maintengi@se of the trial caused the Phase 2
study to miss the primary endpoint.

In October 2014, we had an end-of-Phase 2 meatingKTR-181 with the FDA, which included discussions oftaer considerations fi
the Phase 3 clinical study program. In this Phagmgram for NKTR-181 we plan to include two sepafficacy studies in patients with
chronic lower back pain, a long-term safety stuahd a human abuse liability study. We enrolledfitis¢ patient in this first Phase 3 study on
February 24, 2015. In this first efficacy study, plan to enroll approximately 416 patients in anadred enrollment randomized withdrawal
design which will include a qualifying screeningipe, an open-label titration period where NKTR1 is given to all patients, followed by a
week double-blind randomized period where subjesdtde randomized on a 1:1 basis to receive eitti€lTR-181 or placebo. The study
design also includes a single interim analysistnple size reassessment which will be conductethligdependent data monitoring
committee. The primary endpoint will be change &ekly pain score in the double-blind randomizedqgerelative to the baseline pain score
and the key secondary endpoints will include pewrggm of responders (>30% reduction in pain scard)patient impression of change. We
plan to have further interactions with the FDA ittafize the study design for the other clinicalds¢s planned for the Phase 3 program. Over
the next two to three years, the NKTR-181 clinaaVelopment program will require a substantial strreent.

We have a collaboration with Baxter Healthcare ¢Bgxto identify and develop PEGylated drug caatid with the objective of
providing new long-acting therapies for hemophiléients. Under the terms of this collaboration,ane providing our PEGylation technology
and expertise and Baxter is responsible for all

55



Table of Contents

clinical development. The first drug candidatehis tcollaboration is BAX 855, an investigationalfended half-life recombinant factor VIII
(rFVIII) treatment for hemophilia A based on ADVATEntihemophilic Factor (Recombinant)]. In DecemBé4, Baxter announced that it
filed a biologic license application with the FDArfBAX 855. This regulatory submission was basegasitive results from a prospective,
global, multi-center, open-label, two-arm Phaséudys of BAX 855 in 137 previously treated patierBsxxter reported that the results
demonstrated that BAX 855 met its primary endpuirthe control and prevention of bleeding episaales routine prophylaxis for patients v
were 12 years or older.

We also have two significant drug development paiogy with Bayer. This first is a collaboration tordlp BAY41-6551 (Amikacin
Inhale, formerly known as NKTR-061), which is ahahed solution of amikacin, an aminoglycoside aatib. We originally developed the
liquid aerosol inhalation platform and the NKTR-0#ilig candidate and entered into a collaboratisaeagent with Bayer to further advance
the drug candidate’s development and potential cernialization. Bayer is currently enrolling patieim a Phase 3 clinical study for Amikacin
Inhale. Bayer is conducting this study under a &p&rotocol Assessment process agreed to witlrB. The second is our significant
royalty rights in Cipro DPI (Cipro Dry Powder Inka] previously called Cipro Inhale) program withyBathat we transferred to Novartis as
part of a 2008 asset divestiture transaction. Igust 2012, Bayer initiated a global Phase 3 prograited RESPIRE for the Cipro DPI product
candidate in patients with non-cystic fibrosis loiectasis. These programs represent a signiffotunte economic opportunity for us.

While the approved drugs and clinical developmeagmms described above are key elements of theefgticcess of our company, we
believe it is critically important that we contintiemake substantial investments in our earlieges@rug candidate pipeline. We have several
drug candidates in earlier stage clinical develapnoe being explored in research that we are pregao advance into the clinic in future
years. We also have additional proprietary precdihand clinical drug candidates in research aneldpment. We have an ongoing Pha
clinical development program for NKTR-171, a newdison channel blocker being developed as a poteortéltherapy for the treatment of
peripheral neuropathic pain. This year we plandwaace NKTR-214, an engineered immunostimulatotglipe being developed for the
treatment of solid tumors, into a Phase 1 clingtatly. NKTR-214 is engineered to selectively a¢éva-2 receptors on cytotoxic T cells that
kill tumor cells, with relatively low affinity fotL-2 receptors on regulatory T cells that dampemnithmune response to tumors. We are also
advancing numerous other drug candidates in piealidevelopment in the areas of cancer immunofhenaain and other therapeutic
indications. While we believe that our substaritigestment in research and development has thetote create significant value if one or
more of our drug candidates demonstrate positivécal results, receive regulatory approval in onenore major markets and achieve
commercialization success, drug research and dawvelot is an inherently uncertain process and tiseaehigh risk of failure at every stage
prior to approval and the timing and outcome aiickl trial results are extremely difficult to pied Clinical development successes and
failures can have a disproportionate positive @atige impact on our scientific and medical prospefinancial condition and prospects, res
of operation and market value.

Historically, we have entered into a number ofdise and supply contracts under which we manufattame supplied our proprietary
PEGylation reagents on a cost-plus or fixed prizgid Our current strategy is to manufacture apglglPEGylation reagents to support our
proprietary drug candidates or our third-party &lotirators where we have a strategic development@mdhercialization relationship or where
we derive substantial economic benefit.

Key Developments and Trends in Liquidity and CapiResources

As of December 31, 2014, we estimated that we hbghat twelve months of working capital to fund aurrent business plans. At
December 31, 2014, we had approximately $262.8anilh cash and investments in marketable secsyitiewhich $25.0 million was
restricted in relation to our 12.0% senior securets, and $151.8 million in indebtedness. Thebtetiness includes $125.0 million in
aggregate principal amount of
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12.0% senior secured notes due July 15, 2017 Xoludes our long-term liability relating to the saif future royalties under the Purchase anc
Sale Agreement with RPI Finance Trust. As is furtfescribed in Note 7 to our Consolidated FinanBtatements, this royalty obligation
liability will not be settled in cash.

Results of Operations
Years Ended December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012
Revenue (in thousands, except percentages)

Percentag: Percentage

Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/

Year Ended December 31 (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease

2014 vs. 2013 vs. 2014 vs. 2013 vs.

2014 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Product sales $ 25,15.  $ 44,84¢  $35,39¢  $(19,699H $ 9,44 (49)% 27%
Royalty revenut 32¢ 1,14¢ 4,87¢ (819) (3,726) (71)% (76)%
Non cash royalty revenue related to sal

future royalties 21,93: 22,05¢ 10,79: (118 11,26 (2)% >10(%
License, collaboration and other revel 153,28 80,87 30,127 72,417 50,74¢ 90% >100%
Total revenue $200,70° $148,92: $81,19: $ 51,78¢ $67,73( 35% 83%

Our revenue is derived from our collaboration agreets, under which we may receive product salesmaw, royalties, license fees,
milestone payments or contract research paymestemie is recognized when there is persuasive msédiat an arrangement exists, deli
has occurred, the price is fixed or determinahié, @ollection is reasonably assured. The amounpfsbnt fees received under our license anc
collaboration agreements allocated to continuinggabions, such as manufacturing and supply comemitis, are recognized ratably over our
expected performance period under the arrangersra.result, there may be significant variationthia timing of receipt of cash payments
and our recognition of revenue. We make our beshate of the period over which we expect to fuliilr performance obligations. Given the
uncertainties in research and development colldioois significant judgment is required by us téedmine the performance periods.

Product sales

Product sales include fixed price and cost-plusufeiuring and supply agreements with our collationgpartners and result from the
receipt of firm purchase orders from those partneng timing of shipments is based solely on thealed and requirements of our
collaboration partners and is not ratable throug o year.

Product sales decreased for the year ended Dec&hp2014 compared to the year ended Decembel033B, @imarily as a result of
decreased product demand from a number of ourtmolidion partners. Product sales increased foyehe ended December 31, 2013 comp
to the year ended December 31, 2012 primarilyr@salt of a $9.0 million increase in product sa@esne of our collaboration partners.

We currently expect product sales to increase b2 compared to 2014 due to increased produdmt®fnom a number of our
collaboration partners.

Royalty revenue and non-cash royalty revenue rethte sale of future royalties

We receive royalty revenue from certain of ouradiration partners based on their net sales of @mwiah products. Royalty revenue
received in cash decreased during the year endeeniiieer 31, 2014 compared to the year ended Dece3hb2013 due primarily to decreases
in the underlying net sales of the applicable potsiu
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as well as the completion of the royalty term foegroduct. Royalty revenue decreased during theemded December 31, 2013 compared t
the year ended December 31, 2012 primarily asidtrethe sale of our rights to receive the roigaltfrom product sales of UCB’s CIMZIA
and Roche’s MIRCERA as is further described belRayalties from CIMZIA® and MIRCER& recognized aftbe royalty sale transaction
took effect are presented on a separate revenai@eéim entitled “Non-cash royalty revenue relatedale of future royalties.” AstraZeneca is
planning the commercial launch of MOVANTIK in theSJ late in the first quarter of 2015 and MOVENT#@ the EU in the second half of
2015. If sales of MOVANTIK" (and/or MOVENTI@ ) araitiated during 2015, we expect royalty revenueiezd in cash will increase in
2015 as compared to 2014 due to royalties we expeaetceive from net sales of MOVANTIK

In February 2012, we sold all of our rights to igeduture royalty payments on CIMZIA and MIRCERA As described in Note 7 to
our Consolidated Financial Statements, this roysdfg transaction has been recorded as a liathilittyamortizes over the estimated royalty
payment period. As a result of this liability acoting, even though the royalties from UCB and Roateeremitted directly to the purchaser of
these royalty interests, we will continue to recardenue for these royalties. We expect non-caghlties from net sales of CIMZIA and
MIRCERA®in 2015 to be consistent with 2014.

License, collaboration and other revenue

License, collaboration and other revenue inclutlesécognition of upfront payments and milestonanents received in connection w
our license and collaboration agreements and raiselduresearch and development expenses. The fdiedse, collaboration and other
revenue depends in part upon the estimated amtiotizaeriod of the upfront payments, the achievenoémilestones, the continuation of
existing collaborations, the amount of reimburseskarch and development work, and entering intoaulaboration agreements, if any.

License, collaboration and other revenue increésethe year ended December 31, 2014 comparecktpalr ended December 31, 2013
primarily as a result of the recognition in 2014lwé $35.0 million and $70.0 million milestone paymts received in October 2014 and
November 2013, respectively, from AstraZeneca @gsalt of the FD/'s approval of MOVANTIK™ in September 2014. In addit, we
recognized $8.0 million of milestones received EcBmber 2014 related to positive results from B&x®AX 855 Phase 3 study. These
increases in 2014 as compared to 2013 were pgrtiEiiet by the recognition in 2013 of a $25.0 mill payment from AstraZeneca achieve
September 2013 on the acceptance for review bigkih& of the MOVANTIK ™ regulatory approval application filed by AstraZeaes well a
the recognition in July 2013 of the remaining $8illion deferred revenue balance related to oueagrent with Affymax as a result of the
termination of that agreement. In addition, in AR013, we recognized a $10.0 million milestonei@edd upon the start of the Amikacin
Inhale Phase 3 clinical trial by Bayer.

License, collaboration and other revenue increésethe year ended December 31, 2013 comparecktpetr ended December 31, 2012
primarily as a result of the recognition of a $2fillion payment from AstraZeneca achieved in Seyiiter 2013, the recognition of the $10.0
million milestone achieved upon the start of theikamin Inhale Phase 3 clinical trial by Bayer inrA2013, and the recognition of the
remaining $6.7 million deferred revenue balancates to our agreement with Affymax as noted abbvaddition, we recognized $7.9 million
related to the delivery of additional quantitiesoof proprietary PEGylation reagent to Roche infthath quarter of 2013.

We expect license, collaboration and other revem@®15 will be significantly impacted by the outce and timing of AstraZeneca’s
launch of MOVANTIK™ as we are entitled to $140.0 lioih of development milestone payments due uporctimmercial launches of
MOVANTIK ™in the U.S. ($100.0 million) and in the B. ($40.0 million). If these activities occur in 2, our license, collaboration and other
revenue in 2015 will increase from 2014.
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The timing and future success of our drug develagrpeograms and those of our collaboration partasgssubject to a number of risks
and uncertainties. See “Part |, Iltem 1A — Risk Begtfor discussion of the risks associated witlh tomplex nature of our collaboration
agreements.

Revenue by geography

Revenue by geographic area is based on locatiomsrgfartners. The following table sets forth raxeby geographic area (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
United States $ 32,51« $ 42,53t $34,59:
Europe 168,19: 106,38t 46,60(
Total revenus $200,70° $148,92: $81,19:

The increase in revenue attributable to Europeantcies for the year ended December 31, 2014 cosdgarthe year ended
December 31, 2013 is primarily attributable to @ased milestone and royalty revenues from ouriegiguropean based collaboration
partners, including the recognition of the $105i0iom milestone payments from AstraZeneca desdriéleove. The increase in revenue
attributable to European countries for the yearedndecember 31, 2013 compared to the year endeghiiber 31, 2012 is primarily
attributable to increased milestone and royaltgnexes from our existing European based collaberat@tners, including the $25.0 million
milestone payment from AstraZeneca described above.

Cost of goods sold (in thousands, except percendage

Percentagt Percentagt
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
Year Ended December 31 (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease
2014 vs. 2013 vs. 2014 vs. 2013 vs.
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Cost of goods sold $28,53: $38,50¢ $30,42¢ $ (9,976) $ 8,081 (26)% 27%
Product gross profit (los: (3,38)) 6,331 4,971 (9,719 1,36¢ (>100% 27%

Product gross margi (13)% 14% 14%

Cost of goods sold decreased during the year eddedmber 31, 2014 compared to the year ended Deredh2013 primarily due to
the decrease in product sales of $19.7 milliomeytear ended December 31, 2014 compared to thegdad December 31, 2013. During the
year ended December 31, 2014, our gross profinggative. The manufacturing arrangement with onsuofcollaboration partners include
fixed price for proprietary pegylation reagent sakehich is less than the fully burdened manufaagucost for the reagent in 2014 and this
situation is expected to continue in future yeAssa result of decreased overall manufacturingmelin 2014 as compared to 2013 and given
the increase in the percentage of overall salebuathble to this partner, gross profit for the y@as negative. In addition to product sales frorm
the reagent, we also receive royalty revenues ftosncollaboration. In 2014, the royalty revenuenirthe collaboration exceeded the related
negative gross profit.

Cost of goods sold and product gross profit in@daturing the year ended December 31, 2013 compaurtée year ended December 31,
2012 primarily due to the $9.4 million increasenoduct sales in the year ended December 31, 28hared to the year ended December 31
2012. Product gross margin in the year ended DeeeBih 2013 was consistent with the year ended bkee31, 2012.

We expect product gross margin to continue to fiat in future periods depending on the level andahmanufacturing orders from
our customers due to the predominantly fixed casetassociated with our manufacturing activities.drently expect product gross margin
to increase in 2015 as compared to 2014 as a ke anticipated increase in product sales,elbag based on the anticipated product mix.
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Research and development expense (in thousandsgiqgercentages)

Percentagt Percentagt

Year Ended December 31 Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
(Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease
2014 vs. 2013 vs. 2014 vs. 2013 vs.
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Research and development expense $147,73:  $190,01(  $148,67*  $(42,27¢) $41,33¢ (22)% 28%

Research and development expense consists priméacdlinical study costs, direct costs of outsidegarch, materials, supplies, licenses
and fees as well as personnel costs (includingisaldenefits, and stock-based compensation).aResand development expense also
includes certain overhead allocations consistingupfport and facilities-related costs.

Research and development expense decreased ceiggar ended December 31, 2014 compared to thegydad December 31, 2013
primarily due to reduced activities on our ongoRttase 3 BEACON study for etirinotecan pegol asthdy progresses toward completion as
well as the completion of our Phase 2 clinical gtfod NKTR-181 in the third quarter of 2013. In atituh, during the year ended December 31
2013, we recorded a charge of $11.3 million resglfrom the settlement of a dispute with the Rede&ioundation of the State University of
New York related to our collaboration with Bayerdevelop inhaled amikaci

Research and development expense increased daerygar ended December 31, 2013 compared to thegdad December 31, 2012
primarily due to the Phase 3 BEACON clinical stuniyiated in December 2011, the NKTR-181 Phasedrfiadl study initiated in July 2012
and the $11.3 million settlement charge recorde2Diti3 noted above.

We utilize our employee and infrastructure resosi@gross multiple development and research progréinesfollowing table shows
expenses incurred for clinical and regulatory sarsj clinical supplies, and preclinical study suppoovided by third parties as well as direct
materials costs for each of our drug candidates.t&hle also presents other costs and overheadsting®of personnel, facilities and other
indirect costs (in thousands):

Csljnical Year Ended December 31
tudy
Status() 2014 2013 2012

Etirinotecan pegol (NKTR-102) (topoisomerase | Initur-polymer conjugate) Phase! ¢ 21,66( $ 44,66¢ $ 31,65(
BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale® Phase ! 14,41 26,71¢ 13,51:
NKTR-181 (mt-opioid analgesic molecule for chronic pa Phase ! 10,55¢ 22,95¢ 13,537
NKTR-171 (neuropathic pair Phase : 4,91z 3,63t 43z
NKTR-214 (cytokine immunostimulatory theray Preclinica 2,42 2,16: 1,851
Other product candidati Various 3,90¢ 5,42¢ 4,65¢
Total third party and direct materials ca 57,87t 105,56 65,63¢
Personnel, overhead and other c 75,69: 68,99: 68,78:
Stoclk-based compensation and deprecia 14,16" 15,45( 14,25¢
Research and development expe $147,73:  $190,01( $148,67!

(1) Clinical Study Status definitions are providedhee thart found in Part |, Item 1. Busine
(2) We partnered this program with Bayer Healthcare lith Bugust 2007. As part of the Novartis Pulmonasget Sale in 2008, we retair
an exclusive license to this technology for theadepment and commercialization of this drug cantgic
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We expect research and development expense t@geie 2015 as compared to 2014. In particula20itb, we are commencing Phas
clinical studies for NKTR-181. Over the next twotkwee years, we expect that the NKTR-181 clinisalelopment program will require a
substantial investment. In addition, we plan totoare to advance etirinotecan pegol in the PhaBEACON study for metastatic breast can
for which we expect the clinical study to contirtheough 2015. The clinical development costs ferBEEACON clinical study will continue to
be significant. We estimate that the total thirdpand direct material costs over the life of BEEACON study will be approximately
$85.0 million, of which $72.7 million was incurréisrough the end of 2014. We have also studied we bagoing studies being conducted for
etirinotecan pegol, including investigator-initidtelinical studies, in bevacizumab (Avastin)-remigthigh-grade glioma, colorectal cancer,
relapsed or refractory small-cell lung cancer, stetiic and recurrent non-small cell lung canced, @arian cancer. We are unable to estimate
the timing or costs to complete the clinical depehent for etirinotecan pegol across all the po&ttncology indications.

In addition to our NKTR-181 and etirinotecan pedelelopment activities, in 2015, we plan to cordito advance the development of
NKTR-171 and NKTR-214.

In addition, we plan to continue to make substaitizestments to support the clinical and commémianufacturing preparation and
scale-up for the nebulizer devices to supply Bégethe Amikacin Inhale program. Under our colladtizn agreement with Bayer, we are
responsible for all clinical and commercial suppfythe nebulizer devices for this drug candidate. 8 not expect to have any significant
future research and development costs associatkd@VANTIK ™or the MOVANTIK ™ fixed-dose combinatioproducts as AstraZeneca is
responsible for all further development and comiaéiration costs for these drug candidates.

In addition to our drug candidates that we plahawe in clinical development during 2015 and beyovel believe it is vitally important
to continue our substantial investment in a divgipeline of new drug candidates to continue tddbthie value of our drug candidate pipeline
and our business. Our discovery research orgaoizegtiidentifying new drug candidates by applying BEGylation technology platform to a
wide range of molecule classes, including smallaooles and large proteins, peptides and antiboaiesss multiple therapeutic areas. We
to continue to advance our most promising earlgaesh drug candidates into preclinical developrétit the objective to advance these early
stage research programs to human clinical studiestbe next several years.

Our expenditures on current and future preclingeal clinical development programs are subject tnamous uncertainties in timing and
cost to completion. In order to advance our drugdadates through clinical development, each druglchate must be tested in numerous
preclinical safety, toxicology and efficacy studi@ge then conduct clinical studies for our drugdidates that take several years to complete.
The cost and time required to complete clinicallsrimay vary significantly over the life of a cliai development program as a result of a
variety of factors, including but not limited to:

* the number of patients required for a given clihgtady design
 the length of time required to enroll clinical syuysharticipants
» the number and location of sites included in theichl studies

* the clinical study designs required by the healiherities (i.e. primary and secondary endpointeel$ as the size of the study needec
to demonstrate efficacy and safety outcom

* the potential for changing standards of care fertérget patient populatio
» the competition for patient recruitment from conifpet drug candidates being studied in the sanréazl setting:
 the costs of producing supplies of the product whatds needed for clinical trials and regulatoryraissions
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» the safety and efficacy profile of the drug canthg
* the use of clinical research organizations to aigsth the management of the trials; ¢
* the costs and timing of, and the ability to secapgrovals from government health authorit

Furthermore, our strategy includes the potentiariéring into collaborations with third partiesp@rticipate in the development and
commercialization of some of our drug candidatehsas those collaborations that we have alreadyplaied for MOVANTIK™ and
Amikacin Inhale. In these situations, the clinidavelopment program and process for a drug carelatat the estimated completion date will
largely be under the control of that third partyl anot under our control. We cannot forecast with degree of certainty which of our drug
candidates will be subject to future collaborationdiow such arrangements would affect our devetgmlans or capital requirements.

The risks and uncertainties associated with owgaieh and development projects are discussed mldyerf Item 1A — Risk Factors. As
a result of the uncertainties discussed above rever@able to determine with any degree of certatmyduration and completion costs of our
research and development projects, anticipated Isdimp dates or when and to what extent we wileree cash inflows from a collaboration
arrangement or the commercialization of a drug ichaid.

General and administrative expense (in thousands;ept percentages)

Percentage Percentage
Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/
Year Ended December 31, (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease
2014 vs. 2013 vs. 2014 vs. 2013 vs.
2014 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
General and administrative expense $40,92¢ $40,53: $41,61¢ $ 39¢ $ (1,082 1% 3)%

General and administrative expense includes thieof@ministrative staffing, business developmerdrketing, finance, and legal
activities. General and administrative expense eeasistent during the years ended December 31, 20148 and 2012. In 2015, we expect
general and administrative expenses to increaspa@d with 2014. In particular, if the BEACON studysuccessful and etirinotecan pegol is
ultimately approved by the FDA, our current planulgbbe to market and sell etirinotecan pegol inlinited States. We would expect to incur
significant costs related to these activities in2@nd future years.

Interest expense (in thousands except percentages)

Percentagt Percentagt

Increase/ Increase/ Increase/ Increase/

Year Ended December 31, (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease (Decrease

2014 vs. 2013 vs. 2014 vs. 2013 vs.

2014 2013 2012 2013 2012 2013 2012
Interest expense $17,86¢ $18,45: $15,48¢ $ (589 $ 2,96/ 3)% 19%
Non-cash interest expense on liability

related to sale of future royalti $20,88t¢ $22,30¢ $18,05" $(1,42) $ 4,252 (6)% 24%

Interest expense for the year ended December 34, @8creased marginally as compared to the yeadeddcember 31, 2013. The
increase in interest expense for the year endedrieer 31, 2013 compared to the year ended Dece3itb@012 is attributable to the interest
expense recorded on the senior secured notes wadigs 2012. On July 11, 2012, we issued $125.Bamibf 12% senior secured notes
maturing on July 15, 2017. In connection with tesuiance of senior secured notes in July 2012, tivede principal amount of $42.5 million
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of our $215.0 million in aggregate principal amoah8.25% convertible subordinated notes in exckéng$42.5 million in principal amount
of 12% senior secured notes. We repaid the renmBili72.4 million in principal amount of convertitdabordinated notes in full at maturity
September 28, 2012. We expect interest expensetease slightly in 2015 compared to 2014.

Non-cash interest expense on the liability relateshle of future royalties for the year ended Daner 31, 2014 decreased marginally as
compared to the year ended December 31, 2013 dhe tiecrease in 2014 of the average balance oébed liability. The increase in non-
cash interest expense on liability related to se&feiture royalties for the year ended December2B1,3 compared to the year ended
December 31, 2012 is attributable to the timinghefroyalty sale transaction that we completeddih?22 On February 24, 2012, we sold all of
our rights to receive future royalty payments oMZIA ®and MIRCERA® in exchange for $124.0 million. Alescribed in Note 7 to our
Consolidated Financial Statements, this royaltg s@nsaction has been recorded as a liabilityahatrtizes over the estimated royalty
payment period as CIMZI&R and MIRCERA royalties aeenitted directly to the purchaser. We impute iastion the transaction and record
interest expense at the effective interest ratégtwive currently estimate to be approximately 171¥ere are a number of factors that could
materially affect the estimated interest rate,artipular, the amount and timing of royalty paynsefnom future net sales of CIMZIA and
MIRCERA @, and we will assess this estimate on a periodicsbasi a result, future interest rates could diignificantly and any such chan
in interest rate will be adjusted prospectivelyléds we adjust our estimated interest rate, weatxpm-cash interest expense on the liability
related to sale of future royalties during the fidhr of 2015 to be consistent with 2014.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

We have financed our operations primarily througvenue from product sales, royalties and researdidavelopment contracts, as well
as public offering and private placements of delot equity securities. At December 31, 2014, wedgutoximately $262.8 million in cash and
investments in marketable securities, of which §2billion was restricted as required by our 12%@esecured notes, and $151.8 million in
indebtedness. The indebtedness includes $125.i@miifi aggregate principal amount of 12.0% sengaused notes due July 15, 2017, but
excludes our long-term liability related to theesaf future royalties. As is further described ioté&l7 to our Consolidated Financial Statement:
this royalty obligation liability will not be se#étl in cash.

As of December 31, 2014, we estimated that we hbghat twelve months of working capital to fund aurrent business plans. We
expect the clinical development of our proprietdryg candidates, including etirinotecan pegol, Aawik Inhale, NKTR-181, and NKTR-171,
will require significant investment in order to ¢mue to advance in clinical development with tligeative of entering into a collaboration
partnership or obtaining regulatory approval. Hoerewe have no credit facility or any other sourcesommitted capital. In the past we have
received a number of significant payments fromatmration agreements and other significant traiseatin the future we expect to receive
royalties from commercial sales of products suchM@/ANTIK ™ and BAX 855 (if approved) and substamht@yments from future
collaboration transactions if our later stage clhidevelopment programs such as etirinotecan mgbNKTR-181 have positive clinical
outcomes. Our current business plan is also sutmesgnificant uncertainties and risks as a resijlamong other factors, the sales levels of
products for which we are entitled to royaltiestsas MOVANTIK™ , clinical program outcomes, whethwhen and on what terms we are
able to enter into new collaboration transacti@xpenses being higher than anticipated, unplanxeehses, cash receipts being lower than
anticipated, and the need to satisfy contingebtliiees, including litigation matters and indemin#tion obligations.

The availability and terms of various financingeattatives substantially depend on many factorsidint the success or failure of drug
development programs in our pipeline, includingiedtecan pegol, BAX 855, Amikacin Inhale, NKTR-18KTR-171, NKTR214, as well a
other early stage development programs. The antitijadind terms of financing alternatives and aojufe significant payments from existing
or new collaborations depend on the positive outcofrongoing or planned clinical studies, whetherow our partners
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are successful in obtaining health authority appl®in major markets, and if approved, the comna¢rticcess of these drugs, as well as
general capital market conditions. We will pursagious financing alternatives, including equity atebt, as needed to continue to fund our
research and development activities and to funeéxipansion of our business as appropriate.

Due to the potential for adverse developmentseanctiedit markets in 2015 and thereafter, we magrgapce reduced liquidity with
respect to some of our investments in marketaldergees. These investments are generally helddturity, which, in accordance with our
investment policy, is less than two years. Howeiféhe need arises to liquidate such securitidereematurity, we may experience losses on
liquidation. At December 31, 2014, the average timmaturity of the investments held in our poiitiakas approximately five months and the
maturity of any single investment did not exceed gear. To date we have not experienced any lityuiskues with respect to these securities,
but if such issues arise, we may be required td Boine, or all, of these securities until matuhtie believe that, even allowing for potential
liquidity issues with respect to these securities, remaining cash and investments in marketaldlergies will be sufficient to meet our
anticipated cash needs for at least the next twalweths.

Cash flows from operating activities

Cash flows used in operating activities for theryaaded December 31, 2014 totaled $142.0 millidmnictvincludes $199.0 million of net
operating cash uses as well as $15.0 million faarest payments on our senior secured notes, lhadftset by the receipt of $72.0 million of
milestones from collaboration agreements. Duriregytear ended December 31, 2014, we recognizedrasue a $70.0 million payment made
to us from AstraZeneca in November 2013, which prasiously recorded in the line item “Liability e¢kd to receipt of refundable milestone
payment” on our Consolidated Balance Sheet at Dbeefil, 2013. We expect that cash flows used inabpg activities, excluding upfront
and milestone payments received, if any, will imsein 2015 as a result of increased spending oproprietary research and development
programs, including the initiation of the PhasdiBical program for NKTR-181.

Cash flows used in operating activities for therysaded December 31, 2013 totaled $38.5 millionctwimcludes $158.3 million of net
operating cash uses as well as $15.2 million farést payments on our senior secured notes, hadféset by the receipt of $135.0 million 1
milestones from collaboration agreements.

Cash flows used in operating activities for theryaaded December 31, 2012 totaled $129.8 millidmictvincludes $148.3 million of net
operating cash uses, partially offset by the reac#i$18.5 million from collaboration agreement&tperating cash uses also include $6.7
million in interest payments on our convertible sudinated notes retired in full on September 28,220

Cash flows from investing activities

We paid $10.0 million, $4.1 million, and $10.6 nah to purchase property and equipment in the yelded December 31, 2014, 2013,
and 2012, respectively. We expect our capital edjperes in 2015 to increase as compared to 20Mdagpilly as a result of our plan to continue
to build commercial manufacturing capacity for Ardin Inhale devices.

Cash flows used in financing activities

On January 28, 2014, we completed the issuancsaadf 9,775,000 shares of our common stock mbdigoffering with total proceec
of approximately $117.2 million after deducting thederwriting commissions and discounts of apprataty $7.5 million. In addition, we
incurred approximately $0.6 million in legal andcaanting fees, filing fees, and other costs in emtion with this offering.
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On February 24, 2012, we sold all of our rightseceive future royalty payments on CIMZfA and MIRRA®in exchange for $124.0
million. As part of this sale, we incurred approzimly $4.4 million in transaction costs. During fears ended December 31, 2014 and 2013
we made payments of $7.0 million and $3.0 millicespectively, to the purchaser of these royalteesabse certain minimum MIRCERA net
sales thresholds were not met. The remaining $120l&n royalty obligation liability at Decemberl32014 will not be settled in cash.

On July 11, 2012, we issued $125.0 million of ses&cured notes maturing on July 15, 2017. Asgfatis transaction, we incurred
approximately $4.5 million in issuance costs. Inmection with this transaction, we retired the gipal amount of $42.5 million of our $215.0
million in aggregate principal amount of convertilsiubordinated notes in exchange for $42.5 millioprincipal amount of the senior secured
notes. In addition, $25.0 million of the proceeds the senior secured notes issuance is requirkd maintained in a restricted account until
July 1, 2015. On September 28, 2012, we repaidetmaining $172.4 million in principal amount of tbenvertible subordinated notes.

We received proceeds from issuance of common s&ated to our employee option and stock purchisesmpf $47.0 million,
$8.2 million, and $4.1 million in the years endegicBmber 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012, respectively.

Contractual Obligations (in thousands)

Payments Due by Perioc

<=1Yr 2-3Yrs 4-5Yrs

Total 2015 2016-2017 2018201¢ 20204
Obligations @
12% Senior secured notes due July 2017, includiteyest $170,00( $15,00( $155,00( $ — $—
Operating lease® 25,66: 4,75( 9,92¢ 10,53 452
Capital leases and other financing, including ies¢® 16,65( 7,13: 8,60z 91¢€ —
Purchase commitmen® 16,92: 16,92: — — —
Litigation settlements, including intere 3,00( 1,00( 2,00¢ — —

$232,23¢ $44,80! $175,53: $11,44; $452

(1) The above table does not include certain comanrits and contingencies which are discussed in 8lofdtem 8. Financial Statements
and Supplementary Dat

(2) In November 2010, we moved into our Mission Bagility, which includes our corporate headquarterd a research and development
center. Under the terms of the sublease we eniet@evith Pfizer Inc. on September 30, 2009 for khission Bay Facility, we began
making non-cancelable lease payments in 2014. {iblease is discussed in Note 6 of Item 8. Finar®talements and Supplementary
Data.

(3) These amounts primarily result from capitakkeabligations arising from our office space leats201 Industrial Road in San Carlos,
California. In November 2010, we ceased use ofgh&ce as a result of the relocation of all of@alifornia functions to our Mission B,
Facility. We have subleased all of the San Carbusli#y. This is further discussed in Note 6 ofitd. Financial Statements and
Supplementary Data. In addition, these amountsidiecbur obligation to purchase manufacturing eqeipnsupporting our Amikacin
Inhale program, which is further discussed in Nbt#f Item 8. Financial Statements and Supplemeraitg.

(4) Substantially all of this amount was subjecop@n purchase orders as of December 31, 2014viratissued under existing contracts.
This amount does not represent any minimum conteactination liabilities for our existing contrac
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Off Balance Sheet Arrangements
We do not utilize off-balance sheet financing agements as a source of liquidity or financing.

Critical Accounting Policies

The preparation and presentation of financial states in conformity with U.S. Generally Acceptedcaanting Principles (GAAP)
requires management to make judgments, estimatkassumptions that affect the reported amountsssta and liabilities and disclosure of
contingent assets and liabilities at the date effithancial statements and the reported amountsvehues and expenses during the reporting
period.

We base our estimates on historical experienceandrious other assumptions that we believe teeasonable under the circumstan
the results of which form our basis for making jotnts about the carrying value of assets andiligsithat are not readily apparent from
other sources, and evaluate our estimates on asirangasis. Actual results may differ materiallgrfr those estimates under different
assumptions or conditions. We have determinedftiidahe periods in this report, the following acating policies and estimates are critical in
understanding our financial condition and resultewr operations.

Revenue Recognition

License, collaboration and other research revesnueciognized based on the facts and circumstarfi@egb contractual agreement and
includes amortization of upfront fees. We defeome under contractual agreements when we haveefutiligations that indicate that a
separate earnings process has not been complétec@niount of upfront fees and other payments redaimder our license and collaboration
agreements that are allocated to our continuingatibns are recognized ratably over our expecertbpmance period under each
arrangement. Management makes its best estim#te gieriod over which we expect to fulfill our parhance obligations, which may include
technology transfer assistance, research and gewelat activities, or manufacturing activities thgbithe completion of clinical development
or the termination or expiration of the collabovatagreement. Given the complexities and uncemgsintf collaboration arrangements,
significant judgment is required by managementei@dnine the duration of the performance period.

As of December 31, 2014, we had $21.4 million deded upfront fees related to two collaborationeggnents that include research anc
development obligations that are being amortizest 4 to 20 years, or an average of approximai@lyehrs. For our collaboration
agreements, our performance obligations may spalif¢éhof the agreement. For these, the shortestoreable period is the end of the
development period (estimated to be 4 to 8 yeard}lae longest period is the contractual life & #greement, which is generally 10-12 years
from the first commercial sale. Given the statatigrobability of drug development success in tloegharmaceutical industry, drug
development programs have only a 5% to 10% proipabil reaching commercial success. If we had deired a longer or shorter
amortization period was appropriate, our annualariffee amortization for these agreements couldsdew as $2.0 million or as high as
$11.0 million as compared to the $2.1 million remiagd in the year ended December 31, 2014.

As of December 31, 2014, we also had $78.4 miltibdeferred upfront fees related to seven licemsmufacturing and supply
agreements that are being amortized over periots & to 14 years. Our performance obligationstesé agreements may include technolog
transfer assistance and/or bagkmanufacturing and supply services for a spetifieriod of time; therefore, the time estimateddmplete th
performance obligations related to licenses iseeitipecified or is much shorter than the collabonahgreements. We may experience dela
the execution of technology transfer plans, whigymesult in a longer amortization period for apptile agreements.
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Our original estimates are periodically evaluatedetermine if circumstances have caused the gssni@a change and if so, amortization
of revenue is adjusted prospectively.

In addition, at the inception of each new multiplement arrangement or the material modificatioaroéxisting multiple-element
arrangement, we allocate arrangement considerttiah units of accounting based on the relativitrgeprice method, generally based on our
best estimate of selling price (ESP). The objeabVESP is to determine the price at which we wdrddsact a sale if the product or service
was sold on a staralone basis. We determine ESP for the elementaricalaboration arrangements by considering migltiactors including
but not limited to, technical complexity of the flsmance obligation and similarity of elementshose performed under previous
arrangements. Since we apply significant judgmeiriiving at the ESPs, any material changes wsigldificantly affect the allocation of the
total consideration to the different elements afdtiple element arrangement.

Clinical Trial Accruals

We record accruals for the estimated costs of tical study activities performed by third parti@e financial terms of these
agreements are subject to negotiation, vary frontraot to contract and may result in uneven payrfiews to our vendors. Payments under
the contracts depend on factors such as the achenteof certain events, successful enrollment Gépts, and completion of portions of the
clinical trial or similar conditions. We generaligcrue costs associated with the start-up andtieggrhases of the clinical studies ratably ove
the estimated duration of the start-up and repgmpimases. We generally accrue costs associatedheitieatment phase of clinical studies
based on the total estimated cost of the treatpieade on a per patient basis and we expense tipaemt cost ratably over the estimated
patient treatment period based on patient enrolirimetine studies. In specific circumstances, siuefoacertain time-based costs, we recognize
clinical trial expenses using a methodology thatteesider to be more reflective of the timing o$tsoincurred. Advance payments for goods
or services that will be used or rendered for ftesearch and development activities are capthbs prepaid expenses and recognized as
expense as the related goods are delivered oeltied services are performed. We base our esmatéhe best information available at the
time. However, additional information may becomaikable to us which may allow us to make a moraigaie estimate in future periods. In
this event, we may be required to record adjustsnentesearch and development expenses in futviedpavhen the actual level of activity
becomes more certain. Such increases or decreasestiare generally considered to be changediinases and will be reflected in research
and development expenses in the period first ifledtiDuring the year ended December 31, 2014,egerded a reduction related to prior
periods of approximately $4.7 million to our resdaand development expenses primarily related t@eacon Phase 3 clinical trial for
etirinotecan pegol.

Stock-Based Compensation

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model fmterespective grant to determine the estimated/&ie of stock options on the date
of grant (grant date fair value) and common stagicpased under our Employee Stock Purchase PIdPRESVe expense the estimated fair
value of each award, as adjusted by the estimaséarical forfeiture rate, ratably over the expelcservice period of the award. The Black-
Scholes option pricing model requires the inputighly subjective assumptions. These variablesudws| but are not limited to, our stock price
volatility over the term of the awards, and actaadl projected employee stock option exercise bermavBecause our employee stock options
have characteristics significantly different fronose of traded options, and because changes sulfjective input assumptions can materially
affect fair value estimates, in management’s opinibe existing models may not provide a reliablgle measure of the fair value of our
employee stock options or common stock purchasddruwur ESPP. In addition, management continuakgsses the assumptions and
methodologies used to calculate the estimated/édire of stock-based compensation. Circumstancgschenge and additional data may
become available over time, which could resulthiarges to the assumptions and methodologies, aiuth whuld materially impact our fair
value determination, as well as our stock-basedoemsation expense.
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In addition, for awards that vest upon the achiexenof performance milestones, we estimate thengeperiod based on our evaluation
of the probability of achievement of each respectiilestone and the related estimated date of aeimient.

Non-cash Interest Expense on Liability Related tal& of Future Royalties

In February 2012, we sold all of our rights to igeduture royalty payments from sales of the CIMZland MIRCERA® drug products
marketed by UCB and Roche, respectively. Althoughane required to make payments to the purchagd) (Rly in certain situations,
including the event of our breach of a represemiativarranty or covenant in the Purchase and Sgieeinent that gives rise to a liability in
accordance with the terms and conditions of suckeagent, this royalty sale transaction was recoedeal liability (Royalty Obligation) that v
will amortize using the interest method over thinested life of the Purchase and Sale Agreement Aesult, we impute interest on the
transaction and record interest expense at theaisti interest rate. Our estimate of the intestunder the agreement is based on the ar
of royalty payments to be received by RPI overlifieeof the arrangement and payments we are regjtirenake to RPI under the agreement.
We will periodically assess the expected royaltyrpants to RPI from UCB and Roche using a combinatihistorical results and forecasts
from market data sources. To the extent such patgmaea greater or less than our initial estimatabl®timing of such payments is materially
different than our original estimates, we will ppestively adjust the amortization of the Royaltyligdtion. There are a number of factors that
could materially affect the amount and timing ofatty payments from CIMZIA& and MIRCERA , most of igh are not within our control.
Such factors include, but are not limited to, chaggtandards of care, the introduction of commefiroducts, manufacturing or other delays,
biosimilar competition, intellectual property matteadverse events that result in health authariposed restrictions on the use of the drug
products, significant changes in foreign exchamgesras the royalties remitted to RPI are made$ dbllars (USD) while significant portions
of the underlying sales of CIMZIA and MIRCERA arade in currencies other than USD, and other evmrdgcumstances that result in
reduced royalty payments from CIMZIA and MIRCERAall, of which would result in a reduction of non-basyalty revenue and non-cash
interest expense over the life of the Royalty Gdtlign. Conversely, if sales of CIMZIA and MIRCERAreaigher than expected, non-cash
royalty revenue and non-cash interest expense vasitdbe greater over the term of the Royalty Gibiagn. If we had determined that the
interest rate used in 2014 should have been omem@ge point higher than our current estimaterét,lthe non-cash interest expense
recognized in the year ended December 31, 2014dAwie increased by $1.3 million.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsf8q&ASB) issued guidance codified in ASC 6B&venue Recognition — Revenue
from Contracts with Custome, which amends the guidance in former ASC @&yenue Recognitioand is effective for public companies
fiscal years beginning after December 15, 2016.av¢ecurrently evaluating the impact of the provisiof ASC 606.

In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Stanslafddate No. 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertaintiasud an Entity’s Ability to
Continue as a Going Concern (ASU 2014-15). ASU 203 4equires management to evaluate whether themghistantial doubt about an
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern &mgrovide related footnote disclosures. ASU 2@%54s effective in 2016 with early adoption
permitted. We do not believe the impact of adopf&1J 2014-15 on our consolidated financial statetsevill be significant.

ltem 7A. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About MagkRisk
Interest Rate and Market Risk

The primary objective of our investment activitisdo preserve principal while at the same time imé&ing yields without significantly
increasing risk. To achieve this objective, we Bhia liquid, high quality debt securities. Our @siments in debt securities are subject to
interest rate risk. To minimize the
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exposure due to an adverse shift in interest ratesnvest in short-term securities and maintaieéghted average maturity of one year or less

A hypothetical 50 basis point increase in interasts would result in an approximate $0.5 milli@titase, less than 1%, in the fair value
of our available-for-sale securities at December28L4. This potential change is based on sengitivialyses performed on our investment
securities at December 31, 2014. Actual results diffgr materially. The same hypothetical 50 bt increase in interest rates would have
resulted in an approximate $0.5 million decreasss than 1%, in the fair value of our availabledale securities at December 31, 2013.

As of December 31, 2014, we held $225.5 milliomedilable-for-sale investments, excluding moneykegfunds, with an average time
to maturity of five months. To date we have notarignced any liquidity issues with respect to thesaurities, but should such issues arise, w
may be required to hold some, or all, of these siesi until maturity. We believe that, even allogifor potential liquidity issues with respect
to these securities, our remaining cash, cash abpuits, and investments will be sufficient to maat anticipated cash needs for at least the
next twelve months. Based on our available cashoan@xpected operating cash requirements, wertlyréo not intend to sell these securi
prior to maturity and it is more likely than noathwe will not be required to sell these securitiefore we recover the amortized cost basis.
Accordingly, we believe there are no other-thamporary impairments on these securities and hatveecorded any provisions for impairmi

Foreign Currency Risk

The majority of our revenue, expense, and capitethpasing activities are transacted in U.S. dalldmswvever, since a portion of our
operations consists of research and developmeinitast outside the United States, we have entardtransactions in other currencies,
primarily the Indian Rupee, and we therefore atgexu to foreign exchange risk.

Our international operations are subject to rigkscal of international operations, including, Imat limited to, differing economic
conditions, changes in political climate, differitax structures, other regulations and restrictiansl foreign exchange rate volatility. We do
not utilize derivative financial instruments to nage our exchange rate risks.
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and Stockholders of NektaerBpeutics

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balsineets of Nektar Therapeutics as of Decemb&03¥% and 2013, and the related
consolidated statements of operations, comprehefs$s, stockholders’ equity (deficit) and cashvBdor each of the three years in the period
ended December 31, 2014. These financial stateraemthe responsibility of the Company’s managemeat responsibility is to express an
opinion on these financial statements based omodits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with thedstials of the Public Company Accounting OversighamBiqUnited States). Those standard:
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether the finastaieiments are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on Blasis, evidence supporting the amounts and digds in the financial statements. An a
also includes assessing the accounting princied and significant estimates made by managenenelaas evaluating the overall financial
statement presentation. We believe that our apditgide a reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the financial statements referr@alove present fairly, in all material respedts,¢onsolidated financial position of Nektar
Therapeutics at December 31, 2014 and 2013, ancbtieolidated results of its operations and ité ¢lsvs for each of the three years in the
period ended December 31, 2014, in conformity wit8. generally accepted accounting principles.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@’nited States), Nektar
Therapeutics’ internal control over financial regig as of December 31, 2014, based on critergbéished in Internal Control - Integrated
Framework issued by the Committee of Sponsoringa@imgtions of the Treadway Commission (2013 frantk)y@nd our report dated
February 25, 2015 expressed an unqualified opitfiereon.

/s ERNST & Y oUNGLLP

Redwood City, California
February 25, 2015
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Report of Independent Registered Public Accountingrirm
The Board of Directors and Shareholders of Nektarapeutics

We have audited Nektar Therapeutics internal cbotrer financial reporting as of December 31, 20daked on criteria established in Internal
Control - Integrated Framework issued by the Coremibf Sponsoring Organizations of the Treadway @a@sion (2013 framework), (“the
COSO criteria”). Nektar Therapeutics’ managememngésponsible for maintaining effective internal tohover financial reporting, and for its
assessment of the effectiveness of internal cootret financial reporting included in the accompgagyManagement’s Annual Report on
Internal Control over Financial Reporting. Our re@sgibility is to express an opinion on the compangternal control over financial reporting
based on our audit.

We conducted our audit in accordance with the stedsdof the Public Company Accounting Oversighti8d&/nited States). Those standards
require that we plan and perform the audit to abtaasonable assurance about whether effectivenalteontrol over financial reporting was
maintained in all material respects. Our auditudeld obtaining an understanding of internal corax@r financial reporting, assessing the risk
that a material weakness exists, testing and etinagutihe design and operating effectiveness ofiiralecontrol based on the assessed risk, anc
performing such other procedures as we considezedssary in the circumstances. We believe thaawdit provides a reasonable basis for ou
opinion.

A company’s internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassuregarding the reliability of financial
reporting and the preparation of financial statets:iéor external purposes in accordance with gelyesatepted accounting principles. A
company'’s internal control over financial reportingludes those policies and procedures that (ftajmeto the maintenance of records that, in
reasonable detail, accurately and fairly refleettitansactions and dispositions of the assetsafdmpany; (2) provide reasonable assurance
that transactions are recorded as necessary tatgeaparation of financial statements in accor@anith generally accepted accounting
principles, and that receipts and expenditureb®tbmpany are being made only in accordance witioaizations of management and
directors of the company; and (3) provide reasanabsurance regarding prevention or timely detectfainauthorized acquisition, use, or
disposition of the company’s assets that could lzaneterial effect on the financial statements.

Because of its inherent limitations, internal cohtiver financial reporting may not prevent or @¢taisstatements. Also, projections of any
evaluation of effectiveness to future periods atgexct to the risk that controls may become inadégjbecause of changes in conditions, or
the degree of compliance with the policies or pdoces may deteriorate.

In our opinion, Nektar Therapeutics maintainedalimaterial respects, effective internal contreéofinancial reporting as of December 31,
2014, based on the COSO criteria.

We also have audited, in accordance with the stasd# the Public Company Accounting Oversight Bo@snited States), the balance sheets
of Nektar Therapeutics as of December 31, 2014818, and the related consolidated statementseshtipns, comprehensive loss,
stockholders’ equity (deficit), and cash flows &ach of the three years in the period ended Dece8ih@014 of Nektar Therapeutics and our
report dated February 25, 2015 expressed an ufigdadipinion thereon.

/s ERNST & Y OUNGLLP

Redwood City, California
February 25, 2015
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS
(In thousands, except par value information)

December 31

2014 2013
ASSETS
Current asset:
Cash and cash equivale $ 12,36f $ 39,06
Restricted cas 25,00( —
Shor-term investment 225,45¢ 197,95¢
Accounts receivable, net of allowance of nil at &aber 31, 2014 and 20: 3,607 2,22¢
Inventory 12,95 13,45
Other current asse 8,817 517¢
Total current asse 288,20( 257,88:
Restricted cas — 25,00(
Property, plant and equipment, | 70,36¢ 66,97+
Goodwill 76,501 76,50:
Other asset 6,552 8,17(
Total asset $ 441,62 $ 434,52
LIABILITIES AND STOCKHOLDERS ' EQUITY (DEFICIT)
Current liabilities:
Accounts payabl $ 2,70% $ 9,11¢
Accrued compensatic 5,74¢ 14,25¢
Accrued expense 6,41¢ 6,24:
Accrued clinical trial expense 7,70¢ 16,90¢
Interest payabl 6,917 6,917
Capital lease obligations, current port 4,517 3,53¢
Deferred revenue, current porti 24 47: 23,66¢
Liability related to the sale of future royaltiesirrent portior — 7,00C
Other current liabilitie: 5,561 10,58
Total current liabilities 64,045 98,22:
Senior secured nott 125,00( 125,00(
Capital lease obligations, less current por 4,13¢ 8,04¢
Liability related to receipt of refundable mileseopaymen — 70,00(
Liability related to the sale of future royaltidsss current portio 120,47: 121,52
Deferred revenue, less current port 76,911 82,38«
Other lon¢-term liabilities 14,721 19,25¢
Total liabilities 405,28¢ 524,43(
Commitments and contingenci
Stockholder' equity (deficit):
Preferred stock, $0.0001 par value; 10,000 shart®azed, no shares designated, issued
or outstanding at December 31, 2014 and 2013, casply — —
Common stock, $0.0001 par value; 300,000 authoriz@tl,216 shares and 116,494 she
issued and outstanding at December 31, 2014 arf®] 28dpectively 13 11
Capital in excess of par val 1,824,19! 1,643,66!
Accumulated other comprehensive I (1,567) (1,187
Accumulated defici (1,786,309 (1,732,39)
Total stockholder equity (deficit) 36,33: (89,909
Total liabilities and stockholde’ equity (deficit) $ 441,62 $ 434,52

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS
(In thousands, except per share information)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Revenue

Product sale $ 25,15: $ 44,84¢ $ 35,39¢

Royalty revenut 32¢ 1,14¢ 4,87¢

Non-cash royalty revenue related to sale of future ltms 21,935 22,05t 10,79:

License, collaboration and other revel 153,28 80,87 30,12
Total revenue 200,70° 148,92: 81,19:
Operating costs and expens

Cost of goods sol 28,53: 38,50¢ 30,42¢

Research and developmt 147,73¢ 190,01( 148,67"

General and administrati\ 40,92 40,53: 41,61«

Impairment of lon-lived asset: — — 1,67¢
Total operating costs and expen 217,19. 269,05: 222,39.

Loss from operation (16,485 (120,13() (141,20)
Non-operating income (expenst

Interest expens (17,869 (18,457 (15,489

Non-cash interest expense on liability related to s&feiture royalties (20,88¢) (22,309 (18,057

Interest and other income (expense), 814 1,12¢ 3,29¢
Total nor-operating expense, n (37,947 (39,639 (30,24%)
Loss before (benefit) provision for income ta (54,42%) (159,769) (171,449
(Benefit) provision for income taxt (512) 2,24¢ 40€
Net loss $(53,916) $(162,01)) $(171,85Y
Basic and diluted net loss per sh $ (0.42) $ (140 $ (150
Weighted average shares outstanding used in congpliéisic and diluted net loss per st 126,87: 115,73: 114,82

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE LOSS
(In thousands)

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Net loss $(53,916) $(162,01) $(171,85Y
Other comprehensive income (los
Net unrealized (loss) gain on availe-for-sale investment (95) (26¢) 1,20¢
Income tax provision (benefit) on unrealized gainawailabl-for-sale investment — 47C (470
Net foreign currency translation (loss) g (291) (1,026 1C
Other comprehensive income (loss), net of (386€) (829 74€
Comprehensive los $(54,30:)  $(162,83) $(171,109

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY (DE FICIT)

(In thousands)

Accumulated Other

Capital in Total
Common Par Excess of Comprehensive Accumulated Stockholders’
Shares Value Par Value Income/(Loss) Deficit Equity (Deficit)
Balance at December 31, 2011 114,48t $ 11 $1,597,42 $ (1,109) $(1,398,52) $ 197,81
Shares issued under equity compensation | 774 — 4,117 — — 4,117
Stoclk-based compensatic — — 16,19¢ — — 16,19¢
Other comprehensive incor — — — 74€ — 74€
Net loss — — — — (171,85Y (171,85Y
Balance at December 31, 20 115,25¢ 11 1,617,74. (357) (1,570,381 47,01¢
Shares issued under equity compensation | 1,23t — 8,20¢ — — 8,20¢
Stoclk-based compensatic — — 17,70¢ — — 17,70¢
Other comprehensive lo — — — (829 — (829
Net loss — — — — (162,01) (162,01)
Balance at December 31, 20 116,49: 11 1,643,66! (2,18)) (1,732,39) (89,909
Sale of common stock, net of issuance costs of
$617 9,77¢ 1 116,53! — — 116,53t

Shares issued under equity compensation | 4,94 1 46,98: — — 46,98«
Stoclk-based compensatic — — 17,017 — — 17,017
Other comprehensive lo — — — (38¢€) — (386€)
Net loss — — — — (53,916 (53,916
Balance at December 31, 20 131,21¢ $ 13 $1,824,19! $ (1,567) $(1,786,30) $ 36,33

The accompanying notes are an integral part oktheasolidated financial statements.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS
(In thousands)

Cash flows from operating activities:
Net loss
Adjustments to reconcile net loss to net cash usegerating activities
Non-cash royalty revenue related to sale of future ltms
Non-cash interest expense on liability related to e&leiture royalties
Stoclk-based compensatic
Depreciation and amortizatic
Other nor-cash transactior
Changes in assets and liabiliti
Accounts receivable, n
Inventory
Other asset
Accounts payabl
Accrued compensatic
Accrued expense
Accrued clinical trial expense
Interest payabl
Deferred revenu
Liability related to receipt of refundable mileseopaymen
Other liabilities
Net cash used in operating activit
Cash flows from investing activities:
Maturities of investment
Purchases of investmer
Sales of investmen
Restricted cas
Purchases of property, plant and equipn

Net cash (used in) provided by investing activi

Cash flows from financing activities:
Payment of capital lease obligatic
Issuance of common stock, net of issuance ¢
(Repayment of) proceeds from sale of future rogsajtnet of $4.4 million of transaction costs
in 2012
Proceeds from issuance of senior secured notesf $dt5 million of issuance cos
Repayment of convertible subordinated n¢
Proceeds from shares issued under equity compengasins

Net cash provided by financing activiti

Effect of exchange rates on cash and cash equts:

Net (decrease) increase in cash and cash equis

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of

Cash and cash equivalents at end of "

Supplemental disclosure of cash flow information:

Cash paid for intere:

Cash paid for income tax

Supplemental schedule of nc-cash investing and financing activities
Property and equipment acquired through capitadeand other financir

Retirement of convertible subordinated notes irherge for senior secured no

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
$ (53,910 $(162,01) $(171,85))
(21,93) (22,055 (10,792
20,88¢ 22,30¢ 18,05’
17,01° 17,70¢ 16,19¢
12,92; 14,27t 14,50¢
(560) 664 2,52(
(1,37¢) 3,57¢ (867)
50C 4,817 (5,61%)
(3,299 6,425 6,031
(6,359 6,19¢ (122)
(8,508) 5,481 (4,032
272 (1,915 1,49t
(9,197 (59%) 5,547
— (16€) 5,27¢
(4,662 (12,399 (9,389
(70,000 70,00( —
(13,807 9,16¢ 3,27¢
(142,00() (38,527 (129,75
247,99! 319,18: 307,88
(297,25) (268,06 (164,66
21,66 2,881 5,37¢
— — (25,000
(9,976) (4,097 (10,587)
(37,57)) 49,90¢ 113,02(
(3,536) (2,997) (2,43))
116,53¢ — —
(7,000 (3,000 119,58t
— — 77,94(
— — (172,40
46,98: 8,20¢ 4,117
152,98: 2,21¢ 26,80:
(10€) 32 6C
(26,702) 13,63( 10,12¢
39,06’ 25,43, 15,31:
$ 12,368 $ 39,060 $ 25,43
$ 17,448 $ 1759C $ 9,62(
$ 964 $ 1014 $ 1,021
$ 5231 $ 2000 $ —
$ — $ — $ 42,54¢

The accompanying notes are an integral part ottheasolidated financial statements.
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NEKTAR THERAPEUTICS

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
December 31, 2014

Note 1 — Organization and Summary of Significant Acounting Policies
Organization

We are a biopharmaceutical company headquarter8dnrrancisco, California and incorporated in al®. We are developing a
pipeline of drug candidates that utilize our PE@glaand advanced polymer conjugate technologygias with the objective to improve the
benefits of drugs for patients.

Our research and development activities have reduignificant ongoing investment to date and apeeted to continue to require
significant investment. As a result, we expectdotmue to incur substantial losses and negatigh laws from operations in the future. We
have financed our operations primarily through ogesherated from licensing, collaboration and mattufing agreements and financing
transactions. At December 31, 2014, we had apprabely $262.8 million in cash and investments inkatable securities, of which $25.0
million was restricted in relation to our 12% sersecured notes, and $151.8 million in indebtednBss indebtedness includes $125.0 million
in aggregate principal amount of 12.0% senior sstmotes due July 15, 2017, but excludes our leng-tiability relating to the sale of future
royalties. As is further described in Note 7, tlagalty obligation liability will not be settled ioash.

Basis of Presentation, Principles of Consolidatiamd Use of Estimate

Our consolidated financial statements include thanfcial position, results of operations and césivd of our whollyewned subsidiarie
Nektar Therapeutics (India) Private Limited and téek herapeutics UK, Ltd. (Nektar UK). All intercqany accounts and transactions h
been eliminated in consolidation.

Our consolidated financial statements are denomihiait U.S. dollars. Accordingly, changes in exclerages between the applicable
foreign currency and the U.S. dollar will affecettranslation of each foreign subsidiary’s finahoésults into U.S. dollars for purposes of
reporting our consolidated financial results. Ttatign gains and losses are included in accumulatieer comprehensive income (loss) in the
stockholders’ equity (deficit) section of the balarsheet. To date, such cumulative translationsawents have not been significant to our
consolidated financial position. Aggregate grosgifin currency transaction gains (losses) recoiegerations for the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012 were not sigmific

The preparation of consolidated financial statesméntonformity with U.S. generally accepted acamgprinciples (GAAP) requires
management to make estimates and assumptiondfénettthe reported amounts of assets and liaksligied disclosure of contingent assets anc
liabilities at the date of the consolidated finahstatements and the reported amounts of revemiexpenses during the reporting period.
Accounting estimates and assumptions are inherantigrtain. Actual results could differ materigflgm those estimates and assumptions. Ol
an ongoing basis, we evaluate our estimates, imgjutiose related to estimated selling prices tif’eebles in collaboration agreements,
estimated periods of performance, the net reakzaalue of inventory, the impairment of investmetite impairment of goodwill and long-
lived assets, contingencies, accrued clinical &igdenses, estimated interest expense from odilitifaielated to our sale of future royalties,
stock-based compensation, and ongoing litigatiomgray other estimates. We base our estimates arib@texperience and on other
assumptions that management believes are reasamalde the circumstances. These estimates forasis for making judgments about the
carrying values of assets and liabilities whenehesues are not readily apparent from other seufestimates are assessed each period and
updated to reflect current information and any ¢feanin estimates will generally be reflected inpkeod first identified.
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Reclassifications

Certain items previously reported in specific finih statement captions have been reclassifiednéoem to the current period
presentation. Such reclassifications do not mdtgirapact previously reported total revenue, opi@galoss or net loss or total assets, liabili
or stockholders’ equity (deficit).

Cash, Cash Equivalents, and Investments, and Faalde of Financial Instruments

We consider all investments in marketable secsritigh an original maturity of three months or lgdsen purchased to be cash
equivalents. Investments in securities with renmgjninaturities of less than one year, or where mi@nt is to use the investments to fund
current operations or to make them available foremt operations, are classified as short-termstents.

Investments are designated as available-for-sal@smncarried at fair value, with unrealized gaind losses reported in stockholders’
equity (deficit) as accumulated other comprehenisizeme (loss). The disclosed fair value relateduncash equivalents and investments is
based primarily on the reported fair values in jperiod-end brokerage statements, which are basethdket prices from a variety of industry
standard data providers and generally represenédymices for similar assets in active marketsase been derived from observable market
data. We independently validate these fair valisasguavailable market quotes and other information.

Interest and dividends on securities classifiedwaslable-for-sale, as well as amortization of ptens and accretion of discounts to
maturity, are included in interest income. Realigaths and losses and declines in value of avaifdrtsale securities judged to be other-than
temporary, if any, are included in other incomep@nse). The cost of securities sold is based ospéeific identification method.

Our cash, cash equivalents, and short-term invervare exposed to credit risk in the event of ulefay the third parties that hold or
issue such assets. Our cash, cash equivalentsharteterm investments are held by financial initins that management believes are of high
credit quality and our investment policy limits @stments to fixed income securities denominatedpaydble in U.S. dollars such as U.S.
government obligations, money market instrumentsfands, and corporate bonds and places restricbarmaturities and concentrations by
type and issuer.

Accounts Receivable and Significant Customer Contations

Our customers are primarily pharmaceutical andesimtology companies that are located in the U.& Eamope. Our accounts receiva
balance contains billed and unbilled trade recdesfrom product sales and royalties, as wellrag tand materials based billings from
collaborative research and development agreemfitesn appropriate, we provide for an allowance faulatful accounts by reserving for
specifically identified doubtful accounts. We geadrdo not require collateral from our customét&e perform a regular review of our
customers’ payment histories and associated aiisHitWe have not experienced significant credisks from our accounts receivable. At
December 31, 2014, three different customers repted 40%, 31%, and 15%, respectively, of our atisoreceivable. At December 31, 2013,
three different customers represented 30%, 28%28%@ respectively, of our accounts receivable.

Inventory and Significant Supplier Concentratior

Inventory is generally manufactured upon receidiraf purchase orders from our collaboration pasn&ventory includes direct
materials, direct labor, and manufacturing overheadi cost is determined on a first-in, ficatt basis. Inventory is valued at the lower of @
market and defective or excess inventory is writtewn to net realizable value based on historigpegence or projected usage. Inventory
related to our research and development activigiexpensed when purchased.
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We are dependent on our suppliers and contract factowers to provide raw materials, drugs and desviaf appropriate quality and
reliability and to meet applicable contract andutatpry requirements. In certain cases, we relgingle sources of supply of one or more
critical materials. Consequently, in the event thaiplies are delayed or interrupted for any reasonability to develop and produce our drug
candidates or our ability to meet our supply oliliyzs could be significantly impaired, which colildve a material adverse effect on our
business, financial condition and results of openat

Long-Lived Assets

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cogpmprovements are capitalized, while mainterasnad repairs are expensed when
incurred. Manufacturing, laboratory and other eqapt are depreciated using the straight-line meteogkrally over estimated useful lives of
three to seven years. Leasehold improvements afdings recorded under capital leases are depestiaging the straighine method over th
shorter of the estimated useful life or the renrajrterm of the lease.

Gooduwill represents the excess of the price pai@fother entity over the fair value of the assetpuired and liabilities assumed in a
business combination. We are organized in one tiggaunit and evaluate the goodwill for the Compasya whole. Goodwill has an indefinite
useful life and is not amortized, but instead t$te impairment annually in the fourth quartereaich year using an October 1 measurement
date.

We assess the impairment of long-lived assets,apifiyrproperty, plant and equipment and goodwidllided in other non-current assets,
whenever events or changes in business circumstamtieate that the carrying amounts of the assatgsnot be fully recoverable. When such
events occur, we determine whether there has breenairment in value by comparing the asset’sydagrvalue with its fair value, as
measured by the anticipated undiscounted net ¢asts bf the asset. In the case of goodwill impaimimenarket capitalization is generally used
as the measure of fair value. If an impairmentdtug exists, the asset is written down to its emstiah fair value.

Revenue Recoghnitio

Our revenue is derived from our arrangements wirmaceutical and biotechnology collaboration pagrand may result from one or
more of the following: upfront and license feesympants for contract research and development, toitespayments, manufacturing and suj
payments, and royalties. Our performance obligatiomder our collaborations may include licensingiotellectual property, manufacturing
and supply obligations, and research and developai#igations. In order to account for the multiglement arrangements, the Company
identifies the deliverables included within theasigement and evaluates which deliverables represparate units of accounting. Analyzing
the arrangement to identify deliverables requinesuse of judgment, and each deliverable may lmblgation to deliver services, a right or
license to use an asset, or another performandgatibh. Revenue is recognized separately for éefitified unit of accounting when the be
revenue recognition criteria are met: there isymsie evidence that an arrangement exists, dglhas occurred, the price is fixed or
determinable, and collection is reasonably assured.

At the inception of each new multiple-element agement or the material modification of an existingltiple-element arrangement, we
allocate all consideration received under multigiement arrangements to all units of accountingdas the relative selling price method,
generally based on our best estimate of sellingeiESP). The objective of ESP is to determineotiee at which we would transact a sale if
the product or service was sold on a stand-aloeis b&/e determine ESP for the elements in our lootiaion arrangements by considering
multiple factors including, but not limited to, tedcal complexity of the performance obligation amiilarity of elements to those performed
under previous arrangements. Since we apply s@amfijudgment in arriving at the ESPs, any matefhiahge in our estimates would
significantly affect the allocation of the totalrideration to the different elements of a multiglement arrangement.
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Product sale:

Product sales are primarily derived from fixed pramd cost-plus manufacturing and supply agreemmgtiiour collaboration partners.
We have not experienced any significant returnsifour customers.

Royalty revenue

Generally, we are entitled to royalties from ouilfai@oration partners based on the net sales af #pgiroved drugs that are marketed and
sold in one or more countries where we hold royadiits. We recognize royalty revenue when the @asbceived or when the royalty amount
to be received is estimable and collection is reably assured. With respect to the ro@sh royalties related to sale of future royaltiescribe
at Note 7, revenue is recognized when estimabieroise, revenue is recognized during the periaghith the related royalty report is
received, which generally occurs in the quartegrafie applicable product sales are made.

License, collaboration and oth:

The amount of upfront fees and other paymentsveddiy us in license and collaboration arrangemihatisare allocated to continuing
performance obligations, such as manufacturingsaipgly obligations, are deferred and generallygatzed ratably over our expected
performance period under each respective arrangeienmake our best estimate of the period oveckwhie expect to fulfill our performan
obligations, which may include technology transfssistance, research activities, clinical develayraetivities, and manufacturing activities
from development through the commercializationhaf product. Given the uncertainties of these colation arrangements, significant
judgment is required to determine the duratiorhefgerformance period and this estimate is peradigice-evaluated.

Contingent consideration received from the achiex@mf a substantive milestone is recognized ieritirety in the period in which the
milestone is achieved, which we believe is consistéth the substance of our performance undewratious license and collaboration
agreements. A milestone is defined as an evetttdf)can only be achieved based in whole or ingttrter on the entitg performance or on t
occurrence of a specific outcome resulting fromehgty’s performance, (ii) for which there is sté#tive uncertainty at the date the
arrangement is entered into that the event wikd&geved, and (iii) that would result in additiopalyments being due to the entity. A mileston
is substantive if the consideration earned fromattidevement of the milestone is consistent withpmrformance required to achieve the
milestone or the increase in value to the collati@maresulting from our performance, relates sotelpur past performance, and is reasonable
relative to all of the other deliverables and pagtaavithin the arrangement.

Our license and collaboration agreements with autners provide for payments to us upon the achiev¢ of development milestones,
such as the completion of clinical trials or regoitg submissions, approvals by health authorities, commercial launches of drugs. Given the
challenges inherent in developing and obtainingllegry approval for drug products and in achiewiognmercial launches, there was
substantial uncertainty whether any such milestavmdd be achieved at the time of execution of ¢leensing and collaboration agreements
In addition, we evaluated whether the developmelgstones meet the remaining criteria to be comsiisubstantive. As a result of our
analysis, we consider our remaining developmergstohes under all of our license and collaboraagmeements to be substantive and,
accordingly, we expect to recognize as revenuagdytayments received from such milestones onlpdfas each milestone is achieved.

Our license and collaboration agreements with oepartners also provide for contingent paymentsstbased solely upon the
performance of the respective partner. For suchirmgent amounts we expect to recognize the paynantevenue when earned under the
applicable contract, which is generally upon coripleof performance by the respective partner, jged that collection is reasonably assured
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Our license and collaboration agreements with @uners also provide for payments to us upon thesgement of specified sales
volumes of approved drugs. We consider these patgtetoe similar to royalty payments and we wittagnize such sales-based payments
upon achievement of such sales volumes, providatcthilection is reasonably assured.

Shipping and Handling Cost
We recognize costs related to shipping and handiimoduct to customers in cost of goods sold.

Research and Development Exper

Research and development costs are expensed adhand include salaries, benefits and other ¢ipgraosts such as outside services,
supplies and allocated overhead costs. We perfesearch and development for our proprietary druglidates and technology development
and for certain third parties under collaboratigne@ments. For our proprietary drug candidatesoaindnternal technology development
programs, we invest our own funds without reimbomset from a third party.

We record accruals for the estimated costs of tiical trial activities performed by third partieBhe financial terms of these agreemi
are subject to negotiation, vary from contractdatcact and may result in uneven payment flowsutovendors. Payments under the contracts
depend on factors such as the achievement of m@&vaints, successful enrollment of patients, amapdetion of portions of the clinical trial or
similar conditions. We generally accrue costs dased with the start-up and reporting phases ottimécal trials ratably over the estimated
duration of the start-up and reporting phases. Wreernlly accrue costs associated with the treatpteade of clinical trials based on the total
estimated cost of the treatment phase on a pamdtasis and we expense the per patient costyatedr the estimated patient treatment
period based on patient enrollment in the trialsspecific circumstances, such as for certain timsed costs, we recognize clinical trial
expenses using a methodology that we consider tdre reflective of the timing of costs incurredivance payments for goods or services
that will be used or rendered for future researuth@velopment activities are capitalized as pepapenses and recognized as expense as t
related goods are delivered or the related sergpeperformed. We base our estimates on thefifestriation available at the time. However,
additional information may become available to tclv may allow us to make a more accurate estimdigure periods. In this event, we n
be required to record adjustments to research emelabment expenses in future periods when theabletvel of activity becomes more cert:
Such increases or decreases in cost are genevallydered to be changes in estimates and will fhected in research and development
expenses in the period first identified. During ylear ended December 31, 2014, we recorded a reduetated to prior periods of
approximately $4.7 million to our research and dewment expenses primarily related to our BeacaasB13 clinical trial for etirinotecan

pegol.

Stock-Based Compensation

Stock-based compensation arrangements include spiiitin grants and restricted stock unit (RSU) asamder our equity incentive
plans, as well as shares issued under our Empstgei Purchase Plan (ESPP), through which emplayegspurchase our common stock
discount to the market price.

We use the Black-Scholes option pricing model li@r tespective grant to determine the estimated/édire of the option on the date of
grant (grant date fair value) and the estimatedviaiue of common stock purchased under the ESR® Black-Scholes option pricing model
requires the input of highly subjective assumptidrigese variables include, but are not limitedbtar, stock price volatility over the term of the
awards, and actual and projected employee stoékropxercise behaviors. Because our employee sipiiins have characteristics
significantly different from those of traded opt&mrand because changes in the subjective inputngsiguns can materially affect the fair value
estimate, in management’s opinion, the existing e®thay not provide a reliable single measure ef#lir value of our employee stock
options or common stock purchased under the ESRRalyement will continue to assess the assumptimhsathodologies used to calculate
the
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estimated fair value of stock-based compensatigou@stances may change and additional data maynbeavailable over time, which could
result in changes to these assumptions and mettgids| and which could materially impact our faatue determination.

We expense the value of the portion of the optioaveard that is ultimately expected to vest basethe historical forfeiture rate on a
straight line basis over the requisite servicequirin our Consolidated Statements of Operatiomsafwards that vest upon the achievement o
performance milestones, we estimate the vestinggéased on our evaluation of the probability ciiavement of each respective milestone
and the related estimated date of achievementk®tased compensation expense for purchases urelBiISAP is recognized over the
respective six-month purchase period. Expense ats@ue recorded in cost of goods sold, researcldenelopment expense, and general anc
administrative expense based on the function oapipdicable employee. Stock-based compensatiorgebare non-cash charges and as such
have no impact on our reported cash flows.

Net Loss Per Shar

Basic net loss per share is calculated based ondlghted-average number of common shares outstgualdiring the periods presented.
For all periods presented in the Consolidated Btetts of Operations, the net loss available to comatockholders is equal to the reportec
loss. Basic and diluted net loss per share arsahee due to our historical net losses and the negent to exclude potentially dilutive
securities which would have an anti-dilutive effentnet loss per share. During 2014, 2013 and 2@di2ntially dilutive securities consisted of
common shares underlying outstanding stock optmukthere were weighted average outstanding stototns of 21.9 million, 20.7 million
and 18.8 million during the years ended DecembeB14, 2013 and 2012, respectively.

Income Taxes

We account for income taxes under the liability moelt Under this method, deferred tax assets ahilities are determined based on
differences between the financial reporting andrégorting bases of assets and liabilities andregasured using enacted tax rates and law
are expected to be in effect when the difference®apected to reverse. Realization of deferredtmets is dependent upon future earning
timing and amount of which are uncertain. We re@rxdluation allowance against deferred tax aseatduce their carrying value to an
amount that is more likely than not to be realizéthen we establish or reduce the valuation allowaetated to the deferred tax assets, our
provision for income taxes will increase or decesasspectively, in the period such determinatiomade.

We utilize a two-step approach to recognize andsureauncertain tax positions. The first step isualuate the tax position for
recognition by determining if the weight of avaiklevidence indicates that it is more likely than tihat the position will be sustained upon ta
authority examination, including resolution of teld appeals or litigation processes, if any. Tloogeé step is to measure the tax benefit as the
largest amount that is more than 50% likely of geaialized upon ultimate settlement.

Comprehensive loss

Comprehensive loss is the change in stockholderstye (deficit) from transactions and other evestsl circumstances other than those
resulting from investments by stockholders andithistions to stockholders. Our other comprehensigceme (loss) is comprised of net loss,
gains and losses from the foreign currency traiosiaif the assets and liabilities of our India aid subsidiaries, and unrealized gains and
losses on investments in available-for-sale sdearit

Recent Accounting Pronouncemen

In May 2014, the Financial Accounting Standardsrdq&ASB) issued guidance codified in Accountingristards Codification (ASC)
606,Revenue Recognition — Revenue from Contracts wigto@ers which

83



Table of Contents

amends the guidance in former ASC 6RByenue Recognitioand is effective for public companies for fiscahygbeginning after
December 15, 2016. We are currently evaluatingrtipact of the provisions of ASC 606.

In August 2014, the FASB issued Accounting Stanslafddate No. 2014-15, Disclosure of Uncertaintlesud an Entity’s Ability to
Continue as a Going Concern (ASU 2014-15). ASU 203 4equires management to evaluate whether themghistantial doubt about an
entity’s ability to continue as a going concern &mgrovide related footnote disclosures. ASU 2@%4s effective in 2016 with early adoption
permitted. We do not believe the impact of adopf&1J 2014-15 on our consolidated financial stateisevill be significant.

Note 2 — Cash and Investments in Marketable Securés
Cash and investments in marketable securitiesydivg cash equivalents and restricted cash, di@lags (in thousands):

Estimated Fair Value at

December 31 December 31

2014 2013
Cash and cash equivalents $ 12,36t $ 39,067
Shor-term investment 225,45¢ 197,95¢
Restricted cas 25,00( 25,00(
Total cash and investments in marketable secu $ 262,82 $ 262,02

We invest in liquid, high quality debt securiti€ur investments in debt securities are subjeattirést rate risk. To minimize the
exposure due to an adverse shift in interest ratesnvest in securities with maturities of two y®ar less and maintain a weighted average
maturity of one year or less. As of December 31,428nd 2013, all of our investments had contraanathrities of one year or less and were
classified as short-term.

Gross unrealized gains and losses were not signifiat either December 31, 2014 or 2013. During/dses ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, we sold available-for-sale secsrttiéaling $21.7 million, $2.9 million and $5.4 hiwh respectively, and realized gains and
losses were not significant in any of those periods

Restricted cash of $25.0 million is required togintained in a separate account until July 1, 2@ider the terms of our 12% senior
secured notes due July 2017. Upon release ofahidggtion on July 1, 2015, a covenant of the sesgécured notes requires that the aggregate
balance of our unrestricted cash and cash equigadenhe end of any two consecutive fiscal quaniesy not be less than $25.0 million, suk
to certain conditions (see Note 5).

Our portfolio of cash and investments in marketagleurities includes (in thousands):

Fair
Value Estimated Fair Value at
Hierarchy December 31 December 31

Level 2014 2013
Corporate notes and bonds 2 $ 182,54 $ 138,51!
Corporate commercial pap 2 42,91t 59,44
Available-for-sale investment 225,45¢ 197,95¢
Money market fund 1 11,22¢ 26,45
Cash, including restricted ca N/A 26,13¢ 37,61«
Total cash and investments in marketable secu $ 262,82 $ 262,02
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Level 1—Quoted prices in active markets for identical assefiabilities.

Level 2—Inputs other than Level 1 that are observablegeitlirectly or indirectly, such as quoted pricesdimilar assets or liabilities; quoted
prices in markets that are not active; or otheuigphat are observable or can be corroboratedbgreable market data for substantially the
full term of the assets or liabilities.

Level 3—Unobservable inputs that are supported by litlammarket activity and that are significant to thie value of the assets or
liabilities.

All of our investments are categorized as Level LLevel 2, as explained in the table above. Weaus®arket approach to value our Level
2 investments. During the years ended Decembe2®Y, 2013 and 2012, there were no transfers batiweeel 1 and Level 2 of the fair val
hierarchy.

At December 31, 2014 and 2013, we had letter aficegrangements in favor of a landlord and cert@ndors totaling $2.4 million.
These letters of credit are secured by investmarganilar amounts.

Note 3 — Inventory
Inventory consists of the following (in thousands):

December 31

2014 2013
Raw materials $ 2,20¢ $ 3,947
Work-in-process 5,18 6,14¢
Finished good 5,56¢ 3,35¢
Inventory $12,95. $13,45:

Note 4 — Property, Plant and Equipment
Property, plant and equipment consists of the falg (in thousands):

December 31

2014 2013
Building and leasehold improvements $ 72,22¢ $ 71,30¢
Laboratory equipmer 26,97 26,621
Manufacturing equipmer 25,21: 23,69¢
Furniture, fixtures and other equipmt 23,451 23,23t
Depreciable property, plant and equipment at 147,86t 144,86:
Less: accumulated depreciati (93,807 (84,149
Depreciable property, plant and equipment, 54,05¢ 60,71
Constructio~in-progress 16,30¢ 6,261
Property, plant and equipment, | $ 70,36¢ $ 66,97/

Building and leasehold improvements include our afiacturing, research and development and admitiistréacilities and the related
improvements to these facilities. Laboratory anchufiacturing equipment include assets that suppaiht bur manufacturing and research and
development efforts. Construction-in-progress idekiassets being built to enhance our manufactaridgesearch and development efforts,
including manufacturing equipment supporting ourikaxin Inhale program at third-party contract matfiring locations in the U.S. and
Germany. Under the terms of our arrangement witsdglcontract manufacturers, during the period qugenent is being constructed, we are
obligated to pay for their costs
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incurred to date. As of December 31, 2014, we lmewerded a total of $7.2 million in other currentather long-term liabilities related to our
obligation to purchase this equipment, which i©rded in property, plant and equipment. After theets are placed into service, this liability
will be paid over approximately three years.

In July 2012, we consolidated our U.S.-based rebeacativities into our existing San Francisco fiacihnd ceased use of and plan to sell
one of our buildings located in Huntsville, Alabathat was dedicated to research activities. Th@amcement of this consolidation plan in
March 2012 triggered the recognition of a $1.7 imnllimpairment charge relating to these assetsdryéar ended December 31, 2012.

Depreciation expense, including depreciation oétsacquired through capital leases, for the yeaded December 31, 2014, 2013, and
2012 was $11.7 million, $13.0 million, and $13.8liom, respectively.

Note 5 — Senior Secured Notes

On July 11, 2012, we issued $125.0 million in aggte principal amount of senior secured notes (B&tes) with the entire principal
amount due on July 15, 2017. The Senior Notes ib&arest at 12.0% per annum payable in cash semiadly in arrears on January 15 and
July 15 of each year. The Senior Notes are sedwredfirst-priority lien on substantially all of passets. In connection with this transaction,
we retired $42.5 million of principal amount of aczonvertible subordinated notes due September 20D&2change for the same principal
amount of Senior Notes and received the remaininoggeds in cash, less approximately $4.5 milliotransaction costs. We used the proceed
from the issuance of the Senior Notes and ouriegisiash to repay the remaining $172.4 millioniimgpal amount of our convertible
subordinated notes in full at maturity on Septen##&r2012.

The Senior Notes contain customary covenants, difojucovenants that limit or restrict our abilityincur liens, incur indebtedness, and
make certain restricted payments, but do not cor@venants related to future financial performahegarticular, $25.0 million of the
proceeds is required to be maintained in a resttiatcount until July 1, 2015 and is classifiedeatricted cash on our Consolidated Balance
Sheets. From July 1, 2015 through the quarter gnélime 30, 2017, the aggregate balance of ourtuisted cash and cash equivalents at the
end of any two consecutive fiscal quarters maybedess than $25.0 million, subject to certain dorgs. The Senior Notes are callable by us
at any time, subject to certain prepayment premiantsconditions. If we experience certain changeootrol events, the holders of the Senior
Notes will have the right to require us to purchaker a portion of the Senior Notes at a purchasee in cash equal to 101% of the princi
amount thereof, plus accrued and unpaid interetsitalate of purchase. In addition, upon certasetesales, we may be required to offer to us
the net proceeds thereof to purchase some of thierdotes at 100% of the principal amount therpbfs accrued and unpaid interest to the
date of purchase.

As of December 31, 2014, based on a discountedflagtanalysis using Level 3 inputs including fircdal discount rates, we believe the
$125.0 million carrying amount of our 12% Senioc@ed Notes due July 2017 is consistent with fisviaue.

Note 6 — Leases
Capital Leases

We lease office space at 201 Industrial Road inGanhos, California under a capital lease arrangegnménder the terms of the lease, rent
increases up to 3% annually and the lease termamdgte is October 5, 2016. As of November 29, 20E0ceased use of this space as a resu
of the relocation of our San Carlos operations@rgorate headquarters to San Francisco, Califofsaf April 2013, we have subleased all
of the San Carlos facility and our future minimuemtal receipts under these subleases total $4li@mgs of December 31, 2014.

As of December 31, 2014 and 2013, the gross anafatsets recorded under capital leases was $2i@mand 2.3 million,
respectively, and the recorded value of these ssset of depreciation, was $1.2 million and $1illion, respectively.
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Future minimum payments for our capital leasesextdinber 31, 2014 are as follows (in thousands):

Years ending December &

2015 $ 5,57
2016 4,26¢
2017 17¢
Total minimum payments requirt 10,01¢
Less: amount representing inter (1,369
Present value of future minimum lease paym 8,651
Less: current portio (4,517
Capital lease obligation, less current port $ 4,13¢

Operating Lease

On September 30, 2009, we entered into an operstibigase (Sublease) with Pfizer, Inc. for a 126 fuare foot facility located in
San Francisco, California (Mission Bay Facilityndér the terms of the Sublease, we began makingawocelable lease payments in 2014,
after the expiration of our free rent period on Asgl, 2014. The Sublease term is 114 months, cowingin August 2010 and terminating
January 31, 2020. Monthly base rent will escalatr the term of the sublease at various intervaladdition, throughout the term of the
Sublease, we are responsible for paying certaits @rsl expenses specified in the Sublease, ingudgurance costs and a pro rata share of
operating expenses and applicable taxes for theidfiBay Facility.

Our future minimum lease payments for our operdtages at December 31, 2014 are as follows (instads):

Years ending December &

2015 $ 4,75(
2016 4,892
2017 5,031
2018 5,181
2019 5,34«
2020 452
Total future minimum lease paymel $25,66:

We recognize rent expense on a straight-line lma&sthe lease period. For the years ended Dece®ih@014, 2013, and 2012, rent
expense for all our operating leases, includingMission Bay Facility, was approximately $3.2 nahi, $2.9 million, and $2.8 million,
respectively.

Note 7 — Liability Related to Sale of Future Royales

On February 24, 2012, we entered into a Purchas&ale Agreement (the Purchase and Sale AgreemihtRPI Finance Trust (RPI),
an affiliate of Royalty Pharma, pursuant to whioh sold, and RPI purchased, our right to receivaltgypayments (the Royalty Entitlement)
arising from the worldwide net sales, from andralenuary 1, 2012, of (a) CIMZIA , under Nektaitehse, manufacturing and supply
agreement with UCB Pharma (UCB), and (b) MIRCERAInder Nektar’s license, manufacturing and suppheamgent with F. Hoffmann-
La Roche Ltd and Hoffmann-La Roche Inc. (togetleéenred to as Roche). We received aggregate caskguls of $124.0 million for the
Royalty Entitlement. As part of this sale, we imear approximately $4.4 million in transaction costhich will be amortized to interest
expense over the estimated life of the Purchasé&atelAgreement. Although we sold all of our rigtatseceive royalties from the CIMZIA
and MIRCERA®
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products, as a result of our ongoing manufactuaimg) supply obligations related to the generatiothe$e royalties, we will continue to accc
for these royalties as revenue and recorded thé.@Xgillion in proceeds from this transaction dmhility (Royalty Obligation) that will be
amortized using the interest method over the estithiéfe of the Purchase and Sale Agreement.

The following table shows the activity within thebility account during the year ended December2814 and for the period from the
inception of the royalty transaction on February 212 (inception) to December 31, 2014 (in thodsn

Period from

Year ended inception to

December 31 December 31

2014 2014

Liability related to sale of future royalties — leging balance $ 128,52 $ —
Proceeds from sale of future royalt — 124,00(
Payments from Nektar to R (7,000 (20,000
Non-cash CIMZIA® and MIRCERA® royalty revenue (21,937) (54,787
Non-cash interest expense recogni. 20,88¢ 61,25¢
Liability related to sale of future royalti— ending balanc $ 120,47: $ 120,47:

Pursuant to the Purchase and Sale Agreement, ioh\V&X14 and March 2013, we were required to pay$¥R million and $3.0 million,
respectively, as a result of worldwide net saleMItRCERA @ for the 12 month periods ended on Decendie2013 and 2012 not reaching
certain minimum thresholds. As of December 31, 20deldo not expect to make any further paymentged|to the Purchase and Sale
Agreement.

As a result of this liability accounting, even tigbuthe royalties from UCB and Roche are remittedatly to RPI starting with royalties
arising from product sales in the first quarte012, we will continue to recognize revenue foistheoyalties. During the years ended
December 31, 2014, 2013 and 2012, we recognized® $2illion, $22.1 million and $10.8 million, respely, in non-cash royalties from net
sales of CIMZIA® and MIRCERA

As royalties are remitted to RPI from Roche and U@ balance of the Royalty Obligation will beesffively repaid over the life of the
agreement. In order to determine the amortizatfch@Royalty Obligation, we are required to estienthe total amount of future royalty
payments to be received by RPI and payments weeqtered to make to RPI as noted above over thefithe agreement. The sum of these
amounts less the $124.0 million proceeds we redeiitt be recorded as interest expense over theofithe Royalty Obligation. Since
inception, our estimate of this total interest exqeeresulted in an effective annual interest rgproximately 17%. We periodically assess
estimated royalty payments to RPI from UCB and Raahd to the extent such payments are greates®than our initial estimates, or the
timing of such payments is materially differentrit@ur original estimates, we will prospectively#stjthe amortization of the Royalty
Obligation. There are a number of factors that @ oohterially affect the amount and timing of roygeyments from CIMZIA and
MIRCERA ®, most of which are not within our contr8uch factors include, but are not limited to, aiag standards of care, the introduction
of competing products, manufacturing or other del#josimilar competition, intellectual property tteas, adverse events that result in
governmental health authority imposed restrictionshe use of the drug products, significant charigdoreign exchange rates as the royaltie
remitted to RPI are made in U.S. dollars (USD) wisignificant portions of the underlying sales #fIZIA ®and MIRCERA® are made in
currencies other than USD, and other events ouistances that could result in reduced royalty matsifrom CIMZIA® and MIRCERA
all of which would result in a reduction of non-bhasyalty revenues and the non-cash interest expever the life of the Royalty Obligation.
Conversely, if sales of CIMZI&R and MIRCERA are mdinan expected, the non-cash royalty revenuestenddn-cash interest expense
recorded by us would be greater over the termeRayalty Obligation.

In addition, the Purchase and Sale Agreement gRiRtghe right to receive certain reports and othfarmation relating to the Royalty
Entitlement and contains other representationsaardanties, covenants and
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indemnification obligations that are customaryddransaction of this nature. To our knowledge awecurrently in compliance with these
provisions of the Purchase and Sale Agreement, \ienywi we were to breach our obligations, we cduddrequired to pay damages to RPI tha
are not limited to the purchase price we receivetthé sale transaction.

Note 8 — Commitments and Contingencies
Royalty Expenst

We have third party licenses that require us torpgmlties based on our sales of certain prodund#oa on our recognition of royalty
revenue under certain of our collaboration agregmétoyalty expense, which is reflected in cogjadds sold in our Consolidated Statement:
of Operations, was approximately $3.4 million, $aillion, and $2.9 million for the years ended Dadeer 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012,
respectively. The overall maximum amount of thdsiggations is based upon sales of the applicalddymsts by our collaboration partners and
cannot be reasonably estimated.

Purchase Commitment

In the normal course of business, we enter int@uarfirm purchase commitments related to contmgufacturing, clinical developme
and certain other items. As of December 31, 20igkd commitments were approximately $16.9 millahof which are expected to be paid in
2015.

Legal Matters

From time to time, we are involved in lawsuits,itdtions, claims, investigations and proceedingsisisting of intellectual property,
commercial, employment and other matters, whickean the ordinary course of business. We makeisioms for liabilities when it is both
probable that a liability has been incurred andatm@unt of the loss can be reasonably estimatezh Swvisions are reviewed at least quar
and adjusted to reflect the impact of settlemegbtiations, judicial and administrative rulingsyae of legal counsel, and other information
and events pertaining to a particular case. Litgais inherently unpredictable. If any unfavorahléng were to occur in any specific period,
there exists the possibility of a material advensgact on the results of operations of that pedodn our cash flows and liquidity.

Foreign Operations

We operate in a number of foreign countries. Assailt, we are subject to numerous local laws agdlagions that can result in claims
made by foreign government agencies or other tharties that are often difficult to predict eveteathe application of good faith compliance
efforts.

Indemnification Obligations

During the course of our normal operating actigitiwe have agreed to certain contingent indemuidinabligations as further described
below. The term of our indemnification obligatiaeggenerally perpetual. There is generally no tidn on the potential amount of future
payments we could be required to make under timelarinification obligations. To date, we have netimed significant costs to defend
lawsuits or settle claims based on our indemnificabbligations. If any of our indemnification oggitions is triggered, we may incur
substantial liabilities. Because the aggregate amofuiany potential indemnification obligation istra stated amount, the overall maximum
amount of any such obligations cannot be reasoredilgnated. No liabilities have been recordedliese obligations on our Consolidated
Balance Sheets as of December 31, 2014 or 2013.

Indemnifications in Connection with Commercial Agegnents

As part of our collaboration agreements with outrgers related to the license, development, matufaand supply of drugs based on
our proprietary technologies and drug candidatesgenerally agree to defend,
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indemnify and hold harmless our partners from agalrest third party liabilities arising out of thgraement, including product liability (with
respect to our activities) and infringement of lietetual property to the extent the intellectuaderty is developed by us and licensed to our
partners.

As part of the sale of our royalty interest in @MZIA ®and MIRCERA® products, we and RPI made representations and miEsaanc
entered into certain covenants and ancillary ages¢snwhich are supported by indemnity obligatidkdditionally, as part of our pulmonary
asset sale to Novartis in 2008, we and Novartisemagresentations and warranties and entered éntairc covenants and ancillary agreement
which are supported by an indemnity obligationtha event it is determined that we breached cedfhe representations and warranties or
covenants and agreements made by us in any suebnagnts, we could incur substantial indemnificalialilities depending on the timing,
nature, and amount of any such claims.

Indemnification of Underwriters and Initial Purchasrs of our Securitie:

In connection with our sale of equity and seniaused debt securities, we have agreed to defeddminify and hold harmless our
underwriters or initial purchasers, as applicahtewell as certain related parties from and aga#sain liabilities, including liabilities under
the Securities Act of 1933, as amended.

Director and Officer Indemnifications

As permitted under Delaware law, and as set forthuir Certificate of Incorporation and our Bylawse indemnify our directors,
executive officers, other officers, employees, atiebr agents for certain events or occurrencesthgtarise while in such capacity. The
maximum potential amount of future payments we @¢dd required to make under this indemnificationnibmited; however, we have
insurance policies that may limit our exposure aray enable us to recover a portion of any futurewarts paid. Assuming the applicability of
coverage, the willingness of the insurer to asscaverage, and subject to certain retention, lasgdiand other policy provisions, we believe
any obligations under this indemnification would be material, other than an initial $1,500,000ipeident for merger and acquisition related
claims, $1,000,000 per incident for securitiesteglaclaims and $500,000 per incident for non-séesrielated claims retention deductible per
our insurance policy. However, no assurances cajivea that the covering insurers will not attengtlispute the validity, applicability, or
amount of coverage without expensive litigationiagigthese insurers, in which case we may incustsuitial liabilities as a result of these
indemnification obligations.

Note 9 — Stockholders’ Equity
Preferred Stock

We have authorized 10,000,000 shares of Prefetmxk Svith each share having a par value of $0.0002011, 3,100,000 shares were
previously designated Series A Junior ParticipaBneferred Stock (Series A Preferred Stock) in eotion with our Share Purchase Rights
Plan (Rights Plan) that expired on June 1, 2011March 30, 2012, we filed a certificate of elimiioait of the Series A Preferred Stock. As of
December 31, 2014 and 2013, no preferred shareteamgnated, issued or outstanding.

Common Stock

On January 28, 2014, we completed the issuancsaadf 9,775,000 shares of our common stock mbdipoffering with total proceec
of approximately $117.2 million after deducting tirederwriting commissions and discounts of appretety $7.5 million. In addition, we
incurred approximately $0.6 million in legal andcaanting fees, filing fees, and other costs in emtion with this offering.
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Equity Compensation Plan

At December 31, 2014, we had 24,806,565 reservactstof common stock, all of which are reservedsemance under our equity
compensation plans as summarized in the followatdet (share number in thousands):

Number of Securities Remainini

Number of Securities to bi ~ Weighted-Average Available for Issuance Under

Exercise Price of Equity Compensation Plans
Issued Upon Exercise of Outstanding Options  (Excluding Securities Reflected

Outstanding Options in Column(a))
Plan Category () (b) (©)

Equity compensation plans approved by securitydrsié& 18,60. $ 10.6¢ 2,81

Equity compensation plans not approved by sechdtglers 3,39¢ $ 9.52 —
Total 21,99t $ 10.5( 2,812

(1) Includes shares of common stock available for futssuance under our ESPP as of December 31,

2012 Performance Incentive Plan

Our 2012 Performance Incentive Plan (2012 Plan)adapted by the Board of Directors on April 4, 2@H2 was approved by our
stockholders on June 28, 2012. On the date of &pprany shares of our common stock that were abtglfor issuance under all other
previously existing stock plans (the 2008 Equitydntive Plan, the 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, d&red2000 Non-Officer Equity Incentive
Plan) became available for issuance under the P2 In addition, 5,300,000 new shares were muadiable for award grants under the 2
Plan. No new awards were granted under any oféqus stock plans after June 28, 2012. Any shaireemmon stock subject to
outstanding awards under the previous stock plaaiseixpire, are cancelled, or otherwise terminaseg time after December 31, 2011 are
available for award grant purposes under the 2042. P

The purpose of the 2012 Plan and our other incemtians is to attract, motivate, retain, and revearelctors, officers, employees, and
other eligible persons through the grant of awartts$incentives for high levels of individual perfance and increasing the value of our
business, as well as to further align the intereStavard recipients and our stockholders. The Z0aR authorizes stock options, stock
appreciation rights, restricted stock, performastoek, stock units, stock bonuses, dividend eqeival other similar rights to purchase or
acquire shares, and other forms of awards gramtddriominated in our common stock or units of thpanys common stock, as well as ¢
bonus awards. Directors, officers, or employeed,aantain consultants and advisors may receivedsvamder the 2012 Plan. Pursuant to the
2012 Plan, we granted or issued incentive stocioongto officers and non-qualified stock optionetoployees, officers, and non-employee
directors. In 2013 and 2014, the requisite serp&rod for stock options granted to our employe®ten the 2012 Plan as well as all other
previously existing stock plans was generally fgears; the requisite service period for stock apgigranted to our directors was generally on
year.

The maximum number of shares of our common stoakrtay be issued or transferred pursuant to awardsr the 2012 Plan is
10,347,140 shares, plus any shares subject taaadiay awards under the previous stock plans dpitee are cancelled, or otherwise termi
for any reason. Generally, shares that are sutgjemtunderlie awards which expire or for any reaae cancelled or terminated, are forfeited,
fail to vest, or for any other reason (except faares exchanged by a participant or withheld tothayexercise price of an award granted and
related tax withholding obligations) are not paidielivered under the 2012 Plan will again be @aé for subsequent awards under the 2012
Plan. Shares issued in respect of any award, tihara stock option or stock appreciation righanged under the 2012 Plan will be counted
against the plan’s share limit as 1.5 shares feryesne share actually issued in connection wighalvard. We did not grant any RSU awards
during the years ended December 31, 2014, 20181# @nd no RSUs are outstanding at December 34, 201
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The 2012 Plan will terminate on April 3, 2022, sde=arlier terminated by the Board of Directorse fraximum term of a stock option
stock appreciation right under the 2012 Plan isteygars from the date of grant. The per shareceseeprice of an option generally may not be
less than the fair market value of a share of mpany’s common stock on the Nasdaq Global Seleck&t on the date of grant.

Other Equity Incentive Plans

In addition to the 2012 Plan, we have other equitgntive plans under which options granted remaistanding but no new options n
be granted either as a result of the approval@®®i2 Plan or plan expiration. These plans incl(iiehe 2008 Equity Incentive Plan (2008
Plan) which was adopted by the Board of Directard/@rch 20, 2008 and approved by our stockholderdume 6, 2008; (ii) the 2000 Equity
Incentive Plan (2000 Plan) which was adopted byBibard of Directors on April 19, 2000 by amendimgl aestating our 1994 Equity Incenti
Plan, and which expired on February 9, 2010; aifjdife 1998 Non©fficer Equity Incentive Plan which was adopteddoy Board of Director
on August 18, 1998, and which was amended andeésitaits entirety and renamed the 2000 Non-Offteguity Incentive Plan on June 6,
2000 (2000 Non-Officer Plan).

Pursuant to the 2008 Plan and the 2000 Plan, weopisly granted or issued incentive stock optianernployees and officers and non-
qualified stock options, rights to acquire res&itstock, restricted stock units, and stock bontesemployees, officers, non-employee
directors, and consultants. Pursuant to the 2000 Qiificer Plan, we previously granted or issued-gaalified stock options, rights to acquire
restricted stock and stock bonuses to employees@msliltants who are neither officers nor direcadrilektar. The maximum term of a stock
option under all of these plans is eight years.

Employee Stock Purchase Ple

In February 1994 our Board of Directors adopted the Employee Stagklfase Plan (ESPP) pursuant to section 423(ihediternal
Revenue Code of 1986. Under the ESPP, 2,500,008ssbfiour common stock have been authorized $oraisce. The terms of the ESPP
provide eligible employees with the opportunityatmguire an ownership interest in Nektar throughigipation in a program of periodic payr
deductions for the purchase of our common stoclkplByees may elect to enroll or re-enroll in the PS# a semi-annual basis. Stock is
purchased at 85% of the lower of the closing poicehe first day of the enrollment period or thet lday of the enrollment period.

401(k) Retirement Plan

We sponsor a 401(k) retirement plan whereby ekgérhployees may elect to contribute up to the tesfs@0% of their annual
compensation or the statutorily prescribed anrimat hllowable under Internal Revenue Service ratjohs. The 401(k) plan permits us to
make matching contributions on behalf of all p@pénts, up to a maximum of $3,000 per particip&ot. the years ended December 31, 2014,
2013, and 2012, we recognized $0.9 million, $1.Moni and $0.9 million, respectively, of compensatexpense in connection with our 401
(k) retirement plan.

Change in Control Severance Plan

On December 6, 2006, our Board of Directors apptav€hange of Control Severance Benefit Plan (G#0)PThis CIC Plan has
subsequently been amended a number of times bBaand of Directors with the most recent amendmertaing on April 5, 2011. The CIC
Plan is designed to make certain benefits availabtair eligible employees in the event of a chasfgeontrol of Nektar and, following such
change of control, an employee’s employment witlorua successor company is terminated in certanied circumstances. We adopted the
CIC Plan to support the continuity of the businesthe context of a change of control transactidre CIC Plan was not adopted in
contemplation of any specific change of controhs@ction.

92



Table of Contents

Under the CIC Plan, in the event of a change ofrobnf Nektar and a subsequent termination of @yiplent initiated by us or a
successor company other than for Cause (as défirted CIC Plan) or initiated by the employee fdd@od Reason Resignation (as defined in
the CIC Plan) in each case within twelve monthkfaihg a change of control transaction, (i) the&tixecutive Officer would be entitled to
receive cash severance pay equal to 24 monthsshis® plus annual target incentive pay, the extensf employee benefits over this
severance period and the full acceleration of ulegesutstanding equity awards, and (ii) our Sewioe Presidents and Vice Presidents
(including Principal Fellows) would each be entitte receive cash severance pay equal to twelvahadrase salary plus annual target
incentive pay, the extension of employee benefits this severance period and the full acceleratfaimvested outstanding equity awards. In
the event of a change of control of Nektar andtesequent termination of employment initiated by @mnpany or a successor company other
than for Cause within twelve months following a sba of control transaction, all other employeesld@ach be entitled to receive cash
severance pay equal to 6 months base salary s r@ata portion of annual target incentive pag, ¢itension of employee benefits over this
severance period and the full acceleration of sach employee’s unvested outstanding equity awahdder the CIC Plan, as amended, non-
employee directors would also be entitled to falteleration of vesting of all outstanding stock edgan the event of a change of control
transaction.

Note 10 — License and Collaboration Agreements

We have entered into various collaboration agre¢snaocluding license agreements and collaboratgearch, development and
commercialization agreements with various pharmécaand biotechnology companies. Under thesaboliation arrangements, we are
entitled to receive license fees, upfront paymenikestone payments, royalties, sales milestormeg payments for the manufacture and supply
of our proprietary PEGylation materials and/or reimsement for research and development actividib®f our collaboration agreements are
generally cancelable by our partners without sigaift financial penalty. Our costs of performinggh services are generally included in
research and development expense, except thatfoogt®oduct sales to our collaboration partneesiacluded in cost of goods sold.

In accordance with our collaboration agreementsragegnized license, collaboration and other regasifollows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

Partner Agreement 2014 2013 2012
AstraZeneca AB MOVANTIK ™(NKTR-118) and MOVANTIK ™

fixed-dose combination program (NK™-119) $105,00: $25,01¢ $ 59
Roche PEGASYS®and MIRCERA® 12,84 18,38 7,14¢
Baxter Healthcar BAX 855 (Hemophilia) 10,25¢ 1,70z 6,23¢
Amgen, Inc. Neulaste® 5,00( 5,03¢ 5,00(
Bayer Healthcare LL( BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale 4,717 15,29 2,971
Affymax, Inc. OMONTYS® — 7,14¢ 2,82¢
Other 15,46¢ 8,29t 5,88¢
License, collaboration and other revel $153,28¢ $80,87: $30,12:

As of December 31, 2014, our collaboration agredgseith partners included potential future paymédatsievelopment milestones
totaling approximately $130.3 million, including aonts from our agreements with Baxter and Bayecritesd below. In addition, we are
entitled to receive the contingent payments desdriielow related to the MOVANTIRM  (previously refedrto as naloxegol and NKTR-118)
and MOVANTIK ™ fixed-dose combination (previously eefed to as NKTR-119) drug development progranspeetively, based on
development and regulatory events to be pursuedamgbleted solely by AstraZeneca.
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AstraZeneca AE: MOVANTIK™ (naloxegol oxalate), previously referriedas naloxegol and NKTR-118, and MOVANTYK  fixeded
combination program, previously referred to as NKTEF®

In September 2009, we entered into a license agneewith AstraZeneca AB (AstraZeneca), as amengefistraZeneca and us in
August 2013, under which we granted AstraZenecaréddwide, exclusive, perpetual, royalty-bearingd @ablicensable license under our
patents and other intellectual property to devetogrket, and sell MOVANTIKM and MOVANTIKM fixed-dossombination program.
AstraZeneca is responsible for all costs associatddresearch, development and commercializatrahia responsible for all drug
development and commercialization decisions for MONM K ™and the MOVANTIK ™ fixed-dose combination pragn. AstraZeneca paid
us an upfront payment of $125.0 million, which weeived in the fourth quarter of 2009 and which fullg recognized as of December 31,
2010. As of December 31, 2014, we are entitleedteive up to an additional $140.0 million and $#&ilion of contingent payments related
to MOVANTIK ™and the MOVANTIK™ fixed-dose combinatioprogram, respectively, based on development everis pursued and
completed solely by AstraZeneca, as described below

On September 16, 2014, the United States Food amgl Administration (FDA) approved MOVANTIRM for thieeatment of opioid-
induced constipation (OIC) in adult patients witiranic, non-cancer pain. On December 9, 2014, Eetnaca announced that MOVENTHG
(the naloxegol brand name in the European Unios)deen granted Marketing Authorisation by the EaampCommission (EC) for the
treatment of opioid-induced constipation (OIC) dul patients who have had an inadequate resporiagétive(s). As a result of the FDA's
approval, on September 16, 2014, we were entitled%35.0 million non-refundable payment from A&@aeca, which was fully recognized as
revenue in September 2014 and was received in @cffll4. In addition, the FDA'’s approval of MOVANJ ™ extinguished our contingent
obligation to repay the $70.0 million payment mémleis by AstraZeneca in November 2013 after the MAVIK ™New Drug Application
was accepted for review by the FDA. As a resul§éptember 2014, we fully recognized this $70.0ionilpayment, which was previously
recorded in the line item “Liability related to mpt of refundable milestone payment” on our Coidsdéd Balance Sheet at December 31,
2013.

As part of its approval of MOVANTIKM | the FDA reqeid AstraZeneca to perform a post-marketing, oladiEnval epidemiological
study comparing MOVANTIK™ to other treatments of GCpatients with chronic, non-cancer pain. Assulg the royalty rate payable to us
from net sales of MOVANTIK™ in the U.S. by AstraZeaewill be reduced by up to two percentage pomfsind 33% of the external costs
incurred by AstraZeneca to fund such post apprstealy subject to a $35.0 million aggregate cap. dosts incurred by AstraZeneca can only
be recovered by the reduction of the royalty paidg. In no case can amounts be recovered by dietien of a contingent payment due from
AstraZeneca to us or through a payment from usstoaZeneca.

We will be entitled to up to an additional $140.0lion of contingent payments upon the first comuoiak sale of MOVANTIK™ |
$100.0 million of which will be payable upon thesticommercial sale in the U.S. and $40.0 milliémvbich will be payable upon the first
commercial sale in one major European Union coulfg are also entitled to receive up to $75.0 orillof commercial launch contingent
payments related to the MOVANTIR!  fixed-dose combiima program, based on development events to teupdrand completed solely by
AstraZeneca. In addition, we are entitled to ragaland sales milestone payments based on annuddlide net sales of MOVANTIKM and
MOVANTIK ™fixed-dose combination products.

Roche: PEGASY® and MIRCERA

In February 1997, we entered into a license, manuifilmg and supply agreement with Roche, under fwhie granted Roche a
worldwide, exclusive license to certain intelledtpeperty related to our proprietary PEGylationtengls used in the manufacture and
commercialization of PEGASYS . As a result of Roeklercising a license extension option in Decen2b@9, Roche has the right to
manufacture all of its requirements for our proganig PEGylation materials for PEGASYS and we perfadditional manufacturing, if any,
only on an as-requested basis. In connection withB's exercise of the license
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extension option in December 2009, we receivedyanpat of $31.0 million. As of December 31, 2014, lweeve deferred revenue of
approximately $5.1 million related to this agreemerhich we expect to recognize through Decembéb2the period through which we are
required to provide back-up manufacturing and sppptvices related to PEGASYS

In February 2012, we entered into a toll-manufastuagreement with Roche under which we will mantifee the proprietary
PEGylation material used by Roche to produce MIRBERRoche entered into the toll-manufacturing agreet with the objective of
establishing us as a secondary back-up supply same non-exclusive basis. Under the terms otalimanufacturing agreement, Roche ¢
us an upfront payment of $5.0 million and an addai $22.0 million in performance-based milestoagrpents upon our achievement of
certain manufacturing readiness, validation andipction milestones, including the delivery of sfiiec quantities of PEGylation materials, all
of which were completed as of January 2013. RodHealso pay us additional consideration for antufe orders of the PEGylation materials
for MIRCERA © beyond the initial quantities manufagtd through January 2013. Roche has the rightmoinate the toll-manufacturing
agreement due to an uncured material default by us.

We analyzed the milestone payments under the agreeand determined that they did not meet ther@ifer revenue recognition under
the milestone method as a result of our continaiagufacturing obligations. We have identified oack-up manufacturing obligation through
December 2016 and the delivery of PEGylation malespecified in the agreement in 2012 and earl82( the units of accounting in the
arrangement. We made our best estimate of thegdtices for these deliverables and have allodhiedotal $27.0 million consideration to
these items based on the relative selling pricdnatetAs of December 31, 2014, we have deferredmevef approximately $10.7 million,
which we expect to recognize through December 205estimated end of our obligations under thieagent.

In August 2013, we agreed to deliver additionalriiti@s of PEGylation materials used by Roche tmlpce PEGASY3 and MIRCERA
®, all of which were delivered in the last quarte2013, for total consideration of $18.6 million.e/determined that these incremental
activities should be considered a material modificaof the existing PEGASYS and MIRCERA -relatethagements described above. As
a result, we allocated the $18.6 million considerato each of these arrangements and determimeantiounts to be recognized or deferred
based on the estimated selling prices of the uvneled obligations. As of December 31, 2014, we lteferred revenue of approximately
$4.6 million related to these activities, which @spect to recognize through December 2016, theattd end of our obligations under the
modified arrangements.

Baxter Healthcare: BAX 855/Hemophilia

In September 2005, we entered into an exclusivearef, development, license and manufacturing applg agreement with Baxter
Healthcare SA and Baxter Healthcare Corporatiogettrer referred to as Baxter) to develop produesigthed to improve therapies for
Hemophilia A patients using our PEGylation techgglaUnder the terms of the agreement, we are edtit research and development funt
and are responsible for supplying Baxter with éguirements for our proprietary materials. Bax$aresponsible for all clinical development,
regulatory, and commercialization expenses. Theagent is terminable by the parties under custo@mgitions.

Under the terms of this agreement, as of Decembe2(®L4, we are entitled to up to $20.0 milliordefelopment milestones related to
Hemophilia A upon achievement of certain develophodjectives, as well as sales milestones uporegehient of annual sales targets and
royalties based on annual worldwide net sales adyets resulting from this agreement. This Hemaplilprogram includes BAX 855. In
August 2014, Baxter announced positive top-lineltsfrom its Phase 3 pivotal clinical trial of BA365 which met the primary endpoint for
the control and prevention of bleeding, routineptrgaxis and perioperative management for patiehis were 12 years or older. As a resul
this Phase 3 clinical trial meeting its primary paiht, we achieved development milestones tote®@ million. Given our significant efforts
in the development of this
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product, we consider these milestones to be sulbstaand we recognized the milestones in theiretytiin the year ended December 31, 2014
As of December 31, 2014, we do not have significkefiérred revenue related to this agreement.

Amgen, Inc.: Neulasta®

In October 2010, we amended and restated an exstipply and license agreement by entering intqpaly, dedicated suite and
manufacturing guarantee agreement (the amendeckataded agreement) and a license agreement wigleAnmc. and Amgen Manufacturir
Limited (together referred to as Amgen). Underthrens of the amended and restated agreement, wange@ the manufacture and supply of
our proprietary PEGylation materials (Polymer Matis) to Amgen in an existing manufacturing suitdoé used exclusively for the
manufacture of Polymer Materials for Amgen (the Mfaicturing Suite) in our manufacturing facility Huntsville, Alabama (the Facility). Th
supply arrangement is on a non-exclusive basig(dttan the use of the Manufacturing Suite andategquipment) whereby we are free to
manufacture and supply the Polymer Materials toathegr third party and Amgen is free to procureRoéymer Materials from any other third
party. Under the terms of the amended and restafezement, we received a $50.0 million paymerténfourth quarter of 2010 in return for
our guaranteeing the supply of certain quantitfeBatymer Materials to Amgen including without li@mfion the Additional Rights described
below and manufacturing fees that are calculateédban fixed and variable components applicabteed®olymer Materials ordered by
Amgen and delivered by us. Amgen has no minimunchmmse commitments. If quantities of the Polymerévliats ordered by Amgen exceed
specified quantities, significant additional payisdmecome payable to us in return for our guaramgebe supply of additional quantities of
Polymer Materials.

The term of the amended and restated agreemenberdstober 29, 2020. In the event we become sutgecbankruptcy or insolvency
proceeding, we cease to own or control the Facilty fail to manufacture and supply or certain otheents, Amgen or its designated third
party will have the right to elect, among certalines options, to take title to the dedicated equiphand access the Facility to operate the
Manufacturing Suite solely for the purpose of matiring the Polymer Materials (the Additional RE)h Amgen may terminate the amendec
and restated agreement for convenience or due tioeured material default by us. Our researchifadil Huntsville, Alabama that we propc
to sell is a different building and location frohmat of the Facility described here.

As of December 31, 2014, we have deferred revehapproximately $29.2 million related to this agremt, which we expect to
recognize through October 2020, the estimated éodroobligations under this agreement.

Bayer Healthcare LLC: BAY41-6551 (Amikacin Inhale)

In August 2007, we entered into a co-developmé@senke and co-promotion agreement with Bayer HeatethLLC (Bayer) to develop a
specially-formulated inhaled Amikacin. We are rasgible for development and manufacturing and supptire nebulizer device included in
the Amikacin product. Bayer is responsible for nfastre clinical development and commercializatimsts, all activities to support worldwi
regulatory filings, approvals and related actigfiturther development of Amikacin Inhale and fipedduct packaging and distribution. In the
years prior to 2014, we received an upfront paymést0.0 million in 2007 and milestone payment$8®.0 million, including a $10.
million development milestone which was achieve@@i3 as a result of the start of the Phase 3caliniial by Bayer in the treatment of
intubated and mechanically ventilated patients WWithmnegative pneumonia in April 2013. In addition, tm@ 2013, we paid $10.0 million
Bayer for the reimbursement of its costs of thesetfaclinical trial.

In addition, we are entitled to receive a totalipfto $50.0 million for development milestones upshievement of certain development
objectives, as well as sales milestones upon agetient of annual sales targets and royalties basedmual worldwide net sales of Amikacin
Inhale. As of December 31, 2014, we
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have deferred revenue of approximately $20.8 mnillielated to this agreement, which we expect togeize through February 2028, the
estimated end of our obligations under this agregme

Ophthotech Corporation Fovista®

We are a party to an agreement with Ophthotech@atjon (Ophthotech), dated September 30, 2006 mnbtich Ophthotech receivet
worldwide, exclusive license to certain of our piefary PEGylation technology to develop, manufeetand sell Fovistd . Under the terms o
our agreement, we are the exclusive supplier affallphthotects clinical and commercial requirements for our pietpry PEGylation reage
used in Fovist& . On May 19, 2014, Ophthotech edtarto a Licensing and Commercialization Agreenveitti Novartis Pharma AG for
Fovista® . Under our agreement with Ophthotech,eeeived a $19.75 million payment in connection wliis licensing agreement in June
2014. As of December 31, 2014, we have deferreeimes of approximately $18.9 million related to thigeement, which we expect to
recognize through March 2028, the estimated ermiobbligations under our agreement with Ophthatech

In addition, we are entitled to up to $9.5 millinadditional payments based upon Ophthotech’spialeachievement of certain
regulatory and sales milestones. We are also eutitl royalties on net sales of FoviSta that vageld on sales levels.

Affymax, Inc.: OMONTYS®

In April 2004, we entered into a license, manufentyand supply agreement with Affymax, Inc. (Affgeg under which we provided
Affymax with a worldwide, non-exclusive license @maertain of our proprietary PEGylation technologylevelop, manufacture and
commercialize OMONTYS® (peginesatide). On Febru@y2013, Affymax and Takeda Pharmaceutical Compamyted announced a
voluntary recall of all lots of OMONTYS drug prochas a result of new post-marketing reports raggrserious hypersensitivity reactions,
including anaphylaxis, which can be lifiereatening or fatal. In July 2013, Affymax termtied the license, manufacturing and supply agree
with Nektar.

We have received milestone and related paymentsrund agreement with Affymax and, as a resulheftermination of our agreement
with Affymax and our related performance obligaspwe recognized the remaining $6.7 million of defeé revenue from this agreement in
year ended December 31, 20

Other

During the year ended December 31, 2014, two otollaboration partners achieved the successfutes of our commercial
manufacturing process in connection with the PEBytamaterials used in their products. In connectigth our assistance with these
manufacturing technology transfers, we receiveata dtf $9.0 million of milestone payments. We cloided that these payments are
substantive milestones and recognized them in émgirety in the year ended December 31, 2014.

In addition, as of December 31, 2014, we have ahmurof collaboration agreements, including ouratmdiration partner UCB, under
which we are entitled to up to a total of $53.8limml of development milestones upon achievemeredfain development objectives, as we
sales milestones upon achievement of annual saigst$ and royalties based on net sales of comatieed products, if any. However, given
the current phase of development of the potent@dycts under these collaboration agreements, weota@stimate the probability or timing of
achieving these milestones.
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Note 11 — Stock-Based Compensation

We issue stock-based awards from our equity incemtians, which are more fully described in Not&@ck-based compensation
expense was recognized as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
Cost of goods sold $ 1,161 $ 1,297 $ 1,49¢
Research and developmt 7,52¢ 7,91C 7,082
General and administrati 8,32¢ 8,501 7,621
Total stocl-based compensatic $17,01° $17,70¢ $16,19¢

As of December 31, 2014, total unrecognized congténs costs of $51.9 million related to unvestextktbased compensation
arrangements are expected to be recognized assxpear a weighted-average period of 2.1 years.

Black-Scholes Assumptions

The following tables list the Black-Scholes optiprieing model assumptions used to calculate thevédue of employee and director
stock options.

Year Ended Year Ended Year Ended
December 31, 201 December 31, 201 December 31, 201
Average risk-free interest rate 1.6% 0.€% 0.€%
Dividend yield 0.C% 0.C% 0.C%
Average volatility factol 51.€% 61.2% 62.2%
Average weighted average
expected life 5.2 year 5.2 year 5.0 year

The average risk-free interest rate is based ot/tBetreasury yield curve in effect at the timeyodnt for periods commensurate with the
expected life of the stock-based award. We havemeaid dividends, nor do we expect to pay divideimdthe foreseeable future; therefore, we
used a dividend yield of 0.0%. Our estimate of exge volatility is based on the daily historicaldmg data of our common stock at the tim
grant over a historical period commensurate withekpected life of the stock-based award.

For the years ended December 31, 2014, 2013, ati?) #@ estimated the weighted-average expectetidi$ed on the contractual and
vesting terms of the stock options, as well aohisicancellation and exercise data.

Stock-based compensation resulting from our ESPPnematerial in the years ended December 31,, 2B, and 2012.
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Summary of Stock Option Activit

The table below presents a summary of stock otitivity under our equity incentive plans (in thands, except for price per share and
contractual life information):

Weighted-
Weighted-
Average Average
Number Exercise Remaining Aggregate
of Price Contractual Intrinsic
Shares per Share Life (in Years) value ()
Outstanding at December 31, 2013 20,65¢ $ 9.0¢
Options grante: 7,71 13.9¢
Options exercise (4,852) 9.4:
Options forfeited & cancele (1,52)) 11.8¢
Outstanding at December 31, 2( 21,99¢ $ 10.5( 4.9¢ $112,54¢
Vested and expected to vest at December 31, 21,33¢ $ 10.41 4.8¢ $111,07:
Exercisable at December 31, 2( 13,00" $ 8.9C 3.47 $ 85,83¢

(1) Aggregate intrinsic value represents the déffiee between the exercise price of the option la@albsing market price of our common
stock on December 31, 201

The weighted-average grant-date fair value peresbboptions granted during the years ended DeceB81he2014, 2013, and 2012 was
$6.50, $4.95, and $3.92, respectively. The totainsic value of options exercised during the yearded December 31, 2014, 2013, and 2012
was $25.9 million, $4.5 million, and $1.9 milliorespectively. The estimated fair value of optioasted during the years ended December 31
2014, 2013, and 2012 was $15.2 million, $14.1 oiilliand $15.7 million, respectively.

Note 12 — Income Taxes
Loss before (benefit) provision for income taxedudes the following components (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012

Domestic $(56,41) $(161,06%) $(174,25%
Foreign 1,98¢ 1,30(¢ 2,80¢
Loss before (benefit) provision for income ta: $(54.,429) $(159,76() $(171,449)

Provision for Income Taxe:
The (benefit) provision for income taxes consigte following (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014
Current:

Federa $—

State 1

Foreign (482)
Total Current (481
Deferred:

Federa —

State —

Foreign (31)
Total Deferrec (31
(Benefit) provision for income tax: $(512

99

2013 2012
$ — $ (137)
1 1
1,83¢ 1,02¢
1,83¢ 892
422 (422)
49 (49)
(65) (16)
40€ (487)
$2,24F $ 40€
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The foreign benefit provision in the year ended @waber 31, 2014 is due to the reduction in taxegedlto a favorable determination
received from India proceedings.

Income tax provision related to continuing openagidiffers from the amount computed by applyingstautory income tax rate of 35%
to pretax loss as follows (in thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
U.S. federal provision (benefi

At statutory rate $(19,05() $(55,91) $(60,00)
State taxe 1 50 (48)
Change in valuation allowan 11,83 55,04: 47,34¢
Non-cash interest expense on liability related to s&feiture royalties 7,311 7,80¢ 6,32(
Stoclk-based compensatic 2,83 271 23€
Foreign tax inclusiol — — 6,51(
Foreign tax differentia a7 (20) (227)
Research credi (2,939 (6,277) (597)
Other (487) 1,28¢ 864
(Benefit) provision for income taxt $ (519 $ 2,24f $ 40€

Deferred Tax Assets and Liabilitie

Deferred income taxes reflect the net tax effettess and credit carryforwards and temporary défifiees between the carrying amount
of assets and liabilities for financial reportingrposes and the amounts used for income tax pwsp8gmificant components of our deferred
tax assets for federal and state income taxessd@laws (in thousands):

December 31

2014 2013
Deferred tax asset

Net operating loss carryforwar $ 423,77t $ 391,38!
Research and other crec 66,66¢ 61,707
Deferred revenu 29,75¢ 35,58¢
Stoclk-based compensatic 21,94¢ 25,96:
Sale of future royaltie 20,15 28,057
Capitalized research expen: 14,79¢ 17,68’
Reserves and accru: 8,28¢ 14,68t
Property, plant and equipme 8,26¢ 8,58(
Other 2,21¢ 2,53¢
Deferred tax assets before valuation allowe 595,86t 586,19(
Valuation allowance for deferred tax ass (595,690 (586,040
Total deferred tax asse 17¢€ 15C
Total deferred tax liabilitie — —
Net deferred tax asse $ 17¢€ $ 15C

Realization of our deferred tax assets is depengsmm future earnings, if any, the timing and amairwhich are uncertain. Because of
our lack of U.S. earnings history, the net U.Sedefd tax assets have been fully offset by a vialnailowance. The valuation allowance
increased by $9.7 million and $51.8 million durihg
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years ended December 31, 2014 and 2013, respgcfied valuation allowance includes approximate3$.$ million of income tax benefit
both December 31, 2014 and December 31, 2013 deatstock-based compensation and exercises pribetimplementation of the
accounting guidance for stock-based compensatiniii be credited to additional paid in capitahen realized.

Undistributed earnings of our foreign subsidiaryridia are considered to be permanently reinvesteddaccordingly, no deferred
U.S. income taxes have been provided thereon. dmbribution of those earnings in the form of diidls or otherwise, we would be subjet
U.S. income tax. As of December 31, 2014, U.S.nmedaxes have not been provided on a cumulatie¢ a6t3.9 million of such earnings.
Any incremental tax liability would be insignificadue to foreign tax credits that would be realinpdn distribution.

Net Operating Loss and Tax Credit Carryforwar

As of December 31, 2014, we had a net operatirggdasyforward for federal income tax purposespmfraximately $1,131.8 million,
portions of which will begin to expire in 2018. A§December 31, 2014, we had a total state netatipgrloss carryforward of approximately
$709.2 million, of which approximately $124.6 nolti does not meet the more likely than not standadihas not been included in our defe
tax assets. Our state operating loss carryforwailtibegin to expire in 2015. Utilization of somé the federal and state net operating loss anc
credit carryforwards are subject to annual limitasi due to the “change in ownership” provisionthefInternal Revenue Code of 1986 and
similar state provisions.

We have federal research credits of approximatéd;@million, which will begin to expire in 2019 dustate research credits of
approximately $22.6 million which have no expiratidate. We have federal orphan drug credits of &didllion which will begin to expire in
2026. These tax credits are subject to the sanmitations discussed above.

Unrecognized tax benefits

We have incurred net operating losses since inmep®ur policy is to include interest and penaltiated to unrecognized tax benefit
any, within the provision for income taxes in ttmmsolidated statements of operations. If we aratenadly able to recognize our uncertain
positions, our effective tax rate may be reduced.dtrently have a full valuation allowance agamstU.S. net deferred tax asset which
would impact the timing of the effective tax ratmnkefit should any of these uncertain tax positimm$avorably settled in the future. Any
adjustments to our uncertain tax positions wousditan an adjustment of our net operating lose&grcredit carry forwards rather than
resulting in a cash outlay.

We file income tax returns in the U.S., Califorrddabama, and India. Because of net operating $oaed research credit carryovers,
substantially all of our domestic tax years ren@pen and subject to examination. We are curremttieu examination in India for the fiscal
years ending 2009 through 20:
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We have the following activity relating to unrecargd tax benefits (in thousands):

December 31

2014 2013 2012

Beginning balance $16,36: $14,06° $13,57¢
Tax positions related to current ye
Additions:

Federa 502 477 28¢

State 6,141 381 302
Reductions — — —
Tax positions related to prior ye
Additions:

Federa — 63€ 37

State 5,25¢ — —

Foreign — 802 —
Reduction— foreign (742) — —
Settlement: — — —
Lapses in statute of limitatior — — (137)
Ending balanc: $27,52. $16,36: $14,06°

Although it is reasonably possible that certainegognized tax benefits may increase or decreasinvtite next twelve months, we do
not anticipate any significant changes to unrecogphiax benefits over the next twelve months. Qutire years ended December 31, 2014,
2013 and 2012, no significant interest or penaitiese recognized relating to unrecognized tax btnef

Note 13 — Segment Reporting

We operate in one business segment which focusappying our technology platforms to improve tlefprmance of established and
novel medicines. We operate in one segment becaudausiness offerings have similar economics @hdraharacteristics, including the
nature of products and manufacturing processesstgpcustomers, distribution methods and regulaarvironment. We are comprehensively
managed as one business segment by our Chief Bs@Qificer and his management team. Within our buginess segment we have two
components, PEGylation technology and pulmonaryrtelogy.

Our revenue is derived primarily from clients ir tpharmaceutical and biotechnology industries.a¥&neca, UCB and Roche
represented 52%, 16%, and 11% of our revenue, ctgply, for the year ended December 31, 2014. Regdrom Roche, UCB, AstraZeneca
and Bayer represented 28%, 21%, 17% and 10% akeenue, respectively, for the year ended Dece®be?2013. Revenue from UCB,
Roche and Affymax represented 30%, 23% and 11%iofevenue, respectively, for the year ended Deeer8b, 2012.

Revenue by geographic area is based on the losatfoour partners. The following table sets foslienue by geographic area (in
thousands):

Year Ended December 31

2014 2013 2012
United States $ 32,51« $ 42,53¢ $34,59:
Europe 168,19 106,38t 46,60(
Total revenue $200,70’ $148,92: $81,19:

At December 31, 2014, $63.7 million, or approxinha@0%, of the net book value of our property agdipment was located in the
United States and $6.7 million, or approximatel§d @vas located in India. At
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December 31, 2013, $57.3 million, or approxima&896, of the net book value of our property and pongnt was located in the United States
and $7.7 million, or approximately 12%, was locatethdia.

Note 14 — Selected Quarterly Financial Data (Unautkd)

The following table sets forth certain unauditeduerly financial data. In our opinion, the unaadiinformation set forth below has been
prepared on the same basis as the audited infanmatid includes all adjustments necessary to présey the information set forth herein.
We have experienced fluctuations in our quartezults and expect these fluctuations to contindkerfuture. Due to these and other factors,
we believe that quarter-tguarter comparisons of our operating results vatllme meaningful, and you should not rely on osults for any on
quarter as an indication of our future performai@ertain items previously reported in specific finel statement captions have been
reclassified to conform to the current period pnéation. Such reclassifications have not materiatigacted previously reported total revent
operating loss or net loss. All data is in thousaexcept per share information.

Fiscal Year 2014 Fiscal Year 2013
Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4 Q1 Q2 Q3 Q4

Product sales $ 579 $ 580 $ 6,09 $ 7,46( $11,81( $10,32¢ $14,67: $ 8,04(
Total revenue $19,77: $28,51: $132,87. $19,55. $23,00¢0 $33,86: $60,90¢ $31,14¢
Cost of goods sol $ 7907 $ 5106 $ 9,22 $ 6,29¢ $11.66. $ 5011 $12,877 $ 8,96(
Research and development expel $38,33t $36,70: $ 34,20( $38,49: $4561¢ $52,23( $43,91¢ $48,24¢
Operating income (los: $(36,407) $(22,91¢) $ 80,32: $(37,48Y) $(45,10¢) $(32,605 $ (6,52F) $(35,899)
Net income (loss $(46,20) $(32,63) $ 70,60F $(45,68) $(55,067) $(42,74¢) $(16,547) $(47,65)
Net income (loss) per she®

Basic $ (037) & (0.26€) $ 05t $ (035 $ (04 $ (0370 $ (019 $ (0.4)

Diluted $ (037) $ (02 $ 052 $ (035 $ (049 $ (03) $ (019 $ (0.4

(1) Quarterly loss per share amounts may not totdiéo/ea-to-date loss per share due to round
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Item 9. Changes in and Disagreements with Accountants orcéanting and Financial Disclosure
None.

Item 9A. Controls and Procedures
Disclosure Controls and Procedures

We maintain disclosure controls and proceduresdtetlesigned to ensure that information requindsktdisclosed in our Securities
Exchange Act of 1934 (Exchange Act) reports is réed, processed, summarized and reported withitirtteeperiods specified in the SEC's
rules and forms, and that such information is aadated and communicated to management, includim@bief Executive Officer and Chief
Financial Officer, as appropriate, to allow timelgcisions regarding required financial disclosure.

As of the end of the period covered by this repoe,carried out an evaluation, under the supenviaiad with the participation of our
management, including the Chief Executive Offiaed ¢he Chief Financial Officer, of the effectiveaad the design and operation of our
disclosure controls and procedures pursuant to &g Act Rule 13a-15. Based upon, and as of tleeadathis evaluation, the Chief
Executive Officer and the Chief Financial Officemcluded that our disclosure controls and procesiwexe effective. Accordingly,
management believes that the financial statemeatgded in this report fairly present in all ma#érnespects our financial condition, results of
operations and cash flows for the periods presented

Management’'s Annual Report on Internal Control overFinancial Reporting

Our management is responsible for establishingnaaidtaining adequate internal control over finah@aorting, as such term is defined
in Exchange Act Rule 1385(f). Our internal control over financial repodiis a process designed to provide reasonableaassiregarding tl
reliability of financial reporting and the prepacet of financial statements for external purpogeadcordance with GAAP.

Our management has assessed the effectivenessinferal control over financial reporting as océdmber 31, 2014. In making its
assessment of internal control over financial répgr management used the criteria describddternal Control — Integrated Framework
issued by the Committee of Sponsoring Organizatidrike Treadway Commission (2013 Framework).

Based on our evaluation under the framework desdribinternal Control — Integrated Frameworlour management concluded that
our internal control over financial reporting wdfeetive as of December 31, 2014.

The effectiveness of our internal control over ficial reporting as of December 31, 2014 has beditealiby Ernst & Young, LLP, an
independent registered public accounting firm,tated in their report, which is included herein.

Changes in Internal Control Over Financial Reporting

We continuously seek to improve the efficiency affdctiveness of our internal controls. This resuitrefinements to processes
throughout the Company. There was no change iinéemal control over financial reporting duringethuarter ended December 31, 2014,
which was identified in connection with our manage’s evaluation required by Exchange Act Rules13d) and 15d-15(f) that has
materially affected, or is reasonably likely to evélly affect, our internal control over financigporting.

Inherent Limitations on the Effectiveness of Contrds

Our management, including the Chief Executive @ffiand Chief Financial Officer, does not expect tha disclosure controls and
procedures or our internal control over financedarting will prevent all error and all fraud. Artool system, no matter how well conceived
and operated, can provide only reasonable, not
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absolute, assurance that the objectives of theamystem are met. Because of the inherent liloitatin all control systems, no evaluation of
controls can provide absolute assurance that attalissues and instances of fraud, if any, withi& company have been detected. These
inherent limitations include the realities thatguaents in decision making can be faulty and theakdowns can occur because of simple erro
or mistake. Additionally, controls can be circumtgzhby the individual acts of some persons, byusadin of two or more people or by
management override of the control. The desigmgfsystem of controls also is based in part upetaceassumptions about the likelihood of
future events, and there can be no assurancerthatesign will succeed in achieving its stated gaalder all potential future conditions. Over
time, controls may become inadequate because afjelsan conditions, or the degree of compliancé thie policies or procedures may
deteriorate. Because of the inherent limitationa gost-effective control system, misstatementstd@eror or fraud may occur and not be
detected.

Iltem 9B. Other Information
None.
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PART IlI

Item 10.  Directors, Executive Officers and Corporate Govere

Information relating to our executive officers ragd by this item is set forth in Part | — Item fltbis report under the caption
“Executive Officers of the Registrant” and is inporated herein by reference. The other informatimuired by this Item is incorporated by
reference from the definitive proxy statement for 2015 Annual Meeting of Stockholders to be fikeith the SEC pursuant to Regulation 1
(Proxy Statement) not later than 120 days afteetitkof the fiscal year covered by this Form 10rger the captions “Corporate Governance
and Board of Directors,” “Proposal 1 — Electionifectors” and “Section 16(a) Beneficial OwnersRigporting Compliance.”

Information regarding our audit committee finan@apert will be set forth in the Proxy Statemendemthe caption “Audit Committee,”
which information is incorporated herein by referen

We have a Code of Business Conduct and Ethicscainhdi to all employees, including the principal@xere officer, principal financial
officer and principal accounting officer or contes| or persons performing similar functions. Thed€ of Business Conduct and Ethics is
posted on our website atvw.nektar.com Amendments to, and waivers from, the Code of Bess Conduct and Ethics that apply to any of
these officers, or persons performing similar fiored, and that relate to any element of the codsto€s definition enumerated in Item 406(b)
of Regulation S-K will be disclosed at the websitlelress provided above and, to the extent reqbirepplicable regulations, on a current
report on Form 8-K.

As permitted by SEC Rule 10b5-1, certain of ourcetiee officers, directors and other employees lavmay set up a predefined,
structured stock trading program with their brotesell our stock. The stock trading program all@nsoker acting on behalf of the executive
officer, director or other employee to trade owcktduring blackout periods or while such executffecer, director or other employee may be
aware of material, nonpublic information, if thade is performed according to a pre-existing cahtiastruction or plan that was established
with the broker when such executive officer, dicear employee was not aware of any material, nblipinformation. Our executive officers,
directors and other employees may also trade ouk siutside of the stock trading programs set ufenfRule 10b5-1 subject to our securities
trading policy.

ltem 11.  Executive Compensatio
The information required by this Item is includedthe Proxy Statement and incorporated herein teyence.

Item 12.  Security Ownership of Certain Beneficial Owners aianagement and Related Stockholder Mattt
The information required by this Item is includedhe Proxy Statement and incorporated herein teyence.

| tem 13. Certain Relationships and Related Transactions abatector Independenci
The information required by this Item is includedthie Proxy Statement and incorporated herein teyance.

| tem 14. Principal Accountant Fees and Servict
The information required by this Item is includedthie Proxy Statement and incorporated herein teyance.
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PART IV

Item 15.  Exhibits and Financial Statement Scheduls
(@) The following documents are filed as part of tiepart:
(1) Consolidated Financial Statemen

The following financial statements are filed astpdithis Annual Report on Form 10-K under ItemRrancial Statements and
Supplementary Data.”

Page
Reports of Independent Registered Public Accourfing 71
Consolidated Balance Sheets at December 31, 2l 2G8 73
Consolidated Statements of Operations for eacheoftiree years in the period ended December 34, 74
Consolidated Statements of Comprehensive Lossafdr ef the three years in the period ended DeceBhez014 75
Consolidated Statements of Stockhol’ Equity (Deficit) for each of the three years in ff@iod ended December 31, 2( 76
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows for eacheottiree years in the period ended December 34, 77
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statem 78

(2) Financial Statement Schedule

All financial statement schedules have been omlttxthuse they are not applicable, or the informatgjuired is presented in our
consolidated financial statements and notes thersder Item 8 of this Annual Report on Form 10-K.

(3) Exhibits.

Except as so indicated in Exhibit 32.1, the follogvexhibits are filed as part of, or incorporatgddference into, this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Exhibit
Number Description of Documents
2111 Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 20, 2§0shdbetween Nektar Therapeutics, a Delaware catipa, AeroGen,
Inc., a Delaware corporation and wholly-owned sdilasy of Nektar Therapeutics, Novartis Pharmacelgi€orporation, a
Delaware corporation, and Novartis Pharma AG, asSworporation.
3.1(2 Certificate of Incorporation of Inhale Therapeusigstems (Delaware), In
3.2(3 Certificate of Amendment of the Amended Certificaténcorporation of Inhale Therapeutic Systems,
3.3(4 Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Nektar Tipenatics.
3.4(5 Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Nektar Thpenatics AL, Corporation with and into Nektar Thezapcs.
3.5(6 Amended and Restated Bylaws of Nektar Therapet
4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 3d,&5.
4.2(4 Specimen Common Stock certifica
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Exhibit
Number

4.3(8)

10.1(9)

10.2(10)
10.3(10)
10.4(10)
10.5(11)
10.6(18)
10.7(18)
10.8(12)
10.9(10)
10.10(10
10.11(13
10.12(1)
10.13(1)
10.14(14
10.15(19

10.16(20
10.17(13

10.18(16
10.19(15
10.20(14
10.21(1)
10.22(1)

10.23(14

Description of Documents

Indenture dated July 11, 2012 by and between N&ktarapeutics and Wells Fargo Bank, National Asgar, including
the form of 12.0% Senior Secured Note due 2!

Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended andeceste

2000 Noi-Officer Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and tedta+

2000 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restatt

2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restatt

2012 Performance Incentive Plan.

Forms of Equity Award Agreements under the 2012dPerance Incentive Plan.+

Amended and Restated Compensation Plan fo-Employee Directors.+

401(k) Retirement Plan.+

Discretionary Incentive Compensation Policy.

Amended and Restated Change of Control SeveramefiBBlan.++

Form of Severance Letter for executive officershaf company.+-

Amended and Restated Letter Agreement, executedtaf® on December 1, 2008, with Howard W. Robir
Amended and Restated Letter Agreement, executedtaf® on December 1, 2008, with John Nicholsor
Letter Agreement, executed effective on Decembe@09, with Stephen K. Doberstein, Ph.D

Employment Transition and General Release Agreeneget] as of February 11, 2014, by and betweenaN@&kierapeutics
and Rinko Ghosh.+

Letter Agreement dated as of May 14, 2014, by atdiéen Nektar Therapeutics and lvan Gergel, M.L

Amended and Restated Built-to-Suite Lease betweskta Therapeutics and BMR-201 Industrial Road Ld&ted
August 17, 2004, as amended on January 11, 2003uynd 9, 2007

Sublease, dated as of September 30, 2009, by aweddye Pfizer Inc. and Nektar Therapeutic

Settlement Agreement and General Release, dated3dyr2006, by and between The Board of Trustetsedf/niversity of
Alabama, The University of Alabama in Huntsvillee®ar Therapeutics AL Corporation (a wholly-ownethsdiary of
Nektar Therapeutics), Nektar Therapeutics and ltoNHarris.

Co-Development, License and Co-Promotion Agreendated August 1, 2007, between Nektar Therape(dits its
subsidiaries) and Bayer Healthcare LLC, as amenc

Exclusive Research, Development, License and Matwifag and Supply Agreement, by and among Nektar A
Corporation, Baxter Healthcare SA, and Baxter Hiealte Corporation, dated September 26, 2005, asdedet

Exclusive License Agreement, dated December 318,208tween Nektar Therapeutics, a Delaware corporeand Novarti:
Pharma AG, a Swiss corporatior

Supply, Dedicated Suite and Manufacturing GuaraAgreement, dated October 29, 2010, by and amotgake
Therapeutics, Amgen Inc. and Amgen Manufacturingited.+
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Exhibit
Number Description of Documents

10.24(16 License Agreement by and between AstraZeneca ABNmktiar Therapeutics, dated September 20, 2C

10.25(7) 12% Senior Secured Notes due 2017 Purchase Agreeiatea July 3, 2012, by and among Nektar Therégseand the
purchasers named there

10.26(18 Pledge and Security Agreement dated July 11, 26 reended by the Amendment to Pledge and Secugityeinent date
as of February 28, 2013, by and between Nektarapeertics and Wells Fargo Bank, National Associa

10.27(8) Escrow and Deposit Account Control Agreement ddtdd 11, 2012 among Nektar Therapeutics, Wells &-&ank,
National Association, as collateral agent, and ¥/Elrgo Bank, National Association, as escrow ai

10.28(17 Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of Febrda®022, between Nektar Therapeutics and RPI Faangst.+

10.29(18 Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement dated as guau8, 2013, by and between Nektar TherapeutidAatraZeneca
AB.+

10.30(19 Term Loan and Security Agreement dated as of Octdp2013, by and between Nektar Therapeuticspa®wer, and
AstraZeneca AB, as lender and as ag

21.1(20) Subsidiaries of Nektar Therapeuti

23.1(20) Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking.

24 Power of Attorney (reference is made to the sigmapage)

31.1(20) Certification of Nektar Therapeut’ principal executive officer required by Rule -14(a) or Rule 15-14(a).

31.2(20) Certification of Nektar Therapeut’ principal financial officer required by Rule 1-14(a) or Rule 15-14(a).

32.1* Section 1350 Certification:

101** The following materials from Nektar Therapeuticsirhial Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Deaarith, 2014,
formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reportingngaage): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Chadasted
Statements of Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statet:1of Comprehensive Loss, (iv) Consolidated Statds of
Stockholder Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flawsl, (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

+ Confidential treatment with respect to specifictipns of this Exhibit has been requested, antl pactions are omitted and have been

*%

1)
(2)
3)

filed separately with the SE!

Management contract or compensatory plan or arraage

Exhibit 32.1 is being furnished and shall notdee=med to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18haf Securities Exchange Act of 1934, a:
amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilityhafttsection, nor shall such exhibit be deemed todmporated by reference in any
registration statement or other document filed unlde Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or tleaustees Exchange Act, except as
otherwise stated in such filin

XBRL information is filed herewith

Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikinh Nektar Therapeutics’ Annual Report on FortaKL for the year ended December 31,
2008.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikimh Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report ontadk0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
1998.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikimh Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report oniadk0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2000.
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(4)
()

(6)
(7)
(8)
(9)
(10)

(11)
(12)

(13)
(14)
(15)
(16)
(17)
(18)
(19)

(20)

Incorporated by reference to the indicated exliibltektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Formr-K, filed on January 23, 200
Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikinn Nektar Therapeutics’ Annual Report on ForfaKL for the year ended December 31,
20009.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated exfiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Formr-K, filed on April 11, 2011
Incorporated by reference to the indicated exfiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Formr-K, filed on July 10, 201z
Incorporated by reference to the indicated exfiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Formr-K, filed on July 11, 201z
Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikith Nektar Therapeutics’ Registration StatenmmmEorm S-8 (No. 333-98321), filed on
August 19, 200z

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedt@kin Nektar Therapeutics’ Annual Report on FatfK for the year ended December 31,
2011.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated exfiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Formr-K, filed on July 3, 2012

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedtakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriRal0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2004.

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriRal0-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 200

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedtakin Nektar Therapeutics Annual Report on FordaKlLfor the year ended December 31,
2010.

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkekin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orrral 0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2006.

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriRal0-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 200

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriRal0-Q for the quarter ended March 31,
2012.

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedt@kin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriral0-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 201

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedtakin Nektar Therapeutics Annual Report on FordaKlfor the year ended December 31,
2013.

Filed herewith
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant to the Securities Exchange Act of 193 Régistrant has duly caused this report to besdigm its behalf by the undersigned,
thereunto duly authorized, in the City and Courft$gan Francisco, State of California on February2ZA5.

By: /s/  JOHNN ICHOLSON
John Nicholson
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Office

By: /s/ JLLIAN B. T HOMSEN
Jillian B. Thomsen
Senior Vice President, Finance and Chi
Accounting Officer
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POWER OF ATTORNEY

KNOW ALL PERSON BY THESE PRESENTS, that each penstiose signature appears below constitutes andrap@mhn Nicholson
and Jillian B. Thomsen and each of them, as hiotrue and lawful attorneys-in-fact and agenith full power of substitution and
resubstitution, for him or her and in his or hemea place and stead, in any and all capacitiesigtoany and all amendments to this Annual
Report on Form 10-K and to file the same, witheahibits thereto and other documents in connedtierewith, with the Securities and
Exchange Commission, granting unto said attorneyfadt and agents and each of them, full poweraartdority to do and perform each and
every act and thing requisite and necessary twhe th connection therewith, as fully to all inteand purposes as he or she might or could ¢
in person, hereby ratify and confirming all thaiisattorneys-in-fact and agents, or any of thentheir or his or her substitute or substitutes,
may lawfully do or cause to be done by virtue héreo

Pursuant to the requirements of the Securities &xgé Act of 1934, as amended, this report has sigaed by the following persons in
the capacities and on the dates indicated:

Signature Title Date
/s/ HowarDW. ROBIN Chief Executive Officer, President and Director February 25, 2015
Howard W. Robin (Principal Executive Officer
/s/ JOHNN ICHOLSON Senior Vice President and Chief Financial February 25, 2015
John Nicholson Officer (Principal Financial Officet
/s/ JiLLAN B. T HOMSEN Senior Vice President, Finance and Chief February 25, 2015
Jillian B. Thomsen Accounting Officer (Principal Accounting
Officer)
/'s/ ROBERTB. CHESS Director, Chairman of the Board of Directors February 25, 2015
Robert B. Chess
/s/ R.ScotTtGREER Director February 25, 2015
R. Scott Greer
/s/ JosepHJ). KRIVULKA Director February 25, 2015
Joseph J. Krivulka
/'s/ CHRISTOPHERA. K UEBLER Director February 25, 2015
Christopher A. Kuebler
/s/ LutzL INGNAU Director February 25, 2015
Lutz Lingnau
/'s/ SusaNW ANG Director February 25, 2015
Susan Wang
/s/ RoyA. W HITFIELD Director February 25, 2015

Roy A. Whitfield

/s/ DENNISL. W INGER Director February 25, 2015
Dennis L. Winger
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Except as so indicated in Exhibit 32.1, the follogvexhibits are filed as part of, or incorporatgddference into, this Annual Report on
Form 10-K.

Exhibit
Number Description of Documents
2.1(2) Asset Purchase Agreement, dated October 20, 29Gihdbetween Nektar Therapeutics, a Delaware catipa,
AeroGen, Inc., a Delaware corporation and whollyaed subsidiary of Nektar Therapeutics, NovartisrPlageuticals
Corporation, a Delaware corporation, and Novartiartha AG, a Swiss corporatior
3.1(2) Certificate of Incorporation of Inhale Therapeuigstems (Delaware), In
3.2(3) Certificate of Amendment of the Amended Certificaténcorporation of Inhale Therapeutic Systems,
3.3(4) Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Nektar Tlpenatics.
3.4(5) Certificate of Ownership and Merger of Nektar Thpenatics AL, Corporation with and into Nektar Thezapics.
3.5(6) Amended and Restated Bylaws of Nektar Therapel
4.1 Reference is made to Exhibits 3.1, 3.2, 3.3, 314,3&5.
4.2(4) Specimen Common Stock certifica
4.3(8) Indenture dated July 11, 2012 by and between N&ktarapeutics and Wells Fargo Bank, National Asgar, including
the form of 12.0% Senior Secured Note due 2!
10.1(9) Employee Stock Purchase Plan, as amended andeceste
10.2(10) 2000 Noi-Officer Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and tedta+
10.3(10) 2000 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restatt
10.4(10) 2008 Equity Incentive Plan, as amended and restatt
10.5(11) 2012 Performance Incentive Plan.
10.6(18) Forms of Equity Award Agreements under the 2012dPerance Incentive Plan.+
10.7(18) Amended and Restated Compensation Plan fo-Employee Directors.+
10.8(12) 401(k) Retirement Plan.+
10.9(10) Discretionary Incentive Compensation Policy.
10.10(10 Amended and Restated Change of Control SeveramefiBBlan.++
10.11(13 Form of Severance Letter for executive officershaf company.+-
10.12(1) Amended and Restated Letter Agreement, executedtaf® on December 1, 2008, with Howard W. Robir
10.13(1) Amended and Restated Letter Agreement, executedtaf® on December 1, 2008, with John Nicholsor
10.14(14 Letter Agreement, executed effective on Decembe@09, with Stephen K. Doberstein, Ph.D
10.15(19 Employment Transition and General Release Agreenegetd as of February 11, 2014, by and betweenaN@kierapeutic

and Rinko Ghosh.+
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Exhibit
Number

10.16(20
10.17(13

10.18(16
10.19(15
10.20(14
10.21(1)
10.22(1)
10.23(14

10.24(16
10.25(7)

10.26(18

10.27(8)

10.28(17
10.29(18

10.30(19

21.1(20)
23.1(20)
24

31.1(20)

Description of Documents

Letter Agreement dated as of May 14, 2014, by adiden Nektar Therapeutics and lvan Gergel, M.L

Amended and Restated Built-to-Suite Lease betwesktal Therapeutics and BMR-201 Industrial Road Ld&ted
August 17, 2004, as amended on January 11, 2005uynd 9, 2007

Sublease, dated as of September 30, 2009, by awddye Pfizer Inc. and Nektar Therapeutic

Settlement Agreement and General Release, dated3dyr2006, by and between The Board of Trustedsedfiniversity o
Alabama, The University of Alabama in Huntsvillee®ar Therapeutics AL Corporation (a wholly-ownethsdiary of
Nektar Therapeutics), Nektar Therapeutics and ltoNHarris.

Co-Development, License and Co-Promotion Agreendaied August 1, 2007, between Nektar Therape(aitd its
subsidiaries) and Bayer Healthcare LLC, as amenc

Exclusive Research, Development, License and Matwifag and Supply Agreement, by and among Nektar A
Corporation, Baxter Healthcare SA, and Baxter Hiealte Corporation, dated September 26, 2005, asdedet

Exclusive License Agreement, dated December 318 20€&ween Nektar Therapeutics, a Delaware coriporsnd
Novartis Pharma AG, a Swiss corporatio

Supply, Dedicated Suite and Manufacturing GuaraAgreement, dated October 29, 2010, by and amothgake
Therapeutics, Amgen Inc. and Amgen Manufacturingited.+

License Agreement by and between AstraZeneca AB\ahktlar Therapeutics, dated September 20, 2C

12% Senior Secured Notes due 2017 Purchase Agreeiatea July 3, 2012, by and among Nektar Therégseand the
purchasers named there

Pledge and Security Agreement dated July 11, 26 treended by the Amendment to Pledge and Secugityeinent date
as of February 28, 2013, by and between Nektarapeeitics and Wells Fargo Bank, National Associa

Escrow and Deposit Account Control Agreement ddtdd 11, 2012 among Nektar Therapeutics, Wells &-&ank,
National Association, as collateral agent, and ¥/Elrgo Bank, National Association, as escrow ai

Purchase and Sale Agreement, dated as of Febrda®022, between Nektar Therapeutics and RPI Faangst.+

Amendment No. 1 to License Agreement dated as guau8, 2013, by and between Nektar TherapeutidAatraZeneca
AB.+

Term Loan and Security Agreement dated as of Octdp2013, by and between Nektar Therapeuticspa®wer, and
AstraZeneca AB, as lender and as ag

Subsidiaries of Nektar Therapeuti

Consent of Independent Registered Public Accourking.

Power of Attorney (reference is made to the sigmapage)

Certification of Nektar Therapeut’ principal executive officer required by Rule -14(a) or Rule 15-14(a).
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Exhibit

Number Description of Documents

31.2(20 Certification of Nektar Therapeut’ principal financial officer required by Rule 1-14(a) or Rule 15-14(a).

32.1* Section 1350 Certification:

101** The following materials from Nektar Therapeuticsirdial Report on Form 10-K for the year ended Deeerh, 2014,
formatted in XBRL (Extensible Business Reportingngaage): (i) Consolidated Balance Sheets, (ii) Chaasted
Statements of Operations, (iii) Consolidated Statet:1of Comprehensive Loss, (iv) Consolidated Statds of
Stockholder Equity, (v) Consolidated Statements of Cash Flawsl, (vi) Notes to Consolidated Financial Stateme

+ Confidential treatment with respect to specifictipns of this Exhibit has been requested, antl pactions are omitted and have been

K%k

1)
(2)
(3)

(4)
()

(6)

(8)
(9)

(10)

(11)
(12)

(13)
(14)

(15)

filed separately with the SE!

Management contract or compensatory plan or arraege

Exhibit 32.1 is being furnished and shall notdeemed to be “filed” for purposes of Section 18haf Securities Exchange Act of 1934, a:
amended, or otherwise subject to the liabilityhattsection, nor shall such exhibit be deemed todmporated by reference in any
registration statement or other document filed unlde Securities Act of 1933, as amended, or tloaustees Exchange Act, except as
otherwise stated in such filin

XBRL information is filed herewith

Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikinh Nektar Therapeutics’ Annual Report on FortaKL for the year ended December 31,
2008.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikimh Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report onadk0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
1998.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikinh Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report onadk0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2000.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated exliibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Formr-K, filed on January 23, 200
Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikinh Nektar Therapeutics’ Annual Report on FortaKL for the year ended December 31,
2009.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated extiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Formr-K, filed on April 11, 2011
Incorporated by reference to the indicated exfiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Forrr-K, filed on July 10, 201z
Incorporated by reference to the indicated exfiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Formr-K, filed on July 11, 201z
Incorporated by reference to the indicated leikith Nektar Therapeutics’ Registration StatenmmEorm S-8 (No. 333-98321), filed on
August 19, 200z

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Annual Report on FatfK for the year ended December 31,
2011.

Incorporated by reference to the indicated exfiibitektar Therapeuti’ Current Report on Forrr-K, filed on July 3, 2012

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkkin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orrral 0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2004.

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orriRal0-Q for the quarter ended
September 30, 200

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedtakin Nektar Therapeutics Annual Report on FordaKl for the year ended December 31,
2010.

Incorporated by reference to the indicatedkkin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orrral 0-Q for the quarter ended June 30,
2006.

115



Table of Contents

(16) Incorporated by reference to the indicatedlin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orrifRal0-Q for the quarter ended

September 30, 200
(17) Incorporated by reference to the indicatedlsim Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orrifRal0-Q for the quarter ended March 31,

2012.
(18) Incorporated by reference to the indicatedhakin Nektar Therapeutics’ Quarterly Report orrfRal0-Q for the quarter ended

September 30, 201
(19) Incorporated by reference to the indicatedhdkim Nektar Therapeutics Annual Report on For@aKlLfor the year ended December 31,

2013.
(20) Filed herewith
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Exhibit 10.16
May 14, 2014

Ivan Gergel, M.D.
[Address]
[Address]

Dear Ivan:

| am pleased present to you with this offer letigreement (the “Letter Agreement”) setting forthi@a terms and conditions of your
employment as Senior Vice President, Drug Develograed Chief Medical Officer of Nektar Therapeutitidektar” or the “Company”),
reporting to me. Capitalized terms used hereinranidlefined shall have the meanings ascribed tm ihehe Company’s Change of Control
Severance Benefit Plan, as it may be amended fromtb time (the “COC Plan” a copy of which is eve#d herewith).

Your annual cash compensation will consist of hemponents: base salary and an annual performameesbgour base salary will be
$600,000 on an annual basis and paid in accordaiticeNektar's regular payroll schedule. Your annpaiformance bonus target each year
will be at least 50% of your annual base salana(tjet Annual Bonus”) commencing in 2014 subjegrtwration for the portion of the 2014
annual period that you are employed at Nektar. Yase salary and Target Annual Bonus shall be sutgjeannual performance review by the
Organization and Compensation Committee of the @o&Directors (“Compensation Committee”) in coratibn with me. The actual amount
of your annual performance bonus will range from@9200% of the Target Annual Bonus based on thapgaémsation Committee’s
assessment in consultation with me of the achieméfea combination of annual corporate objectiaed your achievement of personal
objectives agreed upon by you and me at the beggrofieach annual performance period commenci2®id. Your annual performance
bonus for a particular year will be paid not latean March 15 of the following year.

Effective as of your first day of full-time employnt with Nektar (“Start Date”, which we currentigtecipate will be May 19, 2014), you will
be granted a stock option to purchase 550,000 slodifdektar common stock (the “Stock Option”) unbliektar’'s 2012 Performance Incentive
Plan (“2012 Plan”). The maximum number of shardgestt to the Stock Option will be granted as areitive stock option within the meaning
of Section 422 of the Internal Revenue Code teettient permissible under the 2012 Plan. The exemprige will be set at the closing price of
Nekta’'s common stock on Nasdaq on your Start Date. Tiaees subject to the Stock Option will vest ovgedrs with 25% of the shares
vesting on the one year anniversary of your Stateldnd the remainder vesting monthly on a probasis over the following 3 years.

Nektar Therapeutic{ 455 Mission Bay Boulevard Sout  San Francisco, CA 94159 P 415.482.5300 | www.nektar.com
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You will be eligible for annual equity awards, retsole discretion of the Compensation Committasetd on the Compensation Committee’s
review, in consultation with me, of your individya¢rformance and annual equity compensation l@fedsnior executive officers with similar
roles at comparator companies as analyzed by aatgpunationally-recognized, independent compémsabnsultancy firm.

You are also eligible to participate in Nektar'arslard employee benefits programs including Med@ahtal and Vision Insurance, Term Life
Insurance, 401(k), ESPP, Flexible Health Spendiogafint, Short & Long Term Disability, COC Plan ahd terms specified in those plans.

You agree to devote your full-time attention to yoesponsibilities to the Company. Subject to adeaconsent from me, which will not be
unreasonably withheld, you may serve on corporatdaritable boards, as long as your commitmestutth boards does not create a confli
interest and/or does not interfere with your regatities to the Company.

Your employment is by continued mutual agreemedtraay be terminated at will with or without causedither you or Nektar at any time
with at least thirty (30) days prior written notiééou will also be required to enter into Nektastandard Employee Agreement and such
agreement contains certain terms and conditiogswf employment with Nektar other than those sghfberein.

In the event that your employment terminates dugto death or Disability (as defined in the stogition agreement under the 2012 Plan),
(a) 50% of the then-unvested portion of any outlitagistock options granted to you by the Comparlautomatically vest in the event of
your Disability (with the remainder of such unvesportion terminating immediately thereafter), &% of the the-unvested portion of any
outstanding stock options granted to you by the Gamyg shall automatically vest in the event of ydeath, (b) Nektar will pay to you or your
estate, as applicable, all unreimbursed expenBed,\y@ur then accrued but unpaid base salary,yand target bonus prorated for the portio
the last year in which you were employed by Negtéor to death or Disability, and (c) you and yal@pendents shall be entitled to continued
medical, dental, and vision insurance, at youheirtexpense, at the same level of coverage apwagied to you and your dependents under
Nekta's insurance and benefits plans immediately poahe termination by electing COBRA continuatioweage in accordance with
applicable law.

In the event your employment is terminated for o@asot related to a Change of Control (a) by tam@any without Cause, or (b) by you fc
Good Reason Resignation, then you and the Compdinyeet in good faith to discuss the terms of pprapriate separation. In any event,
minimum, the Company will enter into a severancaragement with you which will include the followin@) a fully effective waiver and
release in favor of the Company in such form asbmpany may reasonably require, (ii) a cash seeerpayment equal to your total annual
cash compensation target (defined as your themcumonthly base salary annualized

Nektar Therapeuticy 455 Mission Bay Boulevard Soutf| ~San Francisco, CA 9415 P 415.482.5300 | www.nektar.com
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for twelve (12) months, plus your bonus target iplitd by the expected pay-out percentage usetidbmpany for its GAAP financial
statements in the previous calendar quarter, bubnexceed 100%), payable in accordance with ¢hrersince payment schedule described in
Section 4.2 of the COC Plan (including, withoutitetion and as applicable, the six-month delaypfayments to “specified employees” as set
forth in such section), (iii) the exercise period the portion of your outstanding stock optiorat thre vested as of your termination date shall
be twelve (12) months following the terminational&ubject to earlier termination at the end ofdpon term or in connection with a change
in control of the Company in accordance with thpligble option plan and agreement), and (iv) tben@any shall pay all applicable COBRA
payments for you and your family for one year after termination date (such payments shall ceageipvent that you become eligible for
comparable benefits with another employer). In taoldito the definition of Good Reason Resignatienferth in the COC Plan, in the event
that your work responsibilities are substantiathieged from those set forth in the work responisisl letter between you and the Company
with the same date as this Letter Agreement, antaty resignation by you following such a substnthange in work responsibilities would
also constitute a Good Reason Resignation.

Any reimbursements pursuant to the foregoing pionsof this Letter Agreement shall be made in edaoce with the Company’s
reimbursement policies, practices and procedurefféat from time to time and shall be paid as sasmeasonably practicable and in all event
not later than the end of the calendar year folhguthe year in which the related expense was ieduiYour rights to reimbursement hereunde
are not subject to liquidation or exchange for haobenefit and the amount of expenses eligibledionbursement in one calendar year shall
not affect the amount of expenses eligible for lrinsement in any other year. Any tax gross-up paysn@ade pursuant to the foregoing
provisions of this Letter Agreement shall be masis@on as practicable and in all events not latar the end of the calendar year following
the year in which you remit the related taxes.

The terms, compensation and benefits set forthignltetter Agreement shall be governed by Califataiv without reference to principles of
conflicts of laws, may not be reduced without yprtior written consent and shall be binding upon emude to the benefit of (a) your heirs,
executors, and legal representatives upon youhdeat (b) any person or entity which at any timeethier by purchase, merger, or otherwise,
directly or indirectly acquires all or a majority the assets, business, capital stock, or votiogksvf Nektar. Any such person or entity shall be
deemed substituted for Nektar under this Lettere&grent for all purposes.

The compensation and benefits payable hereundéntareled to either be exempt from or comply wigtt®n 409A of the Internal Revenue
Code of 1986, as amended (“Section 409A"), so asasubject you to payment of any additional f@eqalty or interest imposed under
Section 409A. The provisions of this offer lettball be construed and interpreted to avoid the tatjpan of any such additional tax, penalty or
interest under Section 409A yet preserve (to tla@est extent reasonably possible) the intendedfiv@agable you.

Nektar Therapeutic{ 455 Mission Bay Boulevard Sout{ San Francisco, CA 94159 P 415.482.5300 | www.nektar.com
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Ivan, we are delighted at the prospect of youréesitip of the clinical and medical organization asda key member of Nektar’s senior
executive team. This offer set forth in this Letdgreement will expire at the close of businesdiay 16, 2014.

Sincerely,

/s/ Howard W. Robin
Howard W. Robin
President and Chief Executive Officer

ACCEPTED:

/sl Ilvan Gergel
Ivan Gergel, M.D.

Nektar Therapeuticy 455 Mission Bay Boulevard Soutf| ~San Francisco, CA 9415 P 415.482.5300 | www.nektar.com



Exhibit 21.1
Subsidiaries of Nektar Therapeutics*

Jurisdiction of
Incorporation or

Name Organization
Nektar Therapeutics UK, Lt United Kingdon
Nektar Therapeutics (India) Pvt. L India

* Includes subsidiaries that do not fall under thiinit@n of “ Significant Subsidiar” as defined under Rule-02(w) of Regulation -X.



Exhibit 23.1
CONSENT OF INDEPENDENT REGISTERED PUBLIC ACCOUNTING FIRM

We consent to the incorporation by reference irféHewing Registration Statements:
(1) Registration Statement (Form S-3 No. 333-1934%5MNektar Therapeutics, and

(2) Registration Statements (Form S-8 Nos. 333-84833-71936, 333-76638, 333-98321, 333-103040,133®75, 333-136498, 33B45259
333-153106, 333-170371, 333-183193 and 333-1977&1aining to the amended and restated 2000 NoicedfEquity Incentive Plan, the 401
(k) Retirement Plan, the Employee Stock Purchaae,Phe amended and restated 2000 Equity InceRtarg, the amended and restated 2008
Equity Incentive Plan, and the 2012 Performanceritice Plan of Nektar Therapeutics; of our repdetted February 25, 2015, with respect to
the consolidated financial statements of Nektarapeutics and the effectiveness of internal cortvelr financial reporting of Nektar
Therapeutics included in this Annual Report (Foi®rK) of Nektar Therapeutics for the year ended Dawmer 31, 2014.

/ s/ ERNST & Y OUNGLLP

Redwood City, California
February 25, 2015



Exhibit 31.1
CERTIFICATIONS

I, Howard W. Robin, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fHektar Therapeutics for the year ended Decerabep014;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorany untrue statement of a material fact or dn#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemandisother financial information included in thipoet, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under my
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglo®ing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under my
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragtisslosure controls and procedures and presentaisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comaer financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal coravelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2015

/ s/ HowaARDW. ROBIN
Howard W. Robin
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director




Exhibit 31.2
CERTIFICATIONS

I, John Nicholson, certify that:
1. I have reviewed this Annual Report on Form 16fHektar Therapeutics for the year ended Decerabep014;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does notadorany untrue statement of a material fact or dn#ttate a material fact necessary to
make the statements made, in light of the circuntsts.under which such statements were made, nistadisg with respect to the period
covered by this report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statemandisother financial information included in thipoet, fairly present in all material
respects the financial condition, results of operatand cash flows of the registrant as of, amngtfe@ periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) anare responsible for establishing and maintainlisglosure controls and procedures (as
defined in Exchange Act Rules 13a-15(e) and 15&)}%(nd internal control over financial reportirag @defined in Exchange Act rules 13a-15
(f) and 15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a) Designed such disclosure controls and procedaresused such disclosure controls and procedoites designed under my
supervision, to ensure that material informatidatieg to the registrant, including its consolidhgubsidiaries, is made known to us by others
within those entities, particularly during the etiin which this report is being prepared;

b) Designed such internal control over financiglo®ing, or caused such internal control over fiahreporting to be designed under my
supervision, to provide reasonable assurance rieggitie reliability of financial reporting and tipeeparation of financial statements for
external purposes in accordance with generallygiedeaccounting principles;

c) Evaluated the effectiveness of the registragtisslosure controls and procedures and presentaisineport our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and pros] as of the end of the period covered by #psnt based on such evaluation; and

d) Disclosed in this report any change in the tegid's internal control over financial reportirtgat occurred during the registrant’s most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant’s fourthdisguarter in the case of an annual report) thatnhaterially affected, or is reasonably likely to
materially affect, the registrant’s internal comaer financial reporting.

5. The registrant’s other certifying officer(s) antve disclosed, based on our most recent evatuat internal control over financial
reporting, to the registrant’s auditors and theitacmmmittee of the registrant’s board of direct@spersons performing the equivalent
functions):

a) All significant deficiencies and material weakses in the design or operation of internal coravelr financial reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the regisfeaability to record, process, summarize and refioancial information; and

b) Any fraud, whether or not material, that invaweanagement or other employees who have a sigmifiole in the registrant’s internal
control over financial reporting.

Date: February 25, 2015

/ s/ JOHN N ICHOLSON
John Nicholson
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officel




Exhibit 32.1

SECTION 1350 CERTIFICATIONS *

Pursuant to the requirement set forth in Rule 18@)lof the Securities Exchange Act of 1934, asrated (the “Exchange Act”), and
Section 1350 of Chapter 63 of Title 18 of the Udig&tates Code (18 U.S.C. § 1350), Howard W. Rdbinief Executive Officer, President and

Director of Nektar Therapeutics (the “Company”)dalohn Nicholson, Senior Vice President and Chiedifcial Officer of the Company, each
hereby certifies that, to the best of his knowledge

1. The Company’s Annual Report on Form 10-K, fa ylear ended December 31, 2014, to which this f@aition is attached as Exhibit

32.1 (the “Annual Report”), fully complies with tllequirements of Section 13(a) or 15(d) of the &ea Exchange Act of 1934, as amended
and

2. The information contained in the Annual Repaitly presents, in all material respects, the faaincondition and results of operations
of the Company for the period covered by the AniRegport.

Dated: February 25, 2015

/ s/ HowarRDW. ROBIN / s/ JOHN N ICHOLSON
Howard W. Robin John Nicholson
Chief Executive Officer, President and Director Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officel

* This certification accompanies the Annual ReportForm 10-K, to which it relates, is not deeméelifiwith the Securities and Exchange
Commission and is not to be incorporated by refezanto any filing of the Company under the Se@siAct of 1933, as amended, or the
Securities Exchange Act of 1934, as amended (whethde before or after the date of the Form 10wkgspective of any general
incorporation language contained in such fili



